REVISED
AGENDA
MEETING VENUE:
Council Chamber Council Offices,
Priory Road, Spalding

Contact:
Direct Dial:
e-mail:

Democratic Services
01775 764454
demservices@sholland.gov.uk

Date:

5 May 2022

Dear Councillor,
A meeting of the DISTRICT COUNCIL will be held in the Council Chamber, Council
Offices, Priory Road, Spalding on Wednesday, 11 May 2022, commencing at 6.30 pm
at which your attendance is requested.
Yours faithfully,

Rob Barlow
Chief Executive
(Quorum:13)
AGENDA
1.

Election of a Chairman
The Chairman / Monitoring Officer will invite nominations for the election
of a Chairman for the ensuing year. A Chairman will then be elected
and sign the declaration of acceptance of office.

2.

Election of a Vice-Chairman
The Chairman will invite nominations for the election of a ViceChairman.

3.

Apologies for absence.

4.

Minutes
To sign as a correct record the minutes of the meeting held on 3 March
2022 (copy enclosed).

(Pages
5 - 18)

5.

Declaration of Interests.
(Where a Councillor has a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest the Councillor
must declare the interest to the meeting and leave the room without
participating in any discussion or making a statement on the item,
except where a Councillor is permitted to remain as a result of a grant of
dispensation.)

6.

Chairman's Announcements.

7.

Announcements by Leader and Members of the Cabinet.

8.

Questions asked on notice under Standing Order 6

9.

Questions asked without notice under Standing Order 7

10.

Committee Minutes
To receive the minutes of the following Committees and Panels:a) Planning Committee - 9 March 2022
b) Performance Monitoring Panel - 16 March 2022 (please note that
exempt minute 48 to these minutes is attached at agenda item 23)
c) Governance and Audit Committee - 17 March 2022
d) Policy Development Panel - 23 March 2022

11.

Report from Cabinet meeting on 26 April 2022
To consider recommendations of the Cabinet in respect of:

(Pages
19 - 84)

a) Graffiti and Street Art Management Policy – To consider the Graffiti
and Street Art Management Policy 2022 to establish Street Art in
South Holland to provide safe and welcoming public spaces for our
local communities (Cabinet minute 51) ( Cabinet agenda item 6a);
b) 2021/22 Financial Report Quarter 3 – To provide information on the
Quarter 3 (to December 2021) financial position of the Council
(Cabinet minute 52) (Cabinet agenda item 7);
c) Welland Homes Housing Delivery Framework – To introduce a
Housing Delivery Framework to inform future investment decisions
for Welland Homes relating to housing developments (Cabinet
minute 57) (Cabinet agenda item 12)
12.

Key Decision Plan
To receive the current Key Decision Plan (copy enclosed).

(Pages
85 - 88)

13.

South and East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership Performance Report
To provide a six-monthly update on the Partnership’s performance
(report of the Assistant Director (Corporate) enclosed.

(Pages
89 110)

14.

S&ELCP Workforce Development Strategy
To adopt a S&ELCP Workforce Development Strategy (report of the
Assistant Director (Corporate) enclosed).

(Pages
111 134)

15.

Community Governance Reviews
To consider a request for Community Governance Reviews (CGR) for
the Parish of Cowbit to increase the number of Councillors from five to
seven and for Holbeach to decrease the number of Councillors from
eighteen to sixteen (report of the Assistant Director – Governance
(Monitoring Officer) enclosed).

(Pages
135 142)

16.

Interim Appointment of Monitoring Officer
To consider the interim designation of an officer as Monitoring Officer to
take effect from 17 May 2022 until 24 May 2023 (report of the Head of
Paid Service enclosed).

(Pages
143 148)

17.

Reappointment of Independent Person
To seek approval for the re-appointment of the Independent Person
(report of the Assistant Director – Governance (Monitoring Officer)
enclosed).

(Pages
149 152)

18.

Licensing Panel and Panel of the Committee of the Licensing Authority

(Pages
153 158)

To consider varying the Constitution to allow the appointment of a
substitute member for each Panel meeting (report of the Head of Public
Protection and Deputy Monitoring Officer enclosed).
19.

Political Group Regulations, Committee/Outside Body Membership
Review and 2022/23 Schedule of Meetings
To confirm: a) In accordance with the Local Government (Committees
and Political Groups) Regulations 1990, appointments to committees
and outside bodies and to review membership; and b) To agree the
2022/23 Schedule of Meetings (report of the Assistant Director –
Governance (Monitoring Officer) enclosed).

20.

Nominations for Committees and other Seats and Proposed Changes to
the Constitution.
To receive, from political groups, nominations for any changes to
Committees and other seats and to consider any proposed changes to
the Constitution.

21.

Any other items which the Chairman decides are urgent

NOTE:

22.

No other business is permitted unless by reason of special
circumstances, which shall be specified in the minutes, the
Chairman is of the opinion that the items(s) should be
considered as a matter of urgency.

Exclusion of Press and Public
To consider resolving that, under Section 100A (4) of the Local
Government Act 1972, the public be excluded from the meeting for the
following item of business on the grounds that it involves the likely

(Pages
159 174)

disclosure of exempt information as defined in Paragraph 3 of Part 1 of
Schedule 12A of the Act.
23.

Committee minutes (restricted)
To receive the following restricted minute:
•

Performance Monitoring Panel – 16 March 2022

(Pages
175 178)

Agenda Item 4.
- 57 -

Minutes of a meeting of the SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL held in the
Function Room, South Holland Centre, Market Place, Spalding, Lincolnshire, PE11
1SS, on Thursday, 3 March 2022 at 6.30 pm.
PRESENT
P A Redgate (Chairman)
A R Woolf (Vice-Chairman)
B Alcock
J R Astill
J Avery
A C Beal
F Biggadike
H J W Bingham
C J T H Brewis
P E Coupland

A C Cronin
R Gambba-Jones
R A Gibson
R Grocock
C J Lawton
N H Pepper
G A Porter
G T D Rudkin

G P Scalese
S-A Slade
E J Sneath
G J Taylor
S C Walsh
D J Wilkinson
C N Worth

Apologies for absence were received from or on behalf of Councillors M D Booth,
T A Carter, A Casson, M Hasan, J L King, J D McLean, A M Newton, J L Reynolds,
M D Seymour, A C Tennant and J Tyrrell
In Attendance: The Chief Executive, the Deputy Chief Executive - Corporate
Development (S151), the Assistant Director - Governance (Monitoring Officer), the
Assistant Director - Finance, and the Democratic Services Team Leader.
84.

MINUTES
Consideration was given to the minutes of the meeting of Full Council held on 19
January 2022.
DECISION:
That the minutes be signed as a correct record.

85.

DECLARATION OF INTERESTS.
There were none.

86.

CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS.
The following announcements were made:
The Chairman acknowledged the current situation of the war in Ukraine, and its fight
for democracy. It was important to recognise the humanitarian crisis, and the
suffering of the Ukrainian people.
The Vice-Chairman echoed the words of the Chairman, and also paid tribute to the
many groups across the district that had come together to provide assistance to the
Ukrainian people. Within his own ward, Weston Church was now a centre for

Page 5

- 58 SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL - 3
March 2022

collections and the volunteers were doing a wonderful job, as were others across the
district. It was noted that although a lot of clothes were being donated, there was a
greater need for items such as food, small medical supplies and hygiene products.
More volunteers to help were also required.
The Chairman thanked all those that had attended his Civic Service on Sunday. It
had been well attended.
Finally, he reminded members that his Civic Reception was due to be held on 22
April 2022.
87.

ANNOUNCEMENTS BY LEADER AND MEMBERS OF THE CABINET.
Leader’s Announcement
The Leader made the following announcement regarding the situation in the Ukraine:
The current situation as understood by the Government was that around 1 million
people had currently been displaced, and the Ukrainian Ambassador had stated at a
meeting the day before that this could eventually rise to around 20 million. The
intention was to move all women and children out, and that the men would remain
behind to fight for their country. It was anticipated that the war would not be over
quickly – it was important therefore that the district supported and harnessed the
community efforts that were currently underway, and that it then stepped up to keep
the momentum going in the future. The bridge point for collections in the South
Holland area was currently the Ukrainian Church in Peterborough, from where
donations were then sent to Poland. Emily Holmes was the officer currently leading
on this work and she was drawing together a briefing note on the current situation
which would be sent to all members the next day.
The Leader also advised that Lincolnshire Leaders had all met yesterday and had
agreed a position on the situation. He stated that the recent comments made in the
House of Commons by Sir Edward Leigh, MP for Gainsborough, on Ukrainian
refugees did not reflect the views of Lincolnshire Leaders – a rebuttal statement had
immediately been issued stating that his views were not the views of the people of
Lincolnshire, that they stood with the people of Ukraine, and that Lincolnshire would
take in refugees when the time came. With regard to the situation around refugees in
the future, the Government was trying to confirm the number of Ukrainians currently
living in the UK – should refugees whose families lived here wish to come to the UK,
the impact on the UK would be significant. The Government had also agreed that
individuals living in the UK could sponsor people from the Ukraine to come to the UK.
It was anticipated that there would be a lot of good will in this regard. However, as
with community efforts to provide assistance, there had to be recognition that this
situation could last for a long period of time. Finally, the Leader advised that a book
of support had been opened in Parliament, and that he had signed it and provided a
message of support on behalf of the people of South Holland.
Announcement by Members of the Cabinet

Page 6

- 59 SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL - 3
March 2022

Councillor Taylor reminded members that a Question without Notice had been raised
at the last meeting of the Council regarding celebrations to mark the Queen’s
Platinum Jubilee, and a further update on this was provided.
He advised that celebrations would take place throughout the year. The
Communities Team was offering guidance and support to communities across the
district, and Parish Councils and community groups were being encouraged to
register their activities so that these could be mapped across the district. To date,
the following had been registered – tree planting, the lighting of beacons, installation
of benches, community picnics, and a 1950s weekend. It was a year-long
celebration, rather than just the weekend in June itself. The website would continue
to be updated, social media would be utilised and information would be shared with
the press and councillors. It was hoped that councillors would be in attendance at
some of these events.
88.

QUESTIONS ASKED ON NOTICE UNDER STANDING ORDER 6
There were none.

89.

QUESTIONS ASKED WITHOUT NOTICE UNDER STANDING ORDER 7
Prior to asking a question, Councillor Alcock stated that the Independent Group
wished it to be noted that it was in agreement with the statements made earlier by the
Chairman and the Leader regarding the dreadful situation in the Ukraine.
Question to: Councillor Taylor
Question From: Councillor Alcock
Subject: Spalding Town Centre – outdated advertising and traffic restrictions
Councillor Alcock commented that, whilst recently visiting Spalding town centre, there
was outdated signage, advertising the Christmas pantomime – the authority was
attempting to encourage people into the town centre and this did not give a good
impression. He also commented on the number of cars parked in, and driving
through the town centre, despite traffic restrictions – why was this not being
enforced, and had plans to pedestrianise the town centre been abandoned.
Councillor Taylor commented that the issue regarding the outdated signage for the
pantomime would be dealt with. With regard to traffic flow in the town centre, he
advised that this had been a topic for discussion at the last meeting of the Spalding
Town Forum, where the local police officer had been in attendance to provide advice,
guidance and take questions. The Forum had asked that the Police work in
partnership with SHDC and LCC to find a way to enforce the traffic restrictions. In
addition, the local paper had undertaken a survey asking people if they wished the
restrictions to be enforced, and the majority of people were strongly in favour of this.
A further update on this situation would be provided shortly.
Question to: Councillor Casson

Page 7

- 60 SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL - 3
March 2022

Question From: Councillor Alcock
Subject: Electric vehicle charging points
Councillor Alcock advised that he had recently contacted the Portfolio Holder with
regard to the installation of electric vehicle charging points. Installation of these had
been promised at sites in Crowland, and other areas within the district. However, this
had not yet taken place – why was there such a long delay in undertaking work on a
project that the authority had seemed keen to undertake?
Members were advised that Councillor Casson had provided his apologies and was
therefore not in attendance at the meeting. It was agreed that a written response
would be provided.
Question to: Councillor Coupland
Question From: Councillor Grocock
Subject: Investments in Russian institutions
Councillor Grocock asked whether, in light of the current situation in the Ukraine, the
authority had any monies invested in any institutions with links to Russia?
Councillor Coupland confirmed that the Council had no investments with Russian
institutions or banks, and never had done, due to them historically having a very low
credit rating.
Question to: Councillor Porter
Question From: Councillor Wilkinson
Subject: Outdated signage
Councillor Wilkinson commented that there was signage at Wingland Park, Sutton
Bridge naming the Chief Executive (Terry Huggins) as a contact point regarding plots
of land. This was very out of date and needed to be removed.
Councillor Porter responded that this would be dealt with.
90.

COMMITTEE MINUTES
The minutes of the following Committees and Panels were noted:
•
•
•
•

Planning Committee – 12 January 2022
Governance and Audit Committee – 13 January 2022
Policy Development Panel – 18 January 2022
Joint Performance Monitoring Panel and Policy Development Panel – 27 January
2022
Planning Committee – 9 February 2022
91.

KEY DECISION PLAN
Consideration was given to the Key Decision Plan.

Page 8

- 61 SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL - 3
March 2022

DECISION:
That the Key Decision Plan be noted.
92.

ANNUAL BUDGET REPORT 2022/23, MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY,
CAPITAL PROGRAMME AND CAPITAL STRATEGY, TREASURY MANAGEMENT
STRATEGY, ANNUAL DELIVERY PLAN AND APPROVAL OF COUNCIL TAX
Consideration was given to the report of the Deputy Chief Executive, Corporate
Development (S151) which requested approval of: The General Fund and Housing
Revenue Account Budget for 2022/23 including the use of reserves, Medium Term
Financial Strategy, Capital Programme and Strategy, Treasury Management
Strategy, MRP Policy and Annual Investment Strategy, Fees and Charges for
2022/23, the Annual Delivery Plan, and approval of Council Tax for recommendation
to Full Council.
The Portfolio Holder for Finance, Commercialisation and Partnerships introduced the
report and outlined the main details of the Budget:
•

•
•
•
•

•
•
•
•

Despite the numerous issues that had arisen from the Covid-19 pandemic, the
Council had managed very well, and with the help of various Government grants,
it had been able to manage its budget well, and a good standard of services had
been maintained. The Portfolio Holder thanked all members and officers who had
worked hard to achieve this;
The Portfolio Holder gave special thanks to all the Council’s frontline staff who
had not been able to work from home during the pandemic, and who had
maintained services for residents;
The Portfolio Holder particularly thanked the Deputy Chief Executive (Corporate
Development) (S151), and the Leader, who had provided tremendous vision and
leadership through the difficult period of the Covid pandemic;
The Authority had fallen behind on a number of investment projects and initiatives
planned for 20/21 and 21/22 however, the challenges raised by the pandemic had
had to take priority;
The serious effects of Covid appeared to be fading away for the new 22/23
financial year, and it was hoped that this would give the Authority the opportunity
to accelerate its programme of planned investments into communities, and to
catch up on the delays caused by the pandemic;
The programme planned to spend around £16million this year and into next year
in the district;
£1 million would be spent on assets including the South Holland Centre,
Ayscoughfee, the Bus Station, Spalding Cemetery, Moulton Park, public toilets,
car parks and the Castle Leisure Centre;
£3.1 million would be spent on commercialisation, to purchase and develop
commercial land, the new waste depot centre, and other property;
£1.5million would be spent on economic development by building more small
commercial units for rental, and to continue the Grants for Growth Scheme to help
small businesses to grow;

Page 9

- 62 SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL - 3
March 2022

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

•
•
•
•
•
•
•

£2.3 million would be spent on private sector housing including disabled facilities
and to provide more homes for market rental;
£3.4 million would be spent on the Council’s Decent Homes Improvement
Programme, covering around 3,800 Council homes;
£3.7 million would be spent on affordable housing across the district, for rental
and shared ownership;
£0.5 million would be spent on expanding the existing garden waste collection
scheme (purchase of vehicles and bins, and providing new grounds maintenance
machinery);
Approximately £0.5 million would be spent on ICT, to help increase customer selfservice and to create efficiencies through all Council services;
The spending programme would mainly be financed through reserves, grants and
cash balances;
In addition to the capital spend, there would be a continuation of the Town
Improvement Schemes, and Pride Teams would continue to keep footpaths and
community areas tidy;
There would be a continued expansion of the Enterprise Zone in Holbeach;
All current base-line services would be maintained for 22/23
Based on all the input from a rigorous Budget challenge, the 22/23 General Fund
Budget was balanced with an identified efficiency target of £397,000 to be
achieved by 31 March 2023;
The District Council Tax equated to only around 10% of the overall Council Tax
bill. Half of this figure went to Internal Drainage Boards;
There were major service pressures in 22/23 - IDB levies which were increasing
by £156,000; general staff pay and pensions and new National Insurance rates at
£533,000; £51,000 spend in utility costs; and additional financial support for
Environmental Services.
More savings and efficiencies were expected as a result of the new partnership
with Boston Council and East Lindsey District Council;
The HRA provided management and trade operatives to look after the Council’s
housing stock, and this had continued during the Covid pandemic;
A surplus of £1.9 million was forecast which would be retained for future capital
spend on existing assets and new Council homes;
It was the Council’s policy to maintain Decent Homes standards and remain the
landlord of choice;
Councillor Lawton was thanked with regard to her work on the HRA and Housing
Portfolio;
With regard to reserves, at 31 March 2023 the General Fund forecast was set to
be £8.48million, and the HRA reserves was forecast to be £21.4 million;
The Portfolio Holder concluded that it was important to get back to some sort of
normality, following the Covid pandemic. However, the situation in the Ukraine
could affect the Authority and individuals going forward.

The following points were raised:

Page 10

- 63 SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL - 3
March 2022

•

It was noted that it was encouraging to see that PSPS had reduced their contract
costs due to transformation plans. The amount of £162,000 was not an
insignificant amount, and the continued support for PSPS was proving fruitful.

•

The Independent Group thanked officers at all levels of the Council, the Portfolio
Holder for Finance, Commercialisation and Partnerships and members generally
for their work in producing a successful budget. The Independent Group had
provided plenty of input during the budget setting process where there had been
several opportunities for challenge. Members asked: a) Would charges be
reviewed at some point in the year; and b) Following assurances at the last
Council meeting, would the Authority be reviewing provision of leisure facilities.
o The Portfolio Holder for Finance, Commercialisation and Partnerships
advised that leisure provision was being progressed, and that the
Leader was involved in bringing this forward. It would take time, there
were a number of avenues to be pursued and cost would clearly be an
issue, but work was being undertaken. With regard to Fees and
Charges, the only change in the Budget was with regard to Markets and
there was no intention to review Fees and Charges any further within
the next 12 months.

DECISION:
That Council approves:
a) The Revenue Estimates for the General Fund, Housing Revenue Account and
Spalding Special Expenses for 2022/23 (Appendices A and C);
b) The use of Reserves detailed at Appendix D;
c) The Council Tax for a Band A property in 2022/23 be set at £126.42 (£3.30 per
annum increase on 2021/22 levels) and Band D £189.63 for 2022/23 (a £4.95 per
annum increase on 2021/22 levels);
d) The Spalding special expenses for a Band A property be set at £16.38 for
2022/23, (previously £16.12 in 2021/22) and Band D £24.57 for 2022/23,
(previously £24.18 in 2021/22);
e) The Medium Term Financial Strategy (at Appendix B;
f) The Capital Strategy and Capital Programme (Appendices E and F);
g) The Fees and Charges for 2022/23 (at Appendix G);
h) The Treasury Management Statement and Strategy, including the Minimum
Revenue Provision policy and Investment Strategy (Appendices H and I); and
i) The South and East Lincolnshire Council’s Annual Delivery Plan 2022/23
(Appendix J).
In accordance with the Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) (Amendment)
Regulations 2014 a recorded vote was taken on the recommendations (Annual
Budget Report 2022/23, Medium Term Financial Strategy, Capital Programme and

Page 11

- 64 SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL - 3
March 2022

Capital Strategy, Treasury Management Strategy, Annual Delivery Plan and approval
of Council Tax). The vote was as follows:
For
Councillor Alcock
Councillor Astill
Councillor Avery
Councillor Beal
Councillor Biggadike
Councillor Bingham
Councillor Brewis
Councillor Coupland
Councillor Cronin
Councillor Gambba-Jones
Councillor Gibson
Councillor Grocock
Councillor Lawton
Councillor Pepper
Councillor Porter
Councillor Redgate
Councillor Rudkin
Councillor Scalese
Councillor Slade
Councillor Sneath
Councillor Taylor
Councillor Walsh
Councillor Wilkinson
Councillor Woolf
Councillor Worth
93.

Against

Abstain

Apologies/Absent
Councillor Booth
Councillor Carter
Councillor Casson
Councillor Drury
Councillor Hasan
Councillor King
Councillor McLean
Councillor Newton
Councillor Reynolds
Councillor Seymour
Councillor Tennant
Councillor Tyrrell

COUNCIL TAX SETTING 2022/23
Consideration was given to the report of the Portfolio Holder for Finance,
Commercialisation and Partnerships and the Deputy Chief Executive Corporate
Development (S151) which sought the Council’s approval for the setting of the
amounts of Council Tax applicable for 2022/23 for each valuation band and in each
part of the district.
The Portfolio Holder for Finance, Strategy and Partnerships introduced the report
which set out statutory resolutions that the Council needed to approve in accordance
with the Budget as set out at agenda item 10.
DECISION:
a) That the formal Council Tax resolutions for 2022/23 as set out in Appendix A and
summarised at 1.8 of the report (and detailed below) be approved; and

Page 12

- 65 SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL - 3
March 2022

b) That the charge to be levied to the Council Taxpayers of Spalding for services
provided in their town (Spalding Special Estimates) (£233,130 for 2022/23) be
approved. This equates to a Band D equivalent charge of £24.57 (£24.18 for
2021/22), a 1.61% increase.
1.8

Council Tax Resolutions
The required resolutions for the approval of the levels of Council Tax are set
out at Appendix A. The figures relating to the District Council and the average
of the parishes are summarised in the following table:

Council is recommended to approve the following resolutions:
1

It is to be noted that on 16 December 2021 the Council calculated: (a)

the Council Tax Base 2022/23 for the District as 29,393 (item T in the
formula in section 31B(3) of the Local Government Finance Act 1992,
as amended) and;

(b)

Dwellings in those parts of the district to which a Parish precept relates
as shown in Appendix B

2.

Calculate that the Council Tax requirement for the Council’s own purposes for
2022/23 (excluding Parish precepts and Spalding Special Expenses) is
£5,573,794

3

That the following amounts be calculated by the Council for the year 2022/23
in accordance with Sections 31 to 36 of the Local Government Finance Act
1992 as amended (the Act): (a)

£38,204,489

being the aggregate of the amounts which the
Council estimates for the items set out in Section
31A(2) of the Act;

Page 13

- 66 SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL - 3
March 2022

(b)

£31,382,750 being the aggregate of the amounts which the
Council estimates for the items set out in Section
31A(3) of the Act;

(c)

£6,821,739 being the amount by which the aggregate at 3(a)
above exceeds the aggregate at 3(b) above,
calculated by the Council, in accordance with
Section 31A(4) of the Act, as its Council Tax
requirement for the year (item R in the formula in
Section 31a (4) of the Act);

(d)

(e)

£232.09 being the amount at 3(c) divided by the amount at
1(a) (item T), calculated by the Council, in
accordance with Section 31B(1) of the Act, as the
basic amount of Council Tax for the year (including
Parish precepts);
£1,247,945 being the aggregate amount of all special items
(Including Parish precepts) referred to in Section
34(1) of the Act (see Appendix B);

(f)

£189.63 being the amount at 3(d) less the result given by
dividing the amount at (e) by the amount at 1(a)
calculated by the Council, in accordance with
Section 34(2) of the Act, as the basic amount of
council tax for the year for dwellings in those parts of
its areas to which no special item relates;

(g)

The figures shown in Appendix C, being the amounts given by adding
to the amount at 3(f) the amounts of the special item or items relating to
dwellings in those parts of the district divided in each case by the
amount at 1(b), calculated by the Council, in accordance with Section
34(3) of the Act, as the basic amounts of its Council Tax for the year for
dwellings in those parts of its area to which one or more special items
relate;

(h)

The figures shown in Appendix D, being the amounts given by
multiplying the amounts at 3(f) and 3(g) by the number which, in the
proportion set out in Section 5(1) of the Act, is applicable to dwellings
listed in a particular valuation band divided by the number which in that
proportion is applicable to dwellings listed in valuation band D,
calculated by the Council, in accordance with Section 36(1) of the Act
as the amounts to be taken into account for the year in respect of
categories of dwellings listed in different valuation bands.

4. That it be noted that for the year 2022/23 the Lincolnshire County Council
(LCC) and the Police and Crime Commissioner (PCC) for Lincolnshire have
stated the following amounts in precepts issued to the Council, in accordance

Page 14

- 67 SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL - 3
March 2022

with Section 40 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992, for each of the
categories of dwellings shown below:-

5. That having calculated the aggregate in each case the amounts at 3(h) and 4
above, the Council, in accordance with Section 30(2) of the Local Government
Finance Act 1992, hereby sets the amounts shown in Appendix E as the
amount of Council Tax for 2022/23 of the categories of dwellings shown.
6. Appendix F provides definitions for the formal Council Tax resolution.

In accordance with the Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) (Amendment)
Regulations 2014 a recorded vote was taken on each Budget decision. The vote was
as follows:
For
Councillor Alcock
Councillor Astill
Councillor Avery
Councillor Beal
Councillor Biggadike
Councillor Bingham
Councillor Brewis
Councillor Coupland
Councillor Cronin
Councillor Gambba-Jones
Councillor Gibson
Councillor Grocock
Councillor Lawton
Councillor Pepper
Councillor Porter
Councillor Redgate
Councillor Rudkin
Councillor Scalese
Councillor Slade
Councillor Sneath
Councillor Taylor

Against

Abstain

Page 15

Apologies/Absent
Councillor Booth
Councillor Carter
Councillor Casson
Councillor Drury
Councillor Hasan
Councillor King
Councillor McLean
Councillor Newton
Councillor Reynolds
Councillor Seymour
Councillor Tennant
Councillor Tyrrell

- 68 SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL - 3
March 2022

Councillor Walsh
Councillor Wilkinson
Councillor Woolf
Councillor Worth
94.

APPOINTMENT OF EXTERNAL AUDITORS
Consideration was given to the report of the Deputy Chief Executive – Corporate and
Development (S151) which sought Council’s approval to the way forward regarding
the appointment of External Auditors.
The current auditor appointment arrangements covered the period up to and
including the audit of the 2022/23 accounts.
Public Sector Audit Appointments Limited (“PSAA”) was undertaking a procurement
for the next appointing period, covering audits for 2023/24 to 2027/28. All local
government bodies needed to make important decisions about their external audit
arrangements from 2023/24. They had options to arrange their own procurement and
make the appointment themselves or in conjunction with other bodies, or they could
join and take advantage of the national collective scheme administered by PSAA.
The following points were raised:
•

Members asked if there was an estimate of the difference in cost to the Council
for each different option.
o Officers responded that there was an option to go out to the market, the
better value option would be to go through the group procurement
process.

•

Members commented that whilst the principal should be supported, it was
important for the auditor to be aware of the rural nature of the area. It was
important to differentiate between urban and rural authorities.

DECISION:
a) That Public Sector Audit Appointments’ invitation to opt into the sector-led option
for the appointment of external auditors to principal local government and police
bodies for five financial years from 1 April 2023 be accepted; and
That delegate authority be given to the Section 151 Officer (or deputy in their
absence) to communicate the willingness of the council to join the scheme, led by
PSAA and to enter into the scheme after a satisfactory examination/negotiation of the
proposed terms and conditions is included.
95.

PAY POLICY STATEMENT 2022/23

Page 16

- 69 SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL - 3
March 2022

Consideration was given to the report of the Deputy Chief Executive – Corporate
Development (S151 Officer) which sought approval of the Pay Policy Statement
2022/23.
Members were advised that the main difference to this year’s report was the end of
SHDC’s partnership with Breckland Council and the start of the new partnership with
Boston Council and East Lindsey District Council, and the report reflected this
change.
The following points were raised:
•

Members asked whether there was any relationship between this policy and the
employees of PSPS and those employed through the leisure contract.
o Officers confirmed that the policy related purely to the Council’s
arrangements.

DECISION:
That the Pay Policy Statement 2022/23, appended at Appendix A to the report, be
approved.
96.

NOMINATIONS FOR COMMITTEES AND OTHER SEATS AND PROPOSED
CHANGES TO THE CONSTITUTION.
There were none.

97.

HEALTH SCRUTINY FOR LINCOLNSHIRE REPORT
Consideration was given to the report of Councillor Scalese in respect of Health
Scrutiny for Lincolnshire.
DECISION:
That the report be noted.

98.

ANY OTHER ITEMS WHICH THE CHAIRMAN DECIDES ARE URGENT
There were none.

(The meeting ended at 7.24 pm)
(End of minutes)

Page 17

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 11.

REPORT TO:

South Holland District Council

DATE:

Wednesday, 11 May 2022

SUBJECT:

Report from Cabinet meeting on 26 April 2022

PURPOSE:

To consider recommendations of the Cabinet in respect of:
a) Graffiti and Street Art Management Policy – To consider the
Graffiti and Street Art Management Policy 2022 to establish
Street Art in South Holland to provide safe and welcoming
public spaces for our local communities (Cabinet minute 51)
(Cabinet agenda item 6a)
b) 2021/22 Financial Report Quarter 3 – To provide information on
the Quarter 3 (to 31 December 2021) financial position of the
Council (Cabinet minute 52) (Cabinet agenda item 7)
c) Welland Homes Housing Delivery Framework – To introduce a
Housing Delivery Framework to inform future investment
decisions for Welland Homes relating to housing developments
(Cabinet minute 57) (Cabinet agenda item 12)

KEY DECISION:

No

PORTFOLIO HOLDERS:

Portfolio Holder for Communities & Facilities
Portfolio Holder for Finance, Commercialisation & Partnerships
Portfolio Holder for Assets & Planning

REPORT OF:

Cabinet

REPORT AUTHOR:

Christine Morgan, Forrest White

WARD(S) AFFECTED:

N/A

EXEMPT REPORT?

No

SUMMARY
This report provides Members of the Council with detail on issues considered by the Cabinet at
its meeting on 26 April 2022, which require decisions by Full Council. Relevant extracts from the
Cabinet minutes are detailed at Sections 2, 3 and 4 below, and the relevant Cabinet reports and
appendices are attached as appendices to this report.

Page 19

RECOMMENDATIONS
Graffiti and Street Art Management Policy
1) That the Graffiti and Street Art Management Policy be noted.
2021/22 Financial Report Quarter 3
2) To approve the necessary budget carry forwards for the General Fund and Housing
Revenue Account Capital programme as detailed in tables 8 and 12 of Appendix A to the
Cabinet report.
3) To approve virements (internal transfers) up to the value of £1.676m to reflect the
efficiency savings which currently are still in service areas and due to be offset against
the budget for efficiency savings.
Welland Homes Housing Delivery Framework
4) That the Welland Homes Housing Delivery Framework, at Appendix A to the Cabinet
report, which informs and guides future Executive decisions for the Capital Programme
for Welland Homes housing delivery, be approved.
5) That the Welland Homes Housing Delivery Framework be included as a local choice
policy in the Council’s Policy Framework and that the Constitution, at Article 4.3, be
amended accordingly.

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS
The reasons for recommendation are detailed within the individual reports attached and are
summarised in the relevant Cabinet minute below.

OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED
Other Options considered are detailed within the individual reports attached and are
summarised in the relevant Cabinet minute below.

1. BACKGROUND
1.1

Article 4 of the Council’s Constitution provides that only the full Council may exercise the
functions of approving, adopting or amending the policy framework and budget, adopting
or changing the Constitution. Staffing matters are also a Council function. The Cabinet
however has responsibility for advising the Council on such matters. At its meeting on 26
April 2022, the Cabinet made recommendations to Council in respect of the above items
which may affect budget and policy framework, constitution or compromise staffing issues.

1.2

The remainder of this report details the recommendations of the Cabinet which must be
read in conjunction with the individual reports to Cabinet, copies of which are attached as
appendices.

2. GRAFFITI AND STREET ART MANAGEMENT POLICY
Page
20
(Report submitted to Cabinet- Agenda item
6a attached)

Consideration was given to the report of the Deputy Chief Executive – Communities, which
requested that the Cabinet consider the Graffiti and Street Art Management Policy 2022 to
establish Street Art in South Holland to provide safe and welcoming public spaces for local
communities. The Chairman of the Task Group presented the report.
The following points were raised:
•

The Portfolio Holder – Communities and Facilities recognised the efforts of the artists who
had initiated the original petition, presented their ideas at Council, and whose artwork was
impressive. He also congratulated the Policy Development Panel for drawing together a
draft Policy. He commented that the Policy would need to be monitored, and that only
time would tell if it was successful. He supported the recommendations and stated that the
Policy would support artists to produce their street art whilst tackling and enforcing the
problem of graffiti.

•

Members asked who would determine the difference between street art and graffiti, and
what the cost implications would be.
o The Chairman of the Task Group clarified that street art was defined as anything
that could be classified as art in a public domain, for example spray can artwork,
statues or sculptures.
o Officers advised that Appendix B of the report showed concepts provided by the
artists which would be used as a test for the type of street art to be provided by
other artists. In addition, staff would look out for any graffiti within the area and
highlight anything that was not appropriate. Consultation with artists, parishes
etc was an important part of the process. Costs to the Council would relate to
officer time for the removal of graffiti, but this was work that was already being
undertaken where required.

•

Members asked what the position was with regard to street art on listed buildings or in a
conservation area.
o Officers advised that this would be covered by Planning regulations and that it
was unlikely that street art in these areas would be sanctioned. The guidance
provided in the draft Policy aimed to support the way forward.

•

The draft Policy stated that the Council had a power under section 43 of the Anti-Social
Behaviour Act 2003, as amended by the Clean Neighbourhoods and environment Act 2005,
to deal with graffiti offences and to enforce removal of graffiti from private property where
required. Did the Council have a sufficient budget to deal with this? It was felt that to
impose clearance costs against private owners was unfair.
o Officers responded that there was always a risk of defacement to private
properties and that one of the purposes of the Policy was to limit this, and to
have a formal mechanism in place for the authority to work with the appropriate
organisations or landowners. The problem of properties being defaced already
existed and dealing with it fell under current budgets. The Policy would provide
a better way forward for those that wished to undertake their street art.

•

Members asked how the walls housing the street art would be maintained and inspected.
o Officers responded that the artists would be responsible for their artwork. The
Policy was currently being tested, with consideration being given to panels that
could be painted over. Take up by artists of the scheme would be monitored

Page 21

and reviewed in six months’ time. With regard to inspection, the Council would
inspect any Council-owned sites, would remove any offensive content, and could
paint over any faded artwork. It would be the responsibility of the artists to
keep artwork fresh and to provide ideas for replacements within reasonable
timescales.
•

With regard to sites for artwork, members commented that other sites could be
considered, and waste ground at Swan Street was suggested as a future area to trial the
Policy.

DECISION:
1) That the Policy be approved and forwarded to Council for information;
2) That the Policy be delegated to the Portfolio Holder for Communities and Facilities for any
final amendments and any future changes;
3) That the outcome of the Piloting phase which tested the draft policy be noted; and
4) That a review by the Street Art Wall Task Group after 6 months be approved, to enable the
proposed policy to be successfully implemented.
(Other options considered:
• Do nothing – not considered. The Graffiti and Street Art Management Policy 2022
had been developed and tested by a Policy Development Panel Task Group and was
based on best practice policies in operation across the country and internationally.
Following a public petition which had culminated in a presentation to Council on 24
November 2021, members had supported the opportunity and agreed to refer the
proposal to the Task Group, to develop the governance framework to support the
opportunity for street art in South Holland.
Reasons for decision:
• The recommendations within the report responded to the public petition presented
to the Council on 24 November 2021 and the overwhelming support indicated by the
Members of the Council in response to the public petition.)
3. 2021/22 FINANCIAL REPORT QUARTER 3
(Report submitted to Cabinet – Agenda Item 7)
Consideration was given to the report of the Portfolio Holder for Finance, Commercialisation
and Partnerships and the Deputy Chief Executive (Corporate Development) (S151 Officer),
which provided information on the Quarter 3 (to 31 December 2021) financial position of the
Council.
The Portfolio Holder for Finance, Commercialisation and Partnerships provided the following
summary:
•

The Q3 Forecast Outturn 2021/22 presented the forecast outturn position as at 31st
December 2021 for this financial year and was based on the information known at the time.
• General Fund - The full year forecast outturn based on current projections and assumptions
was an overspend of £191,000 in the General Fund, which included the balances of
PageThe
22forecast outturn position by Directorate
unachieved efficiency savings of £397,000.

•

•
•

•

•
•

was detailed at Appendix A – Table 1, together with an analysis of service variations. The
2021/22 budget included an efficiency savings target of £1.676 million, savings achieved so
far were £1.279 million. Details of these savings were listed in Appendix A table 2a.
Reserves (GF and HRA) - General Fund Specific Reserves were forecasting a decrease of
£0.311 million from £13.493 million to £13.182 million - further details were set out in
Appendix A - Table 3. In addition, the General Fund Reserve Balance remained at £2.078
million. The HRA General Reserve balance was forecasting an overall increase of £0.846
million from £27.384 million to £28.230 million. More details were provided at Appendix A
– Table 3.
HRA - The HRA was forecasting a surplus of £1.663 million, and further detail was provided
at Appendix A - Table 4.
Capital
o General Fund - Revisions totalling £0.922 million were recommended for approval,
as detailed in Appendix A Table 5, giving a revised 2021/22 programme of £8.390
million. The total budget carry forward due to slippage on the General Fund Capital
Programme of £3.747 million was detailed on Appendix A – Table 8 was
recommended for approval.
o HRA - The total revised HRA Capital Programme for 2021/22 was £14.984 million as
detailed in Appendix A Table 10. The total budget carry forward due to slippage on
the HRA Capital Programme of £9.281 million as detailed on Appendix A – Table 12
was recommended for approval.
Treasury Management - Appendix A - Section 2.5 provided details of the Council Treasury
Investments. As at 31 December 2021, a total of £48.376 million investments were held by
the Council. Appendix A Table 13 provided more information on the investments. The
forecast income from investment interest had been calculated at £194,000, as per budget.
Debt Collection - Section 2.6 showed the analysis of sundry debts the Council held as at 31st
December 2021.
Council Tax & Business Rates - Section 2.7
o Council Tax - Collectable debit for 2021/22 was £54.4 million. As at December 2021,
collection rate was 83.55% (83.80% at 31 December 2020)
o Business Rates - Collectable debit for 2021/22 was £24.1million. As at December
2021, collection rate was 81.59% (77.99% as at 31 December 2020)

It was noted that the Revised Budget 2022/23 figure for Crease Drove Industrial Units
(Appendix A, Table 8) should read £1.350 million.
DECISION:
1) That the report and Appendix A be noted.
2) That the estimated position with regard to the approved contributions to and use of
reserves be noted.
3) That the General Fund and Housing Revenue Account Capital programme be noted as set
out in table 5, 6, 9 and 10 of Appendix A.
(Other options considered:
• Do nothing
Reasons for Decision:
• To provide timely information to members on the overall financial position of the
Council).

Page 23

4. WELLAND HOMES HOUSING DELIVERY FRAMEWORK
(Report submitted to Cabinet – Agenda Item 12)
Consideration was given to the report of the Portfolio Holder (Assets and Planning) and the
Assistant Director (Strategic Growth and Development) which introduced a Housing Delivery
Framework to inform future investment decisions for Welland Homes relating to housing
developments.
Members noted that the proposals did not include any reference to informing ward members.
Officers responded that every decision published by the Executive would be subject to call-in,
and members would therefore have the opportunity to feed in via this mechanism if required.
Members responded that ward members should be informed on any housing schemes which
met the criteria, prior to a public report being submitted to Cabinet for decision. A formal
amendment to this end was proposed. The amendment was moved and seconded.
DECISION:
1) That the proposal to amend the Policy Framework to include the Welland Homes Housing
Delivery Framework be supported and recommended to Council for approval;
2) That ward members be informed on any housing schemes which met the criteria, prior to a
public report being submitted to Cabinet for decision.
(Other options considered:
• Do nothing. In this event, there would be no certainty around the preferred approach to
delivering new housing schemes. This could delay schemes being approved. The
Executive would continue to approve business cases for individual schemes without a
framework being in place to guide such decisions.
Reasons for Decision:
• To identify the preferred nature of schemes for future investment.
• To provide a framework within which the Executive can approve the delivery of Welland
Homes housing projects.
• To ensure that investment decisions are made which adhere to the framework.
• To clarify that schemes which are outside of the framework will only be pursued if they
have been referred to, and approved by, Council.)
APPENDICES
Appendices are listed below and attached to the back of the report: APPENDIX A

Graffiti and Street Art Management Policy Covering Report

APPENDIX B

Graffiti and Street Art Management Policy (Appendix A to
original Cabinet report)

APPENDIX C

Graffiti and Street Art Management Policy (Appendix B to
original Cabinet report)

APPENDIX D

2021/22 Financial Report Quarter 3 Covering Report

Page 24

APPENDIX E

2021/22 Financial Report Quarter 3 (Appendix A to original
Cabinet report)

APPENDIX F

Welland Homes Housing Delivery Framework Report

BACKGROUND PAPERS
No background papers as defined in Section 100D of the Local Government Act 1972 were used
in the production of this report.

CHRONOLOGICAL HISTORY OF THIS REPORT
Name of body

Date

Cabinet

26 April 2022

REPORT APPROVAL
Report author:

Christine Morgan, Forrest White
cmorgan@sholland.gov.uk,
FWhite@sholland.gov.uk

Signed off by:

The individual reports have previously been signed
off by the relevant Director and Portfolio Holders

Approved for publication:

As above

Page 25

This page is intentionally left blank

APPENDIX A

REPORT TO:

Cabinet

DATE:

Tuesday 26 April 2022

SUBJECT:

Graffiti and Street Art Management Policy 2022

PURPOSE:

To consider the Graffiti and Street Art Management Policy 2022 to
establish Street Art in South Holland to provide safe and welcoming
public spaces for our local communities.

KEY DECISION

N/A

PORTFOLIO HOLDER:

Cllr Gary Taylor, Portfolio Holder for Communities and Facilities

REPORT OF:

John Leach – DCEX - Communities

REPORT AUTHOR:

Phil Perry – AD Leisure & Culture

WARD(S) AFFECTED:

ALL

EXEMPT REPORT?

NO

SUMMARY
This report sets out the proposals for the adoption of a new Graffiti and Street Art Management
Policy to enable street art in the district and in support of the Corporate Plan – A Place of
Prosperity, Wellbeing and Opportunity for All 2019-2023.

RECOMMENDATIONS
It is recommended that the Cabinet:
1. Approve the Policy and forward to Council for information.
2. Recommend that the Policy is delegated to the Portfolio Holder for Communities and
Facilities for any final amendments and any future changes.
3. Note the outcome of the Piloting phase which tested the draft policy and
4. Approve a review by the Street Art Wall Task Group after 6 months to enable the
proposed policy to be successfully implemented.

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS
The recommendations of this report respond to the public petition presented to Council on the
24 November 2021 and the overwhelming support indicated by the Members of the Council in
response to the public petition.
Page 27

OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED
The Graffiti and Street Art Management Policy 2022 has been developed and tested by a PDP
Task Group and is based on best practice policies in operation across the country and
internationally.

1.

BACKGROUND

1.1

The Council received a public petition on the 24 November 2021 from Karl Barfoot and
Adam Sadd requesting the creation of a street art wall in South Holland. Members of the
Council supported this opportunity and agreed to refer the proposal to the Policy
Development Panel (PDP) to develop the governance framework to support the
opportunity for street art in South Holland.

1.2

The PDP formed a Task Group to explore and develop the governance framework. The Task
Group met over the period 20 January 2022 to 2 March 2022.

1.3

The recommended policy as set out in Appendix A follows from the detailed work of the
Task Group on behalf of PDP.

2.

CORPORATE PLAN PRIORITIES

2.1

The Corporate Plan – A Place of Prosperity, Wellbeing and Opportunity for All includes a
number of priorities which will be supported by the proposed Policy as shown in Table 1.
Table 1 – Corporate Priorities
Corporate Priorities
We will…
•

•

•

Lead, enable and embed the provision of a range of improved local community,
cultural and art facilities that support the enhanced wellbeing of South Holland’s
communities.
Work together with partners, businesses and local communities to re-establish the
Pride in South Holland programme to improve the quality of public spaces to be
cleaner, greener and safer.
Support Spalding and Holbeach to be attractive places that people want to visit, live
and work while supporting all other towns and villages in the district to meet the
needs of their communities.

3.

GRAFFITTI AND STREET ART MANAGEMENT POLICY 2022

3.1

The proposed policy is set out in Appendix A.

3.2

The proposed policy contains the following key elements as outline in Table 2.
Table 2 – Policy Content and Structure
Introduction

Definitions

•
•
•
•

Policy Content and Structure
Corporate Plan
Legal responsibilities
Aims of the policy
Definitions
Street Art and Graffiti
Pagefor28

Responsibilities
Graffiti Management
Prevention
Graffiti Management
Removal
Graffiti Management
Enforcement
Graffiti Management
Collaboration
Legal Street Art
Approval

•
•

Role of the Council in relation to Graffiti management
How the Council supports the prevention of graffiti

•

Considerations for the removal of graffiti

•

The powers available to the Council

•

The Council’s commitment to collaborative working

•
•

Key considerations for the approval of legal street art
The process for approving legal street art

4.

PILOTING OF THE POLICY

4.1

The proposed policy has been piloted to test the following overall steps within the policy.
o Step 1 - Application for Street Art proposal to South Holland District Council
o Step 2 - Consultation with local community, Ward Members and the Parish or Town
Council
o Step 3 - Approval or Rejection
o Step 4 - Street Art work to be carried out with approval

4.2

The Task Group reviewed a number of potential site opportunities to pilot and test the
policy. The Castle Sports Complex was chosen as the pilot opportunity site to test the policy
and work with the Street Artists who presented the original public petition to Council.

4.3

The pilot process for the policy was planned as follows:
o Step 1 – Task Group agrees the pilot locations at their meeting with the artists on 17
February
o Step 2 – Boards put up at the 2 locations for art to be produced on
o Step 3 – Pilot locations and art ideas presented to Spalding Town Forum on 22
March
o Step 4 – Policy and pilot locations presented to Policy Development Panel on 23
March
o Step 5 – Results of pilot and the policy presented to Cabinet on 26 April and then
Council on 11 May

4.4

Appendix B contains images of the potential street art at the Castle Sports Complex guided
by the proposed policy.

5.

CONCLUSION

5.1

The proposed policy has been developed and tested in support of the Council’s response to
the public petition. It is recommended that the policy be adopted by Council to support
street art in South Holland.

6.

EXPECTED BENEFITS TO THE PARTNERSHIP

6.1

There is opportunity for the S&ELCP to adopt this policy across the sub-region and enable
Street Artist to work with the Partnership.

7.

IMPLICATIONS

Page 29

8.

SOUTH AND EAST LINCOLNSHIRE COUNCILS PARTNERSHIP

8.1

There is opportunity for the S&ELCP to adopt this policy across the sub-region and enable
Street Artist to work with the Partnership.

9.

CORPORATE PRIORITIES

9.1

The proposed policy supports at number of the Corporate Plan priorities as set out in the
main body of the report.

10.

STAFFING

10.1

There are no staffing implications resulting from the recommendations of this report.

10.2

The policy will naturally be co-ordinated by the Leisure & Culture Division of the
Communities Directorate for the S&ELCP in liaison with the other key divisions within the
Directorate.

11.

CONSTITUTIONAL AND LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

11.1

South Holland District Council has various statutory powers under which it can enforce
against illegal graffiti – including as a landowner and under its enforcement powers. As a
landowner the Council can also choose to permit street art.

11.2

The proposed policy does not form part of the Policy Framework of the Council and is
therefore an executive function to be determined by the Leader, Portfolio Holder or
Cabinet.

12.

DATA PROTECTION

12.1

The Partnership shares information and data and suitable data protection arrangements for
the Partnership have been established.

13.

FINANCIAL

13.1

The proposals can be contained within existing budgets.

14.

RISK MANAGEMENT

14.1

The are no additional risk arising from this report.

15.

STAKEHOLDER / CONSULTATION / TIMESCALES

15.1

This policy has been developed by a Task Group of the PDP, engagement has taken place
with the Portfolio Holder.

15.2

Consultation has taken place with relevant local communities as part of the piloting of the
policy at the pilot site of the Castle Sports Complex.

16.

REPUTATION

16.1

The management and governance of street art is key to the successful introduction of
street art in South Holland. The policy has been developed with this in mind. The policy also
includes clarity in relation to Graffiti Management.

Page 30

17.

CONTRACTS

17.1

None.

18.

CRIME AND DISORDER

18.1

The proposals contained within this report will improve the overall street scene and
environment for our local places on behalf of our local communities. It is recognised that
the policy will support the reduction of crime and disorder.

19.

EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY/ HUMAN RIGHTS/ SAFEGUARDING

19.1

None

20.

HEALTH AND WELL BEING

20.1

None.

21.

CLIMATE CHANGE AND ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS

21.1

None.

22.

ACRONYMS

22.1

None

APPENDICES
Appendices are listed below and attached to the back of the report: APPENDIX A

Graffiti and Street Art Management Policy 2022

APPENDIX B

Street Art – Castle Sports Complex Photographs

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Background papers used in the production of this report are listed below: Document title

Where the document can be viewed

Council 24 November 2021 Minutes

https://democracy.sholland.gov.uk/ieListDocument
s.aspx?CId=119&MId=2902&Ver=4

REPORT APPROVAL
Report author:

Phil Perry, AD – Leisure & Communities

Signed off by:

John Leach, DCEX – Communities

Approved for publication:

YES

Page 31

This page is intentionally left blank

APPENDIX B

APPENDIX A

Graffiti and Street Art
Management Policy
2022

Page 33

South Holland District Council
Corporate Plan - A Place of Prosperity, Wellbeing and Opportunity for All
We will…
Lead, enable and embed the provision of a range of improved local community, cultural and art facilities
that support the enhanced wellbeing of South Holland’s communities.
Work together with partners, businesses and local communities to re-establish the Pride in South
Holland programme to improve the quality of public spaces to be cleaner, greener and safer.
Support Spalding and Holbeach to be attractive places that people want to visit, live and work while
supporting all other towns and villages in the district to meet the needs of their communities.

Page 34

Contents
Introduction .......................................................................................................................................................4
Definitions .........................................................................................................................................................5
Responsibilities ................................................................................................................................................5
Graffiti Management .........................................................................................................................................5
Prevention ............................................................................................................................................... 6
Removal .................................................................................................................................................. 6
Enforcement ........................................................................................................................................... 6
Collaboration .......................................................................................................................................... 7
Legal Street Art .................................................................................................................................................7
Approval ............................................................................................................................................................8
Key Steps ..........................................................................................................................................................9

January 2022
Disclaimer
This report is provided for information and it does not purport to be complete. While care has been taken to
ensure the content in the report is accurate, we cannot guarantee it is without flaw of any kind. There may be
errors and omissions or it may not be wholly appropriate for your particular purposes. In addition, the
publication is a snapshot in time based on historic information which is liable to change. South Holland
District Council accepts no responsibility and disclaims all liability for any error, loss or other consequence
which may arise from you relying on any information contained in this report.

Page 35

Introduction
South Holland District Council is committed to providing safe and welcoming public spaces and supporting
its artists and broader creative community.
South Holland District Council’s approach towards graffiti management is to remove illegal graffiti and street
art quickly and support legal street art.
South Holland District Council recognises the adverse impact graffiti can have on the public and visitor
perception. The Council is committed to tackling unwanted, illegal and antisocial graffiti, whilst taking a
balanced view on street art.
This policy supports the priorities of the Council as set out in the Corporate Plan 2019-2023

Corporate Plan - A Place of Prosperity, Wellbeing and Opportunity for All 2019-2023
We will…
Lead, enable and embed the provision of a range of improved local community, cultural and art
facilities that support the enhanced wellbeing of South Holland’s communities.
Work together with partners, businesses, and local communities to re-establish the Pride in
South Holland programme to improve the quality of public spaces to be cleaner, greener and
safer.
Support Spalding and Holbeach to be attractive places that people want to visit, live and work
while supporting all other towns and villages in the district to meet the needs of their
communities.

The policy sets out clear principles for addressing graffiti and street art. Where either of these is unwanted
and appears without consent, this will be viewed as an interference with the property owner’s rights and as
such the person has committed a criminal offence under the Criminal Damage Act 1971.
The Council also has a power under section 43 of the Anti-social Behaviour Act 2003 as amended by the
Clean Neighbourhoods & Environment Act 2005 to deal with graffiti offences and to enforce removal of
graffiti from private property where required.
Graffiti and street art can have a detrimental impact on the local environment and people’s quality of life
when it is offensive. According to DEFRA guidance, offensive graffiti applies where it is racially offensive,
hostile to a religious or belief group, sexually offensive, homophobic, depicts a sexual or violent act or is
defamatory.
The aim of Graffiti and Street Art Management Policy 2022 is to deliver best practice graffiti management
across our district, taking into consideration South Holland’s unique environment of being a Council firmly
rooted in our rural community.
This policy is the first Graffiti and Street Art Management Policy on behalf of the local communities we are
here to serve.

Page 36

Definitions
The Department of Food and Rural Affairs (DEFRA) defines graffiti as “any informal or illegal marks,
drawings or paintings that have been deliberately made by a person or persons on any physical element
comprising the outdoor environment, with a view to communicating some message or symbol etc. to others”.
This policy defines Street art and Graffiti as:
Street art: “Any work of art on building facades or infrastructure with permission that complements
the public space in which it is situated”. “Such a work will not detract, defame or depreciate the area.
It could be a painting, land art, sculpture, etc.”
Graffiti: “Defacement of a building facades or infrastructure without permission by use of paint or
another form of marker. This is always a form of criminal damage.”

Responsibilities
South Holland District Council does not consent to any painting, writing, soiling, marking or other defacement
on its property including footways without its prior express permission being obtained.
Where graffiti is found on council owned properties or street furniture the graffiti will be removed.
In addition the Anti-Social Behaviour Act 2003 confers power on the Council to secure the removal of graffiti
from private property. Enforcement action can be taken, even where the owner does not object to it
remaining on their property.
In these circumstances the Council reserves the right to take formal action against the owner to secure
removal and if the owner does nothing, then the Council may enter the land, clear or otherwise remedy the
graffiti and recover the costs from the owner.
Subject to funding and the size/scale and positioning of the graffiti the Council may provide a free first time
graffiti removal service to owners/occupiers of properties. This removal work would take place in agreement
with and approval of the owner and in some more difficult cases the owner of the property may be required
to contribute to the cost of removal and or the cost of anti-graffiti coatings. The Council would only provide
this service where appropriate insurance arrangements were established.
Where graffiti is on a building of historic interest careful consideration will be taken in relation to the removal
of such graffiti including where appropriate the use of specialist contractors. Such graffiti will be regarded as
a heritage crime, in accordance with historic England’s recommendations, and will be reported to the Police.
Where graffiti is visible from the public areas, is considered accessible and deemed to be offensive removal
will take place within 24 hours where possible. Where the graffiti is on private property the Council will
require the owner to remove, or organise the removal, of the graffiti in 48 hours where possible.

Graffiti Management
South Holland District Council employ various interventions to manage graffiti in the district. The approach
towards management is outlined below. Individual actions are subject to Council budget provisions.

Page 37

Prevention
South Holland District Council will continue to work with residents and groups in creating alternative
diversions to graffiti problems (e.g repeated tagging), examples of diversions include initiatives such as
community clean ups and graffiti prevention schemes.
Prevention of illegal graffiti and street art is the most effective graffiti management approach.
South Holland District Council supports prevention in the following ways:
•

Creating a ‘pride of place’ with our local communities.

•

Raising awareness including the provision of community based educational engagement.

•

Creating temporary walls for street artists to show their talents to our local communities.

•

Providing the opportunity for street art at a number of locations within the district.

•

Utilising anti-graffiti chemicals where repeat instances of graffiti are known.

•

Enforcement action.

•

Removing graffiti within the timescales set out by this policy.

Removal
South Holland District Council provides a graffiti removal service to residents and businesses to help
manage illegal graffiti on their property and maintain the amenity of the district. Consent is required from
property owners or occupiers to remove graffiti from private property. The following are taken into
consideration when removing graffiti:
•

Location of the graffiti e.g. schools, shopping areas and sport areas.

•

Nature and offensiveness of the graffiti.

•

Material the graffiti is situated on.

•

Ownership of the asset.

Enforcement
The policy sets out clear principles for addressing graffiti and street art.
Where either of these is unwanted and appears without consent, this will be viewed as an interference with
the property owner’s rights and as such the person has committed a criminal offence under the Criminal
Damage Act 1971.
The Council also has a power under section 43 of the Anti-social Behaviour Act 2003 as amended by the
Clean Neighbourhoods & Environment Act 2005 to deal with graffiti offences and to enforce removal of
graffiti from private property where required.

Page 38

Collaboration
Within the district there are many private and public organisations that own and maintain buildings,
infrastructure and assets. A collaborative approach between organisations is required to achieve the most
effective graffiti management outcomes across South Holland.
South Holland District Council is committed to collaborating with organisations to provide a consistent
approach towards graffiti management across all buildings and infrastructure located within the district.
The sharing of data between all organisations strengthens consistency of graffiti management across the
district.

Legal Street Art
South Holland District Council recognises the importance of legal street art in contributing to a vibrant local
community. Street art can enhance the appearance and amenity of public spaces in the district that people
can visit and enjoy.
In recognition of this the Council accepts that properly authorised and appropriate street art may be
recognised and supported subject to meeting acceptance criteria within this policy and not being a detriment
to the local environmental quality for our local residents.
If a property owner wishes to apply an artwork to their property they must inform the Council at the earliest
opportunity. Where graffiti has already been applied to a property but the owner of the property considers the
graffiti to be street art the property owner must notify the Council that they would like to keep the work. In
both circumstances a decision not to remove the work will be based upon a test of whether the street art or
graffiti are considered to be detrimental to the local environment and enjoyment of the location by users and
therefore the final decision will rest with the Council at all times.
The list below highlights key considerations:
•

Can the Street Art/Graffiti be seen from areas the public are entitled to frequent?

•

Is the “Street Art” offensive in its nature, gang related, racially, politically or religiously aggravating,
insulting and against public interest?

•

Are the images considered to be contextually detrimental including but not limited to: Encouraging to
illegal graffiti proliferation, inappropriate for the location e.g. near schools, out of keeping with
surrounding area?

•

Saturation (Consideration of the number of images already present in the area)?

•

Complaints?

•

Other policies likely to be infringed?

•

Explicit Images?

•

Intimidating?

•

Libellous or potentially libellous statements?

•

In a conservation area?

•

On a listed building?

•

Tag’s?

Page 39

This list is not exhaustive and adequate exploration of the detriment question is critical to provide the Council
with a clear considered rationale for any decision especially where conflicting opinions between
owner/occupier, the Council and the local community exist.
This is a matter of judgment for the decision taker (see following section), acting reasonably and having due
regard to national guidance and to this policy.
There is no obligation on the Council to consult in connection with the exercise of its Graffiti removal powers
and in most cases it will not be in the public interest for it to do so.
The Council reserves the right to remove any street art at any time.

Approval
There may be occasions when it is difficult to make a clear decision whether a piece is street art and for this
reason the following approval process support this policy.
•

If South Holland District Council owns the land on which the street art is to be completed, application
should be made to Assistant Director – Leisure & Culture who will nominate a contact officer for the
project. The application should state the proposed location of the work, the nature and duration of
the project and the persons or body responsible for carrying it out. The contact officer will also offer
advice on the policy as required. You can contact Leisure & Culture by email [email address]

•

The contact officer will notify the following:
o
o
o

The Neighbourhoods team who will in turn notify the local parish, town council or Spalding
Town Forum and the relevant South Holland District Council Ward Members.
The Senior Planning Officer
The Head of Community Safety

•

In the case of land owned privately or by other agencies, South Holland District Council cannot insist
upon compliance with this policy statement, although such compliance will be encouraged. In this
case the owner of the land would be invited to co-operate with the contact officer throughout the
process.

•

The local community, Ward Members and the relevant Parish, Town Council or Spalding Town
Forum must be consulted prior to any work being done under this policy. Consultation need not be
laborious. It is designed to ensure that the community has an opportunity to “own” the project as far
as possible.

•

At a minimum, residents in the immediate vicinity or within sight of the proposed project should be
contacted, and as far as possible their opinions should be taken on board. It will be the responsibility
of the applicant to carry out the consultation, although assistance may be given by the contact officer
in conjunction with Neighbourhoods team and the relevant Parish, Town Council or Spalding Town
Forum. Evidence of the consultation and its result must be provided at the request of the contact
officer.

•

Local people should be engaged as fully as possible in the street art project. This could, for instance,
involve them working in a group with a specific artist in order to design and complete the project. It
will be the responsibility of the applicant to involve local people in the project, although the contact
officer may offer advice and assistance when appropriate.

Page 40

•

The work of art should be designed by a recognised artist(s) to be attractive and a positive addition
to the locality. Its design should minimise the risk of attracting offensive material and must not glorify
or promote tagging. The work may be signed by the artists.

•

Before the work can be carried out, the design should be approved by the contact officer in
conjunction with other stakeholders. These stakeholders will be the Assistant Director – General
Fund Assets representing the owner of the land, the relevant Parish, Town Council or Spalding
Town Forum or those delegated to act on their behalf. This is not intended to be a laborious process
and nor should it stifle creativity. The purpose is to ensure that the policy works well.

•

The Applicant may prepare the surface in advance and may treat the completed art work with an
anti-graffiti coating.

•

The work is unlikely to be permanent. In time it may be painted over or renewed according to the
needs of the next generation of young people or local residents and businesses.

•

Requests for decommissioning should be handled in the same way as applications for producing
works of art. Initial referrals should be made to the Assistant Director – Leisure & Culture who will
follow this policy document.

Key Steps
The following key steps provide an overview of this policy in relation to Street Art:
Step 1 - Application for Street Art proposal to South Holland District Council
Step 2 – Consultation with local community, Ward Members and the Parish/Town Council or Spalding Town
Forum
Step 3 – Approval or Rejection
Step 4 – Street Art to be carried out with approval

Page 41

This page is intentionally left blank

APPENDIX C
Cabinet APPENDIX B

Page 43

Page 44

Page 45

Page 46

Page 47

Page 48

Page 49

Page 50

APPENDIX D

SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL
Report of:

Portfolio Holder for Finance, Commercialisation & Partnerships and
Deputy Chief Executive (Corporate Development) & S151 Officer

To:

Cabinet 26 April 2022

Author:

Samantha Knowles, Assistant Director - Finance

Subject:

2021/22 Financial Report Quarter 3

Purpose:

To provide information on the Quarter 3 (to 31st December 2021)
financial position of the Council.

Recommendation(s) to Cabinet:
1) That the report and Appendix A be noted.
2) That the estimated position with regard to the approved contributions to and use of
reserves be noted.
3) That the General Fund and Housing Revenue Account Capital programme be noted
as set out in table 5, 6, 9 and 10 of Appendix A.
Recommendation(s) to Council:
4) To approve the necessary budget carry forwards for the General Fund and Housing
Revenue Account Capital programme as detailed in table 8 and 12 of Appendix A.
5) To approve virements (internal transfers) up to the value of £1.676m to reflect the
efficiency savings which currently are still in service areas and due to be offset
against the budget for efficiency savings.

1.0

BACKGROUND

1.1

Throughout the year quarterly monitoring reports are completed forecasting the
expected year end out-turn against the budgets. This report provides information on
the forecast full year financial performance at 31st December 2021, in the attached
appendix, for the following areas:
• The General Fund Revenue Budget (GF),
• Housing Revenue Account (HRA),
• The General Fund and HRA Reserves Position,
• The Capital Programme for 2021/22 (GF and HRA), and
• The Treasury Management Performance for the year.

Page 51

2.0

OPTIONS

2.1

To note the report and to approve the recommendations detailed at Appendix A.

2.2

Do nothing.

3.0

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1

To provide timely information to Members on the overall financial position of the
Council.

4.0

EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1

To ensure that members are updated regularly and in a timely fashion on the overall
Council Financial position.

4.2

To make the best use of the funding available to the Council and allow us to respond
quickly to opportunities as they arise.

5.0

IMPLICATIONS

5.1

This report is financial in nature. The outturn position in respect of the General Fund,
HRA, Capital Programme, Reserves and Treasury Management are summarised
below with further detail at Appendix A.

5.2

General Fund Revenue Outturn

5.2.1 Quarter 3 data provides 9 month’s information on which to base the full year forecast,
however some items are still susceptible to further change.
5.2.2 The revenue forecast shows a deficit position of £191k as at 31st December which
includes the balance of unachieved efficiency savings of £397k. The total efficiency
savings requirement for SHDC was £1.676m of which £1.279m have been achieved
as at 31st December, further efficiencies are anticipated as part of the final outturn.
Details of these savings are listed in Appendix A table 2a.
5.2.3 The forecast outturn position by Assistant Director is detailed at Appendix A – Table
1 together with an analysis of service variations.
5.2.4 It has been difficult to forecast accurately as impacted services services are adapting
and recovering from the impact of the Covid pandemic and therefore these numbers
will change as the final outturn is produced and will be reported to Cabinet in due
course.
5.3

Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Revenue Outturn

5.3.1 The HRA is forecasting a surplus of £1.663m (budgeted surplus is £1.970m), further
detail is provided at Appendix A - Table 4.

Page 52

5.4

Reserves (GF and HRA)

5.4.1

General Fund Specific Reserves are forecasting a decrease of £0.311m from
£13.493m to £13.182m, further details are set out in Appendix A - Table 3.

5.4.2

In addition, the General Fund Reserve Balance remains at £2.078m.

5.4.3

The HRA General Reserve balance is forecasting an overall increase of £0.846m
from £27.384m to £28.230m. More detail is provided at Appendix A – Table 3.

5.5

Capital – General Fund

5.5.1

The total revised General Fund Capital Programme for 2021/22 as at 3rd March 2022
is £9.312m. Revisions totalling (£0.922m) are recommended for approval, as detailed
in Appendix A Table 5, giving a revised 2021/22 programme of £8.390m.

5.5.2

The total budget carry forward due to slippage on the GF Capital Programme of
£3.747m as detailed on Appendix A – Table 8 is recommended for approval.

5.6

Capital – HRA

5.5.3

The total revised HRA Capital Programme for 2021/22 is £14.984m is detailed in
Appendix A Table 10.

5.5.4

The total budget carry forward due to slippage on the HRA Capital Programme of
£9.281m as detailed on Appendix A – Table 12 is recommended for approval.

5.7

Treasury Management

5.7.1

Appendix A - Section 2.5 provides details of the Council Treasury Investments.
Interest receivable is forecast to be on budget across the Authority with a minor
increase on the general fund and a minor shortfall on the HRA. Appendix A Table
13 provides more information on the investments the Council holds.

6

Other Key Items

6.1

Since the start of the pandemic the Council has seen effects on its budget, these
being increased expenditure in the short term in dealing with the initial response to
the emerging situation and also longer-term effects on its income streams. As there
have been a number of periods of varying restrictions in the last two years this has
meant that it has been difficult to gauge the exact impact on income budgets. The
government has now outlined a strategy to return life to a new normal and therefore
the Council can now start to adapt to this and is starting to see public behaviours to
return to a more normal pattern. During 2022/23 this will be monitored closely and
any variances reported to Cabinet quarterly as part of the financial reporting.

Page 53

7

WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

7.1

Income and expenditure affect all wards of the Council.

8

ACRONYMS

8.1

GF
HRA
HRT
RTB
ICT
MTFS

General Fund
Housing Revenue Account
Housing Repairs Team
Right to Buy
Information and Communications Technology
Medium term Financial Strategy

Background papers:

The 2021/22 Estimates Report to Council 3 March 2021

Lead Contact Officer:
Name and Post:
Telephone Number
Email:

Samantha Knowles, Assistant Director - Finance
01775 764684
SKnowles@sholland.co.uk

Key Decision:

No

Exempt Decision:

No

This report refers to a Mandatory Service
Appendices attached to this report:
Appendix A
Financial report for 2021/22 with details of the GF and HRA
revenue spend, Reserves, Capital expenditure and Treasury
Management.

Page 54

APPENDIX A - South Holland District Council – Q3 Finance Report 2021/22 APPENDIX E
Finance Summary
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

The revenue forecast shows a deficit position of £191k as at 31st December.
The total efficiency savings requirement for SHDC was £1.676m of which £1.279m have been achieved as at
31st December with further efficiency savings to be identified.
The HRA is forecasting a surplus budget of £1.663m.
General Fund Specific and general reserves of the Council are forecast to be £13.182m at 31 March 2022.
HRA reserves are forecast to be £28.230m at 31 March 2022.
General Fund Capital spend at the end of Quarter 3 was £3.224m against a full year budget of £8.390m.
HRA Capital receipts for the year are forecast to be £1.896m. Total HRA capital resources at the end of
2021/22 are forecast to be £31.949m.
HRA Capital spend at the end of Quarter 3 was £3.071m against a full year budget of £14.984m.
The Council held investments of £48.4m as at 31 December 2021.

Section 2 – Finance
Section 2.1
Section 2.2
Section 2.3
Section 2.4
Section 2.5
Section 2.6
Section 2.7

Key Financial Issues in Quarter 3 of 2021/22
Revenue Budget
Housing Revenue Account Budget
Capital Budget
Treasury Management
Debt Collection
Business Rates and Council Tax Collection

Section 2.1 – Key Financial Issues in Quarter 3 of 2021/22
•

•
•
•

On 23rd October, the Department for Levelling up, Housing & Communities issued a press release to
announce a £65m support package for vulnerable renters struggling due to the impact of the pandemic. The
funding will be provided to Councils to support low-income earners in rent arrears. Councils should
determine the best way to support each household on a case-by-case basis.
On 29th October, the Department for Levelling up, Housing & Communities issued a press release to
announce £66m funding to provide safe and warm accommodation over winter.
On 27th October, HM Treasury published the Budget and Spending Review 2021 documents. The effects of
this announcement have been built into the Council’s draft budget plans for 2022/23 onwards.
On 16th December, the Department for Levelling Up, Housing & Communities published various documents
related to the provisional settlement. The 2022/23 local government finance settlement is for one year only
and is based on the Spending Review 2021 (SR21) funding levels. This is the first time since 2015 that, in the
context of a multi-year Spending Review, the government has only provided local authorities with a singleyear settlement.

Inflation
CPI
RPI

October (%)

November (%)

December (%)

4.2
6.0

5.1
7.1

5.4
7.5

1

Page 55

Section 2.2 – Revenue Budget
Table 1 details the forecast outturn by Assistant Director. This is based on the Quarter 3 forecast position as at 31st
December 2021 and is based on officers’ projections for the remainder of the financial year which indicates a service
overspend of £328k.

Assistant Director

Corporate

Economic Growth

Finance

General Fund Assets

Governance

Table 1 – Projected Net Spend by Assistant Director Area
Revised
Forecast
Variance
Budget
Outturn
(underspend)/
Comments on main variances
2021/22
2021/22
overspend
£’000
£’000
£’000
(£13k) Reduction in PSPS MFD
Recharge and consumables costs, (£6k)
PIMMS system no longer used. £4k
computer hardware and software cost
2,814
2,840
26
increases (volume related). £30k
pressure due to reduced partner
contribution and inability to reduce
costs.
£50k reduction in GL LEGE Grant and
(£12k) reduction in supplies and
119
157
38
services in Economic Development due
to reduced activity
£59k additional staff related costs
offset by efficiencies in shared
management costs in various cost
centres. (£12k) Efficiencies on Revenue
2,338
2,454
116 and Benefits costs as per latest
forecast. £65k income pressure for
renewable heat incentive grant
budgeted in General Fund, which
should be in HRA.
£166k Reduction in car park income.
£3k additional business rates for some
car parks following review by an
external valuer. £117k staffing related
(245)
80
325 costs in Delivery Unit £38k additional
costs in Programme Maintenance,
offset by efficiencies in previous
recharges.

1,083

(£10k) efficiencies in Electoral
Registration and Elections as spend will
(36) incur later in the calendar year and
(£27k) staff related vacancy efficiencies
in Democratic Services.

1,047

2

Page 56

Assistant Director

Leisure & Culture

Neighbourhoods

Planning & Strategic
Infrastructure

Regulatory

Strategic Growth &
Development

Wellbeing & Community
Leadership

Sub Total – Assistant
Directors – Net Costs
Covid Grant
Covid Related Spend

Recharges to HRA
Internal Drainage Boards
and Parish Precepts

Table 1 – Projected Net Spend by Assistant Director Area
Revised
Forecast
Variance
Budget
Outturn
(underspend)/
Comments on main variances
2021/22
2021/22
overspend
£’000
£’000
£’000
(£15k) on Cultural Events and Sports
due to lower activity and (£29k)
pressure in Markets due to there being
no fee charged until December 21.
South Holland Centre (£187k)
888
851
(37)
efficiencies in salaries due to
restructure. £181k loss of income from
films, live performances and room hire.
Further £17k loss on income from sale
of goods.
£95k pressure – Increased costs for
waste services to mitigate driver
4,271
4,390
119
shortage. £12k pressure from
additional agency costs.
(£63k) Staff related efficiencies due to
305
33
(272) vacancies. (£200k) additional planning
fee income.
(£58k) saving forecast on
Environmental Health
commercialisation as service has
ceased. £11k overspend due to SHDC
re-joining the SLA with Lincolnshire CC
and a contribution to the Local
504
627
123 Resilience Forum. (£26k) increase in
Land Charges Income and £14k
additional Professional & Contractors
Fees. (£14k) forecast increase in
building control income. £26k income
reduction in building control
consultancy.
£41k additional staff costs, SWRR
project reduction in grant of £30k
60
106
46
partly offset by cost efficiencies of
£24k
(£133k) income from B&B, rents and
service charges, (£16k) unbudgeted
grants. £15k net overspend on salaries
1,199
1,079
(120)
after taking account of agency costs
and vacancies. £37k Homelessness
additional costs funded from reserves
13,336

13,664

0
0

(489)
203

(3,130)

(3,130)

3,546

3,546

328
(489) Covid 19 Grant Allocation for 2021/22
203 £157k Sports Hall and Swimming Pool
spend, £42k Spend in Facilities offset
against Covid Grant
0
0
3

Page 57

Assistant Director
Investment Income
Impairment Allowance
Capital Expenditure
Charged In Year
Transfers to/(from)
Earmarked Reserves

Table 1 – Projected Net Spend by Assistant Director Area
Revised
Forecast
Variance
Budget
Outturn
(underspend)/
Comments on main variances
2021/22
2021/22
overspend
£’000
£’000
£’000
(181)
(183)
(2) As per latest treasury forecast.
0
0
0

Efficiencies Requirement
Other Income and
Expenditure
General Fund Budget net
costs
Funding (Council Tax,
Government grants and
business rates)
Total Budget (Surplus)/Deficit

825

816

(9)

(276)

(303)

(27)

(1,676)

(1,279)

397

(892)

(819)

73

12,444

12,845

401

(12,444)

(12,654)

0

191

Rough sleepers spend funded from
reserves.
See Table for efficiencies

(210) Business Rates Levy
191

Recommendation:
F1
That Cabinet notes the forecast revenue position for 2021/22 as detailed in Table 1.

Progress Against Efficiencies Requirement
The 2021/22 budget included an efficiency target of £1.676m, efficiencies achieved so far are:
Table 2a – Efficiency Description

Amount
£’000

Staff Vacancies

(230)

Dividend Income
Homelessness
Car Mileage and Allowances
Local Council Tax Support Grant
PSPS Contract Efficiencies
Business Rates on Public
Conveniences

(107)
(64)
(90)
(74)
(56)

Business Rates in Leisure & Culture
Garden Waste Income
Solo Management Structure
Corporate HR apprentice Training

Comments
Efficiencies in Commercialisation & Growth,
Corporate & Strategic Growth
From Welland Homes
Homelessness Grant Income
Lower Transport Expenses
Additional Grant Monies received
Result of Boston joining PSPS

(17) Public conveniences no longer rateable
Leisure Service - 100% reduction in 1st qtr and
then 66% reduction
(180) Service expansion
Post sharing arrangements changes to staff
(389)
costs
(21) Efficiencies in HR for Apprentice Training
(51)

Total

(1,279)

Target

(1,676)
4

Page 58

Table 2a – Efficiency Description
Efficiencies to be Identified

Amount
£’000
397

Comments

Other efficiencies have been identified and work is underway to quantify the full extent of potential efficiencies for
example the South Holland Centre.
These efficiency savings are currently still within the service areas and the actual budget for these savings are within
Finance. For the purposes of outturn and to better reflect the true position, it is recommended that a virement be
approved up to the value of £1.676m.
Recommendation:
F1a That Cabinet recommends to Council that they approve a virement (internal transfer) of up to the value of
£1.676m in 2021-22.

Covid Revenue General Grant
The allocation for SHDC for 2021/22 is (£489k). So far during the year an expense of around £203k has been offset
against this grant, leaving an un-allocated amount of (£286k), other pressures within services can be seen which
relate to Covid impacts and will be reflected in the year end position.
Reserves
At 31 March 2022 specific reserves are forecast to be £13.182m, after a net transfer from reserves of £0.311m to
cover future revenue and capital expenditure. Table 3 reflects the forecast position.

Reserve

Table 3 – Specific and General Reserves Balance Forecast
Balances at 1
Forecast
Forecast Use of
April 2021
Contributions into
Reserves
Reserves
£’000
£’000
£’000

Forecast
Balances at 31
March 2022
£’000

General Fund
Council Tax
Investment and Growth
Replacement and Refurbishment
Transformation
Earmarked Grants
Specific Reserves Total
General Fund
Total

1,809
4,489
172
71
4,874
11,415
2,078
13,493

49
843
136
0
0
1,028
0
1,028

-19
-1,174
-77
-17
52
-1,339
0
-1,339

1,839
4,063
231
54
4,822
11,104
2,078
13,182

Housing Revenue Account
HRA Working Balance
Insurance
Major Repairs
Total

22,828
200
4,356
27,384

1,663
0
3,785
5,448

(251)
0
(4,351)
(4,602)

24,240
200
3,790
28,230

5

Page 59

Please note the following reserve movements that are due to take place in 2021/22:
•

•

•
•

Council Tax
o Additions – Elections and Noise monitoring equipment
o Use of reserve (Revenue) – Contribution towards noise monitoring equipment
o Use of reserve (Capital) – South Holland Centre
Investment and Growth
o Additions – Repayment of Workshop van, Leisure management cost recovery, new homes bonus and
green waste capital repayment.
o Use of reserve (Revenue) – Digital Strategy, Delivery Unit, Temporary establishment funding, PSPS
Transformation plan, Environmental Services vehicle and equipment replacements programme, ICT
infrastructure, Accommodation works, Ayscoughfee Hall lighting, works to Priory Road offices and
Industrial Units, Sports Hall Boiler and Future Towns.
o Use of reserve (Capital) – Temporary establishment funding, PSPS Transformation plan,
Environmental Services vehicle and equipment replacements programme, ICT infrastructure,
Accommodation works, Ayscoughfee Hall lighting, works to Priory Road offices and Industrial Units,
Sports Hall Boiler and Future Towns.
Transformation Reserve
o Use of reserve (Capital) – Public Protection Software
Earmarked Grants Reserve
o Use of reserve (Revenue) – Establishment Funding.

Recommendation:
F2
That Cabinet notes the forecast reserve movements and balances as detailed in Table 3

Section 2.3 – Housing Revenue Account Budget

Service Area
Rent Income – Dwellings
Charges for Services and
Facilities

Contributions to
Expenditure

Total Income

Table 4 – Projected Net Spend by Service Area
Revised
Forecast
Variance
Budget
Outturn
(underspend)/
Comments on main variances
2021/22
2021/22
overspend
£’000
£’000
£’000
(15,280)
(15,280)
Sewage Charge Income less than
(1,188)
(1,157)
31 expected (£17k) and Private Lifeline
Charges down (£14K).
£17k reduction in Court income, which is
offset by a corresponding reduction in
Supervision and management Court Costs
(22)
(29)
(7)
(£24k) Grant income to be used against
professional fees in Housing Enabling
(16,490)

(16,466)

24

6

Page 60

Service Area

Repairs and Maintenance

Supervision and
Management

Rents, rates, taxes and
other charges

Table 4 – Projected Net Spend by Service Area
Revised
Forecast
Variance
Budget
Outturn
(underspend)/
Comments on main variances
2021/22
2021/22
overspend
£’000
£’000
£’000
Repairs and Maintenance (£318k)
underspend:
(£20k) – Efficiencies forecast due to
reprioritisation of work.
(£54k) salary efficiencies – vacant
positions unfilled
(£9k) Saving on Staff Travel budgets due
to less activity
3,553
3,235
(318) (£68k) Efficiencies forecast on
professional and contractor fees due to
work reprioritisation
(£4k) General Maintenance underspend
(£145k) Renewable heat energy
incentive, previously budget within GF
with a budget of (£65k).
(£10K) PSPS contract Costs, efficiencies
passed on to client
Supervision and Management (£158k)
overspend
(£59k) of the Budget allocation for
Professional and Contractors fees within
Housing Enabling is not currently
anticipated to be spent following a
reprofiling of activity.
£30k (pressure) timing issues regarding
project management costs, income was
received earlier than profiled following
acquisitions at the end of March 2021
resulting in the income falling into last
year.
2,690
2,848
158 The profile regarding the purchase of
Affordable housing (HRA) will result in an
underachievement in income for
2021/22, although this will be reprofiled
into future years (£16k pressure).
Repairs, mainly Housing Sewage Works,
are expected to exceed budget by £120k.
Fixed Contract costs are higher than
budget, plus some exceptional
unplanned repair costs are responsible
for this overspend.
£29k pressure on Salaries, Agency staff
covering senior role.
£31k Pressure on Insurance Premiums
£5k efficiencies on projected Costs of
Void shared ownership properties, but
72
53
(19) these have all been sold and no new
builds this year
£12k saving on HRA void tenancies
7

Page 61

Service Area

Depreciation

Movement in Allowance
for bad debts
Statutory recharge to the
HRA for support services
Total Expenditure
Contribution from
Operations
Investment Income
Interest Payable
Net (Surplus)/Deficit

Table 4 – Projected Net Spend by Service Area
Revised
Forecast
Variance
Budget
Outturn
(underspend)/
Comments on main variances
2021/22
2021/22
overspend
£’000
£’000
£’000
Depreciation £461k Overspend
This has been increased based upon last
year’s actual charges and additional
3,324
3,785
461
charges on last year’s capital spend. This
is calculated based on assets in any given
time and fluctuate.
271

271

-

2,275

2,275

-

12,185

12,467

282

(4,305)

(3,999)

306

(12)
2,347
(1,970)

(11)
2,347
(1,663)

1
307

Section 2.4 – Capital Budget
This section covers:
•
•
•

Revisions to the Capital Programme (General Fund Table 5 and HRA Table 9)
Progress against the 2021/22 approved capital programme and the anticipated outturn (General Fund Table
6 and HRA Table 10)
Financing of the Capital Programme (General Fund Table 6a and HRA Table 10a)

General Fund (GF) Capital Programme
Table 5 – General Fund Revisions to Capital Program
2021/22 Revised Capital Programme as approved by Council on 3rd March 2022
Movements from Previous Forecast
Use of Capital Acquisitions
Ayscoughfee Pond Refurbishment
Total
2021/22 Revised Capital Programme as at 31st December 2021

Table 6 – 2021/22 Capital Programme and Q3 Forecast Outturn
Scheme
Revised
Actual
Forecast
Budget
31 Dec
Outturn
2021/22
2021
2021/22
£’000
£’000
£’000
ICT Infrastructure
185
24
71
Public Protection Software
15
12
15
PSPS Transformation
113
AIM Upgrade
20
Priory Road Projects
155
8

Page 62

£’000
9,312
(962)
40
(922)
8,390

Variance
(under)/over
£’000
(114)
(113)
(20)
(155)

Table 6 – 2021/22 Capital Programme and Q3 Forecast Outturn
Scheme
Revised
Actual
Forecast
Budget
31 Dec
Outturn
2021/22
2021
2021/22
£’000
£’000
£’000
South Holland Centre Projects
71
39
65
Castle Sports Boiler
5
Swimming Pool Boiler
136
34
78
Caste Sports Pool Fire Alarm
31
32
West Marsh Road Fire Alarm
13
13
West Marsh Road Electrical Rewiring
43
43
Ayscoughfee Hall
186
146
186
Temporary Accommodation
29
20
Industrial Units
63
Spalding Cemetery
159
159
159
Peele Leisure Lighting
19
19
19
Capital Acquisitions
138
Electric Vehicle Charging
29
NSAP Property Acquisitions
374
217
277
RSAP Property Acquisitions
846
315
698
Kings Road Land Acquisition
116
6
116
Grants for Growth
775
427
703
Food Enterprise Zone
2
South Western Relief Road
1,000
Garden Waste
213
184
184
Grounds Maintenance
42
24
25
Environmental Services Operational
1,174
1,138
1,138
Fleet Maintenance Vehicles
69
38
Street Cleansing
35
34
Disabled Facilities Grants
1,072
480
639
Decent Homes
75
Welland Homes
1,187
28
Total
8,390
3,224
4,581

Table 6a – 2021/22 Capital Funding and Q3 Forecast Outturn
Revised
Actual
Forecast
Budget
31 Dec
Outturn
2021/22
2021
2021/22
£’000
£’000
£’000
Borrowing
(3,600)
(1,224)
(1,252)
Grants & Contributions
(2,436)
(1,397)
(1,828)
Direct Revenue Financing
(2,354)
(603)
(1,501)
Total
(8,390)
(3,224)
(4,581)

Scheme

9

Page 63

Variance
(under)/over
£’000
(6)
(5)
(58)
1
(9)
(63)
(138)
(29)
(97)
(148)
(72)
(2)
(1,000)
(29)
(17)
(36)
(31)
(1)
(433)
(75)
(1,159)
(3,809)

Variance
(under)/over
£’000
2,348
608
853
3,809

Table 7 – Capital Programme – Comments on Delivery
Scheme
Comments
ICT Infrastructure
(£114k) Delay to Wireless Upgrade due to procurement exercise
(£131k) Various projects will now take placed in 2022/23 eg Joint
PSPS Transformation
Telephony Project and Self Scanning
(£155k) Delay in window replacement (£87k), Supply issues on Fire Doors
Priory Road Projects
and Access (£17k) and Atrium Heating project costings (34k) only
prepared in March. All planned to take place in 2022/23
Castle Sports
(£58k) Project started but will not complete until 2022/23
Swimming Pool Boiler
Industrial Units
(£63k) Postponed until 2022/23
Capital Acquisitions re
(£138k) of the £1.1m allocated, £846k was used for RSAP and £116k for
Commercialisation
Kings Road Project, the balance will be carried forward to 2022/23
and Growth
£97k underspend - delay in completing property due to roof void issues
NSAP
and some contingency not required.
RSAP
(£148k) Still significant conversion work to complete in 2022/23
Grants for Growth
(£72k) Additional grant not fully spent
HIF Funding
(£1m) Funding to be carried forward to 2022/23
Garden Waste
(£29k) New vehicle slightly under budget and delay in delivery of bins
(£17k) Mower cost less than expected and carry over from last year not
Grounds Maintenance
spent
Environmental service
(£36k) delay in delivery of vehicle
Operational
Disabled Facilities
(£433k) most of normal work programmed but not completed but £261k
Grants
of Discretionary Grant not spent
(£1,159k) behind programme due to lack of available properties and high
Welland Homes
prices making projects not financially viable

The current Capital Programme is financed from reserves and external borrowing in line with the Capital Strategy.
Table 8 – General Fund Capital Program Revised 2022/23
Scheme
Original
Budget
Budget
c/f
2022/23
2021/22
£’000
£’000
ICT Infrastructure
280
100
Office ICT Equipment Refresh
66
PSPS Transformation
113
AIM Upgrade
20
Member IT Equipment Refresh
50
Technology Refresh for Meeting Rooms
27
Priory Road Projects
15
155
South Holland Centre Projects
88
Castle Sports Boiler
40
5
Swimming Pool Boiler
58
Caste Sports Pool Fire Alarm
26
Castle Posts Hot Water Pressurisation Replace
24
West Marsh Road Projects
85
Ayscoughfee Hall
169
Temporary Accommodation
22
9
Industrial Units
63
10

Page 64

Revised
Budget
2022/23
£’000
380
66
113
20
50
27
170
88
45
58
26
24
85
169
31
63

Table 8 – General Fund Capital Program Revised 2022/23
Scheme
Original
Budget
Budget
c/f
2022/23
2021/22
£’000
£’000
Bus Depot Resurfacing
75
Car Park Resurfacing
70
Footway Lighting
55
Spalding Cemetery
25
Moulton Park Play Area Development
100
New Sheep Market Toilets
200
Clear Old swimming pool Area
15
Capital Acquisitions
3,000
138
Electric Vehicle Charging
29
NSAP Property Acquisitions
97
RSAP Property Acquisitions
70
148
Kings Road Land Acquisition
Crease Drove Industrial Units
1,350
Grants for Growth
145
72
South Western Relief Road
1,000
Garden Waste
458
29
Grounds Maintenance
59
17
Environmental Services Operational
36
Fleet Maintenance Vehicles
31
Street Cleansing
35
Disabled Facilities Grants
1,131
433
Decent Homes
75
Welland Homes
1,075
1,159
Total (including new items)
8,795
3,747

Revised
Budget
2022/23
£’000
75
70
55
25
100
200
15
3,138
29
97
218
1
350
1,000
487
76
36
31
35
1,564
75
2,234
12,542

Table 8a – General Fund Capital Funding Revised 2022/23
Original
Budget
Revised
Budget
c/f
Budget
2022/23
2021/22
2022/23
£’000
£’000
£’000
Borrowing
(4,473)
(2,347)
(6,820)
HRA Capital Receipts
(410)
(410)
Grants & Contributions
(1,351)
(1,017)
(2,368)
Direct Revenue Financing
(2,561)
(383)
(2,944)
Total (including new items)
(8,795)
(3,747)
(12,542)

Scheme

Recommendation:
F3
That Cabinet note the general fund capital position and recommends to Council the 2021/22 capital
amendments shown in Tables 5 and 6 and approves the budget carry forward due to slippage as detailed
in column 3 of Table 8.

11

Page 65

Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Capital Programme
Table 9 – HRA to Capital Programme
2021/22 Revised Capital Programme as at Council on 3rd March 2022
Amendment to Technology Refresh to Meeting Rooms
2021/22 Revised Capital Programme
Movements from Previous Forecast
Purchase of Units – allocated back from Schemes subject to detailed approval
Wignals Gate – Allocated from Schemes subject to detailed approval
Albion Street Crowland – Allocated from Schemes subject to detailed approval
Schemes subject to detailed approval reallocated
Total
2021/22 Revised Capital Programme as at 31st December 2021

£’000
14,990
(6)
14,984
6
193
263
(462)
Nil
14,984

Table 10 – 2021/22 HRA Capital Programme and Q3 Forecast Outturn
Approved
Actual
Forecast
Variance
Budget
31 Dec
Outturn
(under)/over
2021/22
2021
2021/22
£’000
£’000
£’000
£’000
Central Heating
942
598
942
Kitchen/Bathroom
1,491
746
1,191
(300)
Renewable Energy
1,152
52
(1,100)
Smoke Alarms
118
68
118
Electrical Upgrade
90
70
90
Roofs and Gutters
960
750
960
Doors and Windows
7
(7)
Flat Entrance Doors Sheltered
530
(530)
Schemes
Chimneys
532
15
182
(350)
Paths and Drives
43
43
Boundary Walls
269
43
154
(115)
Fees
233
233
Sewerage Treatment Plant
433
10
33
(400)
The Square
1,011
5
11
(1,000)
Car Parks
117
(117)
ICT Strategy / Infrastructure
154
45
(101)
Housing IT Systems Upgrade
180
50
168
(12)
Major Adaptions
893
399
623
(270)
Sheltered Alarm Upgrade
690
18
45
(645)
Housing Repairs Vehicles
50
48
(2)
Grounds Maintenance
7
9
9
2
South Holland Maintenance
65
(65)
Weston Development Scheme
10
10
Purchase of Units
6
6
6
Wignals Gate S106
748
392
(356)
Albion street Crowland
263
9
(254)
Scheme Subject to detailed approval
3,990
(3,990)

Scheme

Total (including new items)

14,984

12

Page 66

3,071

5,359

(9,625)

Table 10a – 2021/22 HRA Capital Funding and Q3 Forecast Outturn
Scheme
Approved
Actual
Forecast
Variance
Budget
31 Dec
Outturn
(under)/over
2021/22
2021
2021/22
£’000
£’000
£’000
£’000
Capital Receipts
(2,800)
(6)
(1,350)
1,530
Major Repairs Reserve
(8,842)
(3,065)
(4,009)
4,833
Direct Revenue Financing
(3,262)
3,262
Total (including new items)
(14,984)
(3,071)
(5,359)
9,625

Table 10b – HRA Capital Programme – Comments on Delivery
Comments
(£300k) Challenges relating to covid, material shortages, lead time issues
Kitchen / Bathroom
and skilled labour shortage
Renewable Energy
(£1,100k) Slow start on program but increased activity in 2022/23
Flat Entrance Doors
(£530k) Program still at tender stage, will start in 2022/23
Sheltered Schemes
Chimneys
(£350k) Slow start on program but increased activity in 2022/23
Boundary Walls
(115k) No work carried out; program carried forward to 2022/23
Sewage Treatment
(£400k) Large carry over from last year - unable to fit all of it into
Works
program
(£1m) – Delay in program due to amount of planning required and
The Square
ensuring compliance. Program to start in 2022/23
Car Parks
(£117k) Lack of time / resource to plan in 2022/23
ICT Strategy
(£101k) Delay to wireless upgrade due to procurement exercise
Major Adaptations
(£270k) Most work programmed / contracted but not completed
Sheltered Alarm
(£645k) Project officers in place but no equipment orders placed, carried
Upgrade
forward to 2022/23
(£356k) Only 3 of the 7 properties planned were delivered in March 2022,
Wignals Gate
4 more to be delivered in April 2022
Albion Street
(£254k) Properties expected to be delivered in March 2022, slightly
Crowland
delayed and expected in April
Schemes subject to
(£3.99m) Lack of suitable properties and property price rises making
detailed approval
schemes not financially viable
Scheme

Table 11 indicates the forecast capital resources for the HRA available to the Council at the end of 2021/22. The
estimated position for the following two years is also provided.
Table 11 – Capital Resources HRA
2020/21
£’000
Capital Resources* available at start of each year
26,018
Capital Investment (estimate in future years)
(4,722)
Additional Sources of Finance
- New Capital Receipts (estimate in future years)
1,833
- Funding from other reserves and internal borrowing
- Major Repairs Reserve
3,816
- HRA Working Balance
3,019
- Transfer from Capital Reserve to support ongoing projects
Estimated Capital Resources* at end of each year
29,964
* Capital Reserve and Capital Receipts
13

Page 67

2021/22
£’000
29,964
(5,359)

2022/23
£’000
31,949
(8,219)

1,896

1,999

3,785
1,663

3,390
1,278

31,949

30,397

Table 12 – HRA Capital Programme Revised 2022/23
Scheme
Original
Budget
Budget
c/f
2022/23
2021/22
£’000
£’000
Central Heating
917
Kitchen/Bathroom
1,271
300
Renewable Energy
1,100
Smoke Alarms
104
Electrical Upgrade
Roofs and Gutters
545
Doors and Windows
5
Flat Entrance Doors Sheltered Schemes
530
Chimneys
196
350
Paths and Drives
36
Boundary Walls
89
115
Fees
219
Sewerage Treatment Plant
212
400
The Square
250
1,000
Car Parks
25
117
ICT Strategy / Infrastructure
152
109
Housing IT Systems Upgrade
12
Replacement Laptops
44
Technology Refresh for Meeting Rooms
18
Major Adaptions
398
270
Sheltered Alarm Upgrade
135
650
Housing Repairs Vehicles
Grounds Maintenance
21
South Holland Maintenance
65
Weston Development Scheme
13
Purchase of Units
Wignals Gate S106
689
356
Albion street Crowland
254
Scheme Subject to detailed approval
3,050
728
Total
8,376
6,369
Schemes Subject to detail approval
0
2,912
carried forward beyond 2022/23
Revised Total
8,376
9,281

Revised
Budget
2022/23
£’000
917
1,571
1,100
104
545
5
530
546
36
204
219
612
1,250
142
261
12
44
18
668
785
21
65
13
1,045
254
3,778
14,745
2,912
17,657

Table 12a – HRA Capital Programme Funding Revised 2022/23
Original
Budget
Revised
Budget
c/f
Budget
2022/23
2021/22
2022/23
£’000
£’000
£’000
Capital Receipts
(2,699)
(1,530)
(4,229)
Grants and Contributions
(887)
(887)
Major Repairs Reserve
(3,845)
(4,489)
(8,334)
Direct Revenue Financing
(945)
(350)
(1,295)
Total
(8,376)
(6,369)
(14,745)
Direct Revenue Financing for future
0
(2,912)
(2,912)
programme
Revised Total
(8,376)
(9,281)
(17,657)

Scheme

14

Page 68

Right To Buy Receipts
There are 32 receipts from Right to buy Sales which can be used for funding new house purchases within the HRA,
but there is a time limit for these receipts to be used on new builds or acquisitions, or the money is payable to
DLUHC. This limit was increased from 3 to 5 years in March 2021 and is calculated on an annual basis. There is
currently no payback risk for SHDC at 31st March 2022. The next risk point will be 31st March 2023 and an evaluation
will be done in April 2022 to establish if there is a risk of payback at March 2023 if no further House Purchases are
made during the 2022/23.
Recommendation:
F4
That Cabinet note the HRA capital position and recommends to Council the 2021/22 capital amendments
shown in Table 9 and 10 and approves the budget carry forward due to slippage as detailed in column 3 in
Table 12.

Section 2.5 – Treasury Management
Investments at 31 December 2021
During the financial year the Council has made investments in line with the agreed Treasury Management Strategy.
Detailed in Table 13 are the investments held by the Council at 31st December 2021 excluding accrued interest.
Note this represents the position at this one point in time. The peaks and troughs in cash flow are managed on a
daily basis. Because the Council collects money on behalf of other organisations which are paid out at future dates
(e.g., Council Tax and Business Rates) the value of investments held at any point in time does not represent the value
of SHDC’s own resources.
Table 13 – Investments as at 31 December 2021
Financial Institution
Amount (£)
Maturity Date
Lloyds Current Account
887,064
Instant Access
Handelsbanken Plc
4,993,244
Instant Access
CCLA Money Market Fund
4,500,000
Instant Access
Lloyds 95 Day Notice Account
4,995,836
95 Day Notice
Australia & New Zealand Bank
2,500,000
07/02/2022
Thurrock Borough Council
2,000,000
11/03/2022
Standard Chartered
2,000,000
16/03/2022
National Westminster Bank (CD)
5,000,000
17/03/2022
Close Brothers
2,500,000
24/03/2022
Bayerische Landesbank London
3,000,000
07/04/2022
Heleba Bank
3,000,000
18/05/2022
Close Brothers
2,500,000
24/05/2022
Australia & New Zealand Bank
2,500,000
15/08/2022
Standard Chartered
3,000,000
02/06/2022
Goldman Sachs Investment Bank
5,000,000
31/06/2022
TOTAL
48,376,144

15

Page 69

Yield
0.00%
0.05%
0.13%
0.05%
0.11%
0.30%
0.08%
0.16%
0.25%
0.19%
0.35%
0.40%
0.18%
0.30%
0.495%

Table 14 - Maturity Structure as at 31 December 2021
Duration
Amount (£)
Percentage of Total
Less than one week
10,380,308
20%
Less than one month
0%
One to three months
18,995,836
36%
Three to six months
16,500,000
32%
Six to nine months
2,500,000
5%
Nine to twelve months
0%
More than twelve months (Welland
3,722,289
7%
Homes)

Return on Investments
The Council’s 2021/22 budget for investment income is £194k. At the end of December 2021 investment income
projected to the end of the year is £194k. This figure is still an estimate as the actual returns on all investments may
change during the fourth quarter of the financial year.
Treasury investments achieved an average rate of 0.184% compared to the benchmark average 3 month LIBID rate
of 0.039%.
Welland Homes investments have achieved an average rate of 3.5%.
The combined rate achieved on all investments was estimated to be approximately 0.441%.
Borrowing
The Council has £67.5m of external borrowing as per the table below.
Entity

Amount (£)

Start Date

Maturity Date

Public Works Loan Board

67,456,000

28/03/2012 28/03/2062

Rate
3.48%

Borrowing costs for 2021/22 are projected to be £2.347m.
PWLB borrowing rates have risen in December in line with the Bank of England Base rate rise of 0.15%. As at 31st
December 2021 the 50 year PWLB certainty rate was 1.75%. This increase reflects the change in Base rate and

16

Page 70

market sentiment regarding future interest rate rises, and how this would curb inflationary pressures.

Summary
Interest rates rose but remained low during December 2021. The Bank of England Base Rate rose from 0.1% to
0.25% in December. Market expectations have moved towards a further rate hike before the end of Q1 2022. This is
dependent on the economy continuing to rebound, the Covid pandemic remaining stable and inflationary pressures
continuing.
Rates on new investments with financial institutions and local authorities now range from 0.02% for one-month
deposits through to 0.60% for one-year deposits. One year deposit rates have doubled from August, reflecting the
Base rate rise of 0.15% and the market sentiment that rates may rise again before financial year end.
PWLB borrowing rates have risen during December. PWLB rates, especially long dates such as 50yrs, have risen due
to the Bank of England base rate rising to 0.25% and expectation that interest rates will rise in the coming months to
curb inflation concerns.
Risks prevail in the financial markets and are subject to a continued high level of scrutiny with any significant issues
arising being reported to the Council’s Audit and Governance Committee. Changes to credit ratings of financial
institutions are monitored daily and where required reported to the Section 151 Officer for an agreed course of
action to be taken.

17

Page 71

Section 2.6 – Debt Collection
In line with the financial procedure limits debts below £1,050 require sign off by the Chief Finance Officer with all
debts for this amount or over requiring Cabinet approval.
An analysis of the sundry debts the Council held as at 31 December 2021 is show in Table 15.

0-30 days

31-60 days

£

£

44,753

-99,722

Table 15 – Sundry Debt Analysis
91-120
61-90 days
121-183
184-365
days
days
days
£
£
£
£
3,909
8,304
17,148
254,986

Over 365
days
£
199,524

Total
£
428,902

Note: This does not include details of invoice amounts (£385,993) that are not yet due.
Section 2.7 – Council Tax and Business Rates
Council Tax Support Scheme (CTS)
Following the statutory annual review during 2020/21, the 2021/22 scheme remains unchanged from the previous
year, allowing for national up-ratings. This scheme continues to support the Government’s Welfare Reform agenda
to bring further reductions to the national benefits bill. The scheme sustains the required protection of those of
pension age, protects vulnerable customers and encourages people into employment.
Quarter 3 collection rate remains lower, and the Council Tax Support caseload remains higher, than pre-covid levels.
There remains some uncertainty of the overall ongoing impact of covid. In recognition, we continue to remain
prudent in setting the bad debt provision in this area.
Council Tax – Quarter 3 In-Year Collection
The collectable debit for the year at 31 December 2021 was £54.4m with a collection rate of 83.55% achieved at 31
December 2021 (83.80% at 31 December 2020).

Business Rates
Table 16 – 2021/22 Business Rates Retention
Base Estimate
Forecast position
included in
at 31 March 2022
2021/22 budget
£
£
Non-Domestic rating income for the year
(25,037,074)
(20,432,164)
Less: LCC share (10% for 21/22)
2,503,707
2,043,216
Less: Government Share (50% for 21/22)
12,518,537
10,216,082
South Holland District Council’s income
(10,014,830)
(8,172,866)
(excluding renewables) (40% for 21/22)

(Surplus)/Deficit in
2021/22 – will impact
next year’s budget
£
4,604,910
(460,491)
(2,302,455)
1,841,964

The position in Table 16 shows a large deficit against the base estimate, the main reason for this is the retail discount
offered by the government in response to the Coronavirus pandemic to assist retailers. This discount will be
reimbursed by the government however due to the way the Collection Fund is accounted for the income is received
in 2021/22 but the Business Rates deficit will not be seen in the Council’s accounts until 2022/23. As a result of this
18

Page 72

circa £1.4m of income is due to be received in 2021/22 and this will need to be transferred into reserves at the end
of the financial year for use in the 2022/23 budget. The difference between this income and the deficit above is due
to a reduction in gross rates across all businesses which is being closely monitored.
Business Rates Appeals
Except in certain circumstance, new appeals can no longer be made against the 2010 list.
As at 31 December 2021 the Rateable Value amount for properties under appeal in 2010 list (excluding multiple
appeals for the same property) was £2.2m, relating to 9 properties on the latest list of outstanding appeals. 97% of
this value comes from just 7 properties and does present some significant risk to the overall level of collectable debit
should these appeals be successful, leading to significant reductions in rateable value. The appeals provision
(£2.232m) is considered sufficient to cover the potential impact of these appeals.
Business Rates – 2021/22 In-Year Collection
The collectable debit for the year to 31 December 2021 is £24.1m with a collection rate of 81.59% achieved at 31
December 2021 (77.99% 31 December 2020). The target collection rate for 2021/22 remains at the pre-covid level of
97.1%, and the forecast will be reviewed during quarter 4. Following the reduction from 100% to 66% in the COVID
related additional reliefs from July 2021, the increased collectable debit will be payable over the remainder of the
financial year. Due to the continued application of some COVID related additional reliefs in 2021/22 the collectable
debit remains around £3m lower than usual. Collection rates compared to the previous financial year is less
meaningful than usual.
The government has recently announced the Covid Additional Relief Fund (CARF) to provide rate relief support in
2021/22 for businesses impacted by covid but who have not been supported through other relief schemes. The
scheme for SHDC is currently being developed.

19

Page 73

This page is intentionally left blank

APPENDIX F

REPORT TO:

Cabinet and Council

DATE:

Tuesday, 26 April 2022 / Wednesday, 11th May 2022

SUBJECT:

Welland Homes Housing Delivery Framework

PURPOSE:

To introduce a Housing Delivery Framework to inform future
investment decisions for Welland Homes relating to housing
developments.

KEY DECISION:

N

PORTFOLIO HOLDER:

Portfolio Holder for Assets & Planning

REPORT OF:

Assistant Director - Strategic Growth and Development

REPORT AUTHOR:

Caroline Hannon, Head of Delivery

WARD(S) AFFECTED:

All Wards

EXEMPT REPORT?

No

SUMMARY
SHDC has an approved capital budget for the delivery of 21 homes by Welland Homes, in
accordance with the Company’s business plan. This report seeks to establish a policy framework
which allows Council to set criteria for how the Capital Programme budget is allocated. It
enables the Executive to approve housing schemes which meet the criteria.
The framework sets out the preferred nature of schemes for future investment and will enable
Welland Homes to continue to deliver new homes which provide housing solutions to meet local
housing demand. It will support Welland Homes to achieve its business plan objectives.

RECOMMENDATIONS
Recommendation for Cabinet:
1. That the proposal to amend the Policy Framework to include the Welland Homes
Housing Delivery Framework is supported and recommended to Council for approval.
Recommendations for Council:

Page 75

2. That the Welland Homes Housing Delivery Framework, at Appendix A to this report, which
informs and guides future Executive decisions for the Capital Programme for Welland
Homes housing delivery, be approved.
3. That the Welland Homes Housing Delivery Framework be included as a local choice policy
in the Council’s Policy Framework and that the Constitution, at Article 4.3, be amended
accordingly.

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS
1. To identify the preferred nature of schemes for future investment.
2. To provide a framework within which the Executive can approve the delivery of Welland
Homes housing projects.
3. To ensure that investment decisions are made which adhere to the framework.
4. To clarify that schemes which are outside of the framework will only be pursued if they
have been referred to, and approved by, Council.

OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED
Do nothing. In this event, there would be no certainty around the preferred approach to
delivering new housing schemes. This could delay schemes being approved. The Executive
would continue to approve business cases for individual schemes without a framework being in
place to guide such decisions.

1.

BACKGROUND

1.1

Welland Homes was established by SHDC in 2015. The principal objectives for setting up the
Company were to increase housing supply to address demand; to boost the local economy;
to improve the quality of rented sector accommodation; to set standards for good housing
design; and to generate income for the Council.

1.2

The Council is the sole shareholder of the Company. The Company has six nominated
directors who are existing Councillors, who oversee the activity of the Company. The Portfolio
Holder for Assets and Planning is the Shareholder Representative. The Shareholder
Representative is invited to attend all Company board meetings to oversee the operations of
the Company.

1.3

The Company’s current adopted business plan is predicated on the Company owning 60
homes by October 2022. The Company currently owns 39 market rented homes across 5
sites. All properties are let and have low void rates which indicate that the properties are in
demand. However, progress towards achieving the Company’s business plan has been
affected in a number of ways, as set out below.

1.4

In March 2020, at the start of the national lockdowns as a result of the Covid-19 pandemic,
the Company was only 5 units short of its then business plan target (Target 40 / Delivered
35). The pandemic has had an impact on housing delivery nationally and this has had a knockon effect for Welland Homes’ delivery in a number of ways:
• A number of housing sites closed temporarily.
Page
76 down.
• Construction manufacturing halted
or slowed

•

When sites/companies reopened, materials were in short supply which increased
demand and prices.

1.5

Some other factors are impacting on the ability to deliver the Company’s business plan. At
the time the Company was established, it was anticipated that the Company would develop
homes on SHDC owned sites. At that time, the HRA was not as active in terms of its
development activity. However, SHDC land sites are now considered for development both
for Welland Homes and the HRA, depending on suitability. As well as some SHDC land sites
being prioritised for the HRA, a number of other SHDC owned sites are not being pursued for
housing delivery as a result of the feasibility assessments or because they are being
prioritised for other purposes.

1.6

As an alternative to design and build projects on SHDC owned land, Welland Homes board
has approved a number of market acquisitions. This has enabled Welland Homes to continue
to meet a number of its principal objectives and to seek to meet the Company’s business plan
objectives. However, as a result of the current buoyant housing market, it is more challenging
for Company to negotiate the purchase of market dwellings at a discounted price, for bulk
purchase.

1.7

Despite the business plan targets not being achieved yet, the Company is still in a profitable
position. In March 2021 and March 2022, the Company was able to make charitable
donations to local charities in excess of £100,000 each year. These payments could
alternatively have been paid to the Shareholder as dividend payments. However, instead, it
has been donated to local charities to support the work they are doing supporting residents
in the district.

1.8

The Capital Programme which was approved by Council in March 2022, allocated over £3
million to enable Welland Homes to meet its business plan target to deliver 60 homes. The
budget relates to the 21 units which are yet to be provided.

1.9

It is commonplace for large capital budgets, approved by Council, to have a corresponding
policy framework which sets the remit for spend by the authority’s Executive. Until now, such
a framework has not existed for the Welland Homes development budget. In the absence of
a Welland Homes policy framework, the approach has been to seek Council approval for any
scheme which Welland Homes board sought to deliver. This report seeks to establish a
framework within which Executive decisions will be made to endorse the decisions of
Welland Homes board. If the policy framework is established, decisions taken by Welland
Homes board to pursue individual projects will be endorsed by the Executive in accordance
with the framework and based on a robust business case. Executive decisions will be subject
to member call-in.

1.10

If Welland Homes board and the Executive wanted to pursue any scheme which is outside of
the remit of the framework, then Full Council approval would be required.

1.11

The introduction of a framework will create certainty and define the nature of schemes which
can be approved. Officers will continue to liaise with developers, land-owners and agents
(and others involved in housing delivery) to promote Welland Homes’ delivery objectives and
the introduction of a clear policy framework will enable the Company to act more
commercially.

2.

WELLAND HOMES’ OPTIONS TO BUILD AND ACQUIRE NEW HOMES

Page 77

2.1

There are a range of different housing delivery models which could be explored by Welland
Homes. These come with a range of different advantages, risks and financial benefits. The
Welland Homes Housing Delivery Framework identifies the delivery models which might be
explored by Welland Homes, and identifies the appropriate decision-making authority for
each model. The paragraphs below provide a summary of the nature of each model.
a) Design and Build projects on SHDC land
The authority may prefer for some of its land sites to be developed for housing by Welland
Homes. Any such project would provide freedom to control the specific nature of the
development, including layout, property types, property specification and construction
method. SHDC officers, working on behalf of Welland Homes could appoint and manage
professional services such as architects and contractors to design and build the preferred
scheme. Design and build schemes are more intensive in terms of project management and
contractual responsibilities, including staged payments, which can increase risk. Additionally,
they can take longer to come to fruition. However, these projects can provide a greater level
of return for the Company and the Shareholder than an acquisitions project.
b) Open market new-build dwelling acquisitions
Welland Homes can seek to negotiate with developers to acquire completed dwellings which
would otherwise be sold on the open market. The Company has already successfully
delivered a number of homes through this route. It may be possible to secure a discount on
marketing value for bulk purchase. The contractual arrangements for this type of acquisition
usually include that Welland Homes would only be obliged to buy the homes once satisfied
that the dwellings have been constructed to a satisfactory, agreed standard. The negotiation
to purchase the homes could occur at any stage of the build process (including prior to
construction commencing or following completion). This means that on some sites, the
homes could be acquired and occupied immediately following contracts being exchanged.
Welland Homes is likely to have little control over the property specification as they will
usually be buying plots which are already designed and have planning consent.
c) Second-hand property acquisitions from the open market
Acquisitions would be available at full market value. The costs of acquiring individual
properties would not provide the economies of scale which is sometimes available for a bulk
purchase from a developer. Whilst there can be appropriate strategic reasons why it may be
beneficial to purchase second-hand properties, generally they may be poorer quality than
newbuild homes and would not come with a warranty. However, the properties would be
easy to identify as they would be advertised for sale and could be acquired quickly.
d) Land purchase
Private land which is suitable for housing delivery could be purchased. This would allow the
Company to deliver more design and build projects. This would enable the Company to meet
many of its principal objectives including to increase housing supply; to boost the local
economy; to improve the quality of rented sector accommodation; and to set standards for
good housing design. Whilst the land acquisition price is likely to be higher for land which is
being sold with the benefit of Planning consent for housing development, the homes could
potentially be provided sooner.
e) Joint ventures
Welland Homes could enter into a joint venture with another entity, such as a developer or
a Registered Provider, to deliver housing. This could leverage long-term investment from the
private sector into development projects or the Company could benefit from private sector
78 could be that the Company would enter
assets/expertise. The basic premise Page
of the model

into a partnership with a private body with both parties adding value to the portfolio. The
partnership uses these joint assets as collateral to raise finance for regeneration or
development projects. Development profits are then split appropriately between the parties.
The benefit is that it allows equal control over the development and an appropriate balance
of risk and reward. It can also enable the Company to access skills and expertise that it may
not have in house. The establishment of a joint venture can take some time and therefore it
would be unlikely to deliver new homes in the short-term. There would be costs associated
with establishing a joint venture company and the process can be resource intensive and
would require a full procurement process.
2.2

The Welland Homes Housing Delivery Framework also provides a number of property
requirements for future schemes including:
a) Tenure
b) Property mix
c) Specification
d) Location
e) Building Control inspections

2.3

A proposed Welland Homes Housing Delivery Framework is provided at Appendix A. The
framework sets out those delivery models which it is proposed should be pursued for
Welland Homes utilising the approved Capital Programme for Welland Homes’ development
activity. A detailed business case will set out how each scheme meets the criteria of the
framework. The scheme will be approved by Welland Homes board and the Executive. Any
scheme which does not meet the criteria could still be pursued, but would require Council
approval.

3.

CONCLUSION

3.1

The introduction of a Welland Homes Housing Delivery Framework allows Council to set
criteria for how the Capital Programme budget is allocated. It will create certainty and
define the nature of schemes which can be approved by the Executive. It will support
Welland Homes to meet its business plan objectives and ensure that the Company’s
principal objectives continue to be met.

4.

EXPECTED BENEFITS TO THE PARTNERSHIP

4.1

The adoption of the Welland Homes Housing Delivery Framework will align with the SHDC
ambition to deliver new homes for residents and provide a dividend to the Council through
Welland Homes housing company.

4.2

The framework will sit alongside the approved Capital Programme and provide a policy
framework within which the Executive can approve the delivery of Welland Homes housing
projects.

4.3

The framework will define the nature of schemes which can be approved based on a robust
business case for each housing scheme, setting out the return on investment which it will
provide for the Company and the Shareholder.

4.4

It allows Council to set criteria for how the Capital Programme budget is allocated.

4.5

It allows Welland Homes to act more commercially and to make investment decisions in
line with agreed criteria, in a timely manner.

5.

IMPLICATIONS

Page 79

5.1

SOUTH AND EAST LINCOLNSHIRE COUNCIL’S PARTNERSHIP

5.1.1 None
5.2

CORPORATE PRIORITIES

5.2.1 The adoption of a Welland Homes Housing Delivery Framework will support delivery of a
number of ambitions in the SHDC Corporate Plan 2019-23, including:
• Delivering new homes for residents and providing a dividend to the Council through
Welland Homes housing company.
• Enabling effective planning and delivery of housing solutions to meet local needs and
aspirations to ensure that our residents have access to a range of housing options in
the district.
• Ensuring that our residents are enabled to live in high quality housing no matter the
tenure.
5.3

STAFFING

5.3.1 SHDC’s Housing Delivery team currently provide project management services to Welland
Homes and this will not change with the adoption of a Welland Homes Housing Delivery
Framework.
5.3.2 SHDC procurement team will be consulted to ensure that, where relevant, schemes are
delivered in accordance with public procurement rules.
5.4

CONSTITUTIONAL AND LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

5.4.1 Council will continue to set the Welland Homes development budget annually. The
adoption of a Welland Homes Housing Delivery Framework will establish the parameters
for how the budget is spent. This will be reflected in the Council’s Constitution and in
particular, Article 4 (Policy Framework).
5.4.2 Under Standing Order 25, the Cabinet is responsible for making recommendations to the
Council in respect of changes to the Policy Framework. Prior to making such
recommendations, the Policy Development Panel must be consulted. If the Council objects
to any change to the Policy Framework proposed by the Cabinet, it must refer the matter
back to Cabinet for further consideration and it must consider the response of the Cabinet
before making any final decision on the proposed changes.
5.4.3 A detailed business case will be prepared for any new housing scheme. The Constitution
already provides for the Executive to approve business cases for new housing schemes.
5.4.4 Schedule 1 of the Welland Homes Articles of Association confirms that the Company’s
business plan is subject to Shareholder approval. This report sets out that future iterations
of the Welland Homes business plan, to include approval of new housing schemes based on
a robust business case, will be approved by the Executive (within the constraints of the
Welland Homes Housing Delivery Framework) on behalf of the Shareholder.
5.5

DATA PROTECTION

5.5.1 None
5.6

FINANCIAL

5.6.1 The Council will continue to establish the Welland Homes development budget each year.
5.6.2 The adoption of a Welland Homes Housing Delivery Framework will identify the parameters
Page 80budget.
for spending the Welland Homes development

5.6.3 Each new housing scheme will be approved on the basis of a robust business case which will
set out the return on investment it is anticipated to achieve for the Company and the
Shareholder.
5.7

RISK MANAGEMENT

5.7.1 The development process comes with inherent risk. Certain types of development activity
come with greater levels of risk.
5.7.2 All funding decisions will be based on a robust business case to ensure that development
risks are managed and mitigated.
5.7.3 Where possible, Building Control inspections will be undertaken by SHDC Building Control
officers during the construction phase to provide an additional layer of certainty around the
quality of the product.
5.8

STAKEHOLDER / CONSULTATION / TIMESCALES

5.8.1 Housing Development Officers will continue to liaise with developers, land-owners and
agents to promote SHDC’s and Welland Homes’ delivery objectives.
5.8.2 In accordance with section 5.4.2 above, Policy Development Panel was consulted on the
draft Welland Homes Delivery Framework. During its meeting on 23rd March 2022,
members of the panel reviewed the draft delivery framework. Members were supportive
of the framework and noted that its adoption is likely to improve the timescales and
process for approving new schemes which will support the company to meet its business
plan objectives. The panel did not suggest any amendments to the draft report and were
supportive of it being presented to Cabinet and Council.
5.9

REPUTATION

5.9.1 None
5.10

CONTRACTS

5.10.1 None
5.11

CRIME AND DISORDER

5.11.1 None
5.12

EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY/ HUMAN RIGHTS/ SAFEGUARDING

5.12.1 The adoption of the Welland Homes Housing Delivery Framework and the continued
delivery of new homes by Welland Homes will enhance equality within the district and
support the Corporate Plan ambition to ensure that residents are enabled to live in high
quality housing no matter the tenure.
5.13 HEALTH AND WELL BEING
5.13.1 The adoption of the Welland Homes Housing Delivery Framework and the continued
delivery of new homes by Welland Homes will deliver housing solutions to meet local needs
and aspirations. This will contribute towards improving health and wellbeing in the district
by ensuring that residents have access to a range of housing options in the district and are
enabled to live in high quality housing.

Page 81

5.14

CLIMATE CHANGE AND ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS

5.14.1 None
5.15

LINKS TO 12 MISSIONS IN THE LEVELLING UP WHITE PAPER
MISSIONS

This paper contributes to the follow Missions outlined in the Government’s Levelling Up White
paper.
Living Standards

One of the principal objectives for setting up the Company was to improve
the quality of rented sector accommodation. The delivery of further highquality homes, by Welland Homes, will improve living standards in the
district.

Health

One of the principal objectives for setting up the Company was to set
standards for good housing design. The provision of well-designed, well
equipped, energy efficient homes will improve the health outcomes for
residents.

Housing

One of the principal objectives for setting up the Company was to increase
housing supply to address demand. The provision of good quality market
rented accommodation will meet the needs of those who are not eligible
for social housing and are unable to afford to purchase market housing, or
those who choose to live in good quality market rented accommodation
The company generates an income for the council through its profit
distribution. Accordingly, the delivery of new housing not only benefits the
future occupants, it benefits the whole district.

6.
6.1

ACRONYMS
SHDC – South Holland District Council
HRA – Housing Revenue Account

APPENDICES
Appendices are listed below and attached to the back of the report: APPENDIX A

Welland Homes Housing Delivery Framework

REPORT APPROVAL
Report author:

Caroline Hannon
Caroline.Hannon@sholland.gov.uk

Signed off by:

Assistant Director - Strategic Growth and
Development
Matthew.hogan@sholland.gov.uk

Approved for publication:

Portfolio Holder for Assets & Planning

Page 82

Appendix A
Welland Homes Housing Delivery Framework
This framework identifies potential housing delivery models and the appropriate decision-making
authority for future investment decisions.
This framework relates to any investment decisions utilising the Capital Programme budget for
Welland Homes housing delivery. The Welland Homes Housing Delivery Framework will apply to all
new housing schemes proposed by Welland Homes for Shareholder consent.
Scheme approval, including the allocation of funds within the approved Capital Programme for
Welland Homes delivery, will be in accordance with the following criteria.
Housing Delivery Models
Except in a case where the Full Council has given specific approval to a scheme that falls outside of
this framework, any individual scheme approved by the Executive shall have an anticipated cost of
less than £3 Million and shall comprise one or more of the following models:
Design and Build projects on SHDC land – The development of properties on sites in SHDC’s
ownership, following consideration of a feasibility study prepared for that purpose.
Open market new-build dwelling acquisitions – The purchase of open market new-build
dwellings where the business case evidences that those properties will meet a demand for market
rented housing.
Second-hand property acquisitions from the open market – The purchase of second-hand open
market properties where there is considered to be a strategic reason for the acquisition.
Land purchase for design and build projects – The purchase of land which is deemed suitable for
the delivery of new homes.
‘De Minimis’ development or acquisition activity - Any development or acquisition activity not
exceeding £250,000. Examples of such ‘De Minimis’ activity include minor activity which might be
necessary to support potential housing sites to progress; the purchase of small parcels of land
(such a grass verges, access points, private gardens, garage plots) to improve the nature of
potential housing sites; and the purchase of individual properties where there is considered to be
a strategic reason for the acquisition (such as to provide access to an adjoining potential housing
development site).
Property requirements
The following property requirements will apply to any schemes to be approved.
Tenure – The scheme will provide homes suitable for market rent tenure.
Property type – Schemes will provide appropriate property type(s) as evidenced by local housing
demand data. Property types could include a house, flat, bungalow or specialist housing unit.

Page 83

Location – New homes will be provided in appropriate locations where there is evidence of
demand for market rent homes. This could include areas close to employment sites and/or which
are serviced by local amenities (such as shops, schools, doctors, public transport links etc).
Specification/Quality – The specification of any new homes approved will ensure that quality
housing is provided which enhances Welland Homes’ stock portfolio. Legal representatives will
review all contracts with developers, prior to Welland Homes entering into them. This will ensure
contracts provide mechanisms to protect the company in the event that the quality of the homes
is not as agreed. The acquisition of second-hand properties will be informed by appropriate
property surveys.
Land ownership – Due diligence will be undertaken on all new homes to understand and minimise
exposure to management company costs and to ensure there is clarity around land ownership
and responsibilities.
Building Control – New homes delivered will be inspected by the Council’s Building Control
officers unless there is a specific reason for delivering homes which have instead been inspected
by an approved assessor. This could include delivery of homes where, at the point of entering into
contract with the developer, the building inspections have already been undertaken by an
approved assessor.
Housing delivery models outside of this framework
Any Welland Homes housing delivery project which does not meet the criteria set out above shall
require Council approval.

Page 84

KEY DECISION PLAN

Issued – 29 April 2022

Representations in respect of all the matters shown should be sent in writing, at least one week before the date or period the decision
is likely to be made, to:
Democratic Services, Council Offices, Priory Road, Spalding, Lincolnshire, PE11 2XE
Telephone: 01775 764451 Email: demservices@sholland.gov.uk
The Key Decision Plan shows all Key decisions that the Council is likely to make over the next twelve months

Page 85

The Key Decision Plan is updated on a rolling basis and shows the decisions that will be considered and the date when the decision is
expected to be made. In accordance with the Council’s Constitution the DECISIONS detailed within this document, unless otherwise
stated, come into force and may then be implemented on the expiry of a 5 working day call-in period from the date of publication of
any decision.
Key decisions are: “A decision which, in relation to an executive function, has a significant effect on communities in two or more
Wards of the Council and / or is likely to result in the Authority incurring expenditure, generating income or making savings in any
single financial year above the threshold of £75,000 in respect of revenue expenditure and £180,000 in respect of capital expenditure.”

1

Agenda Item 12.

Significant decisions are: 1. A decision made in connection with setting the Council Tax; 2. A decision to approve any matter relating
to a Policy or Strategic Plan; 3. Any non-Executive decision which significantly affects the community in two or more wards or electoral
divisions. Some of the decisions will be recommendations to full Council, particularly if they impact on the Budget and the Policy
Framework (comprising of statutory plans and strategies)

PORTFOLIO
HOLDER /
SUBJECT

PURPOSE OF
DECISION

Portfolio Holder
for
Environmental
Services
(Councillor
Roger GambbaJones)

To detail the required
capital spend for
Environmental Services
vehicles

CONSULTEES AND
METHOD OF
CONSULTATION

SUPPORTING
DOCUMENTS

Portfolio Holder will be
consulted

Report and any
relevant
appendices

LIKELY DATE OF
DECISION AND WHO
WILL MAKE DECISION
Assistant Director –
Neighbourhoods, or
Leader
Before 31 May 2022

OFFICER
CONTACT
INFORMATION
Charlotte Paine,
Head of
Environmental
and Operational
Services
cpaine@sholland
.gov.uk

Environmental
Services Capital
Vehicle Spend

Page 86

Portfolio Holder
for
Environmental
Services
(Councillor
Roger GambbaJones)

To provide details of the
preferred supplier for the
fuel required for South
Holland District Council
fleet vehicles

Portfolio Holder

Report and any
relevant
appendices

Portfolio Holder for
Environmental Services, or
Leader
Before 31 May 2022

Procurement of
Fuel Supplier

2

Charlotte Paine,
Head of
Environmental
and Operational
Services
cpaine@sholland
.gov.uk

PORTFOLIO
HOLDER /
SUBJECT

PURPOSE OF
DECISION

CONSULTEES AND
METHOD OF
CONSULTATION

SUPPORTING
DOCUMENTS

LIKELY DATE OF
DECISION AND WHO
WILL MAKE DECISION

Portfolio Holder
for
Environmental
Services
(Councillor
Roger GambbaJones)

To provide an update on
the Environmental
Services delivery and
future options

PFH, SLT, Informal
Cabinet will be consulted
prior to Council

Report and any
relevant
appendices

Cabinet TBC, or Leader

Upgrading of the
sheltered housing hard
wired pull cord system
from an analogue to a
digital system.

Tenants; Portfolio Holder
and informal all member
briefing

Report and any
relevant
appendices

Assistant Director –
Housing, or Leader

South Holland District
Council 27 Jul 2022

OFFICER
CONTACT
INFORMATION
Charlotte Paine,
Head of
Environmental
and Operational
Services
cpaine@sholland
.gov.uk

Environmental
Services Delivery

Page 87

Portfolio Holder
for HRA &
Private Sector
Housing
(Councillor
Christine J
Lawton)

Before 30 Sep 2022

Sheltered
Housing Digital
Alarm Upgrade

3

Jason King,
Assistant
Director –
Housing,
JasonKing@sholl
and.gov.uk

PORTFOLIO
HOLDER /
SUBJECT

PURPOSE OF
DECISION

CONSULTEES AND
METHOD OF
CONSULTATION

SUPPORTING
DOCUMENTS

LIKELY DATE OF
DECISION AND WHO
WILL MAKE DECISION

OFFICER
CONTACT
INFORMATION

*Cabinet Membership
The Lord Porter of Spalding CBE (Leader)
Councillor C N Worth (Deputy Leader of the Council)
Councillor P E Coupland (Deputy Leader of the Cabinet)
Councillor J Astill (Portfolio Holder
Councillor A Casson (Portfolio Holder)
Councillor R Gambba-Jones (Portfolio Holder)
Councillor R Grocock (Portfolio Holder)
Councillor C J Lawton (Portfolio Holder)
Councillor E Sneath (Portfolio Holder)
Councillor G J Taylor (Portfolio Holder)

Page 88

If you have any comments or queries regarding any of the entries in the Key Decision Plan please contact:
Democratic Services, Council Offices, Priory Road, Spalding, Lincolnshire, PE11 2XE
Telephone: 01775 764451 Email: demservices@sholland.gov.uk

4

Agenda Item 13.

REPORT TO:

Council

DATE:

11th May 2022

SUBJECT:

South and East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership Performance
Framework

PURPOSE:

Six monthly update on Partnership performance

KEY DECISION:

No

PORTFOLIO HOLDER:

Lord Porter, Leader of the Council

REPORT OF:

James Gilbert, Assistant Director - Corporate

REPORT AUTHOR:

Suzanne Rolfe, Insights & Transformation Manager

WARD(S) AFFECTED:

All

EXEMPT REPORT?

No

SUMMARY
This report sets out the further progress of the South & East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership
since the last update on 24th November 2021.
RECOMMENDATIONS
•
•
•

To note the progress of the Set-Up stage of the Partnership (section 2)
To note the performance measures for 2022/23 and the frequency of reporting to
Partnership Councils (section 3)
To note the establishment of Priority Partnerships and the frequency of reporting to
Partnership Councils (section 4)

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS
To monitor and report on the progress of the Set-Up stage of the Partnership as previously
agreed
OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED
None as this is the approach previously agreed.
Page

89

1. BACKGROUND
1.1

The South and East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership (Boston Borough Council, East Lindsey
District Council and South Holland District Council) launched on 1st October 2021.

1.2

The business case for the Partnership identified and established four stages for building the
partnership, namely:
0.
1.
2.
3.

1.3

Setting the Foundations.
Set-Up.
Accelerate; and
Embed.

This report sets out the progress of the Set-Up stage of the Partnership since the last report
to Council which updated on ‘Setting the Foundation’. This includes details of the
Performance Framework and Priority Partnerships.

2. ‘SET-UP’ STAGE
2.1

The progress of the Set-Up stage is set out in Table 1 below: -

Table 1
Phase 1 – April 2022
Progress to date
Post Covid Recovery Plan Externally focused
-

Single approach to Business Grant distribution across the
Partnership.
Single approach to Household Support Fund distribution
across the Partnership.
Single approach to Test and Trace support payments across
the Partnership.
Single approach to messaging to the community across the
Partnership sub-region in respect of Covid-19 (Vaccinations,
advice etc)

-

Internally focused
One team approach and
start of cultural
alignment

-

Single approach to health and safety associated with
Partnership Councils’ workforces and assessing risk.
Joint Member Briefings are being planned on common issues
across the sub-region.

-

The first Joint Strategy Board has taken place.

-

The Workforce Development Strategy for the Partnership is
being considered by South Holland District Council on 11 May
2022 (already approved at Boston and East Lindsey Councils).

-

The Workforce Development Board is in place (as per
90Council)
previousPage
report to

-

A single approach to employee development/training has
been deployed across the Partnership, including launching
the Future Leaders’ Programme Partnership-wide.

-

A single staff forum is in place Partnership-wide – merging
previously separate staff forums.

-

A single approach to Union engagement is in place via a
quarterly Joint Consultative Committee with Union
representatives.

-

A single approach to internal communications is in place
across the Partnership and practice in regard to internal
communications has been aligned across the workforce.

-

Single Partnership meeting attendance is now in place where
appropriate, delivering notional savings of at least £35,000
per annum to the Partnership.

-

The alignment of HR Policies across the Partnership has now
commenced and will be completed by the end of 22/23.

-

An ICT Strategy has been commissioned jointly by the
Partnership and PSPS to develop a strategy and roadmap for
how the Partnership best uses ICT to bring the Partnership
together and serve its communities.

-

A joint approach to Emergency Planning is being established
across the Partnership to increase resilience.
Scrutiny Chairs and Vice-Chairs have met and each sovereign
scrutiny committee has agreed a Partnership Framework for
joint scrutiny, including initial scrutiny topics (transport and
ICT).
Priority Partnerships have been established to help drive the
Partnership’s engagement with key partners. (section 4)

Cross Council political
working discussions

-

Common Governance
framework/approach

-

Common performance
framework and service
standards
Agree Annual Delivery
Plans

-

Work continuing on the Constitutional Review and Model
Code of Conduct.
Developed and covered in the main body of this report.

-

Agreed by Councils in March 2022.

2.2

In March the Partnership was shortlisted for this year’s Local Government Chronicle Awards
under the Public/Public Partnership category which is testament to the progress already
made during the first two stages of setting up the Partnership.

2.3

Council is being asked to note the progress of the Set-Up stage of the Partnership.

Page 91

3. PERFORMANCE FRAMEWORK
3.1

The outline Performance Framework was agreed in the last update report to Council. This
creates a common suite of performance measures across the Partnership. This does not
replace performance reporting within the sovereign councils but is in addition to it with a
specific focus on Partnership performance.

3.2

Performance measures have now been added to the outline Framework at Appendix A to
enable the regular reporting of the progress of the Partnership in delivering its agreed
priorities. The measures will also be used to help to shape the future priorities for the
Partnership over time.

3.3

It was agreed in the outline Performance Framework to report on a six-monthly cycle to
Council, covering the periods April to September and October to March. This report sets out
the performance measures for 2022/23 and the next report will report performance from
April to September 2022.

3.4

The draft performance measures were presented to Stakeholder Group and Joint Strategy
Board in February 2022.

3.5

The Performance Framework and the measures will be key sources of evidence for an LGA
Peer Review that is planned to take place across the Partnership between 10 th and 14th
October.

3.6

Council is being asked to note the performance measures for 2022/23.

4. PRIORITY PARTNERSHIPS
4.1

The mechanism for delivering the strategic priorities of the Partnership are set out in Table
2 below:

Table 2
Priority
Partnership

Subject areas

Potential Sub-regional partners

Initial priorities

DCX lead

Growth and
Prosperity
Priority
Partnership

Skills,
Training/Education,
Business Support
Employment, Utilities,
Economic
Development,
Transport
Infrastructure, Flood
Risk
Leisure, Culture,
Wellbeing, Housing
and Homelessness,
Access to Health
Services, Health
Inequalities.
Crime and Disorder,
Anti-Social Behaviour,
Licensing

Deputy Chief Executive (Growth),
Education providers, Lincolnshire
County Council, Utility companies,
Lincolnshire Chamber of Commerce,
Greater Lincolnshire Enterprise
Partnership, Department for Work
and Pensions, Environment Agency.

•

Transport
infrastructure
Skills
Development
Inward
investment

DCX Growth

Deputy Chief Executive
(Communities), Lincolnshire CCG,
NHS, Mental Health Services, Leisure
providers, Housing providers.

•

Access to
health
services
Obesity

DCX Communities

Deputy Chief Executive
(Communities), Lincolnshire Police,
Probation Service.

•
•

Fear of crime
Anti-social
behaviour
Domestic
abuse

DCX Communities

Healthy Lives
Priority
Partnership

Safer
Communities
Priority
Partnership

•
•

•

•

Page 92

Priority
Partnership

Subject areas

Potential Sub-regional partners

Initial priorities

DCX lead

Enhancing
the Living
Environment
Priority
Partnership

Climate Change,
Biodiversity, Air
Quality, Open Spaces,
Waste and Recycling,
Environmental Crime

Deputy Chief Executive
(Communities), Natural England,
Lincolnshire Wildlife Trust,
Lincolnshire County Council,
Environment Agency.

•

DCX Communities

•

Environmental
Bill
Climate
Change
Agenda

4.2

The partners identified in Table 2 will change from time to time based on the agenda for
the Priority Partnership.

4.3

Councillors will receive informal briefings on topics of note/interest, with formal reporting
on the work of the Priority Partnerships being included within the twice-yearly performance
reports to Councils. The next report to Council will report on the outcomes and activities of
the Priority Partnerships from April to September 2022 alongside the performance
measures.

4.4

None of the Priority Partnerships will have decision-making powers or specific budgets. Any
action to be taken by the Partnerships would need to be authorised in line with the
sovereign Councils constitutions and those of partner organisations.

4.5

Council is being asked to note the establishment of these Priority Partnerships and the
frequency of reporting to Council.

5. CONCLUSION
5.1

Significant progress continues to be made in the performance of the South and East
Lincolnshire Councils Partnership. This report sets out this progress to date as part of the
agreed six-monthly cycle of reporting.

EXPECTED BENEFITS TO THE PARTNERSHIP
This report supports the aims and ambitions of the South and East Lincolnshire Councils
Partnership which are contained in the main body of the report.
IMPLICATIONS
SOUTH AND EAST LINCOLNSHIRE COUNCILS PARTNERSHIP
This report focusses on the progress and Set Up stage for the Partnership which are contained in
the main body of the report.
CORPORATE PRIORITIES
The formation of the South and East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership supports the corporate
priorities of the sovereign Councils. This is reflected in the agreed Annual Delivery Plans and the
attached performance measures.
STAFFING
No implications specific to staffing in this report.

Page 93

CONSTITUTIONAL AND LEGAL IMPLICATIONS
The constitutional and legal arrangements for the successful implementation of Partnership have
been approved by all three partner Councils.
DATA PROTECTION
No implications specific to data protection in this report.
FINANCIAL
No implications specific to finances in this report.
RISK MANAGEMENT
No implications specific to risk in this report.
STAKEHOLDER / CONSULTATION / TIMESCALES
Consultation has been undertaken with Senior Leadership Team, Stakeholder Group and Joint
Strategy Board.
REPUTATION
The South and East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership has established a positive reputation through
the progress it has achieved to date as contained in the main body of the report. In particular this
has been recognised by being shortlisted for this year’s LGC Awards under the Public/Public
Partnership category (paragraph 2.2)
CONTRACTS
No implications specific to contracts in this report.
CRIME AND DISORDER
Measures relating to crime and disorder will be included in the development of a Community
Strategy for the Partnership and added to the Performance Framework once they are agreed.
Section 4 of this report sets out details of the Safer Communities Priority Partnership.
EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY/ HUMAN RIGHTS/ SAFEGUARDING
No implications specific to this report.
HEALTH AND WELL BEING
Measures relating to health and wellbeing will be included in the development of a Health and
Wellbeing Strategy for the Partnership and added to the Performance Framework once they are
agreed.
Section 4 of this report sets out details of the Healthy Lives Priority Partnership.
CLIMATE CHANGE AND ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS
Measures relating to climate change and the environment will be set out in the Climate Change
Strategy currently being developed for the Partnership and added to the Performance Framework
once they are agreed.
Section 4 of this report sets out details of the Enhancing the Living Environment Priority
Page 94
Partnership.

LINKS TO 12 MISSIONS IN THE LEVELLING UP WHITE PAPER
The Performance Framework provides the mechanism for the Partnership to identify and report on
measures relating to the 12 missions as set out below: MISSIONS
This paper contributes to the follow Missions outlined in the Government’s Levelling Up White
paper.
Living Standards
By 2030, pay, employment and productivity will have risen in every area of
the UK, with each containing a globally competitive city, with the gap
between the top performing and other areas closing.
Research and
By 2030, domestic public investment in Research & Development outside
Development
the Greater South East will increase by at least 40% and at least one third
over the Spending Review period, with that additional government funding
seeking to leverage at least twice as much private sector investment over
the long term to stimulate innovation and productivity growth.
Transport
By 2030, local public transport connectivity across the country will be
Infrastructure
significantly closer to the standards of London, with improved services,
simpler fares and integrated ticketing.
Digital
By 2030, the UK will have nationwide gigabit-capable broadband and 4G
Connectivity
coverage, with 5G coverage for the majority of the population.
Education
By 2030, the number of primary school children achieving the expected
standard in reading, writing and maths will have significantly increased. In
England, this will mean 90% of children will achieve the expected standard,
and the percentage of children meeting the expected standard in the worst
performing areas will have increased by over a third.
Skills
By 2030, the number of people successfully completing high-quality skills
training will have significantly increased in every area of the UK. In
England, this will lead to 200,000 more people successfully completing
high-quality skills training annually, driven by 80,000 more people
completing courses in the lowest skilled areas.
Health
By 2030, the gap in Healthy Life Expectancy (HLE) between local areas
where it is highest and lowest will have narrowed, and by 2035 HLE will
rise by 5 years.
Wellbeing
By 2030, well-being will have improved in every area of the UK, with the
gap between top performing and other areas closing.
Pride in Place
By 2030, pride in place, such as people’s satisfaction with their town centre
and engagement in local culture and community, will have risen in every
area of the UK, with the gap between the top performing and other areas
closing.
Housing
By 2030, renters will have a secure path to ownership with the number of
first-time buyers increasing in all areas; and the government’s ambition is
for the number of non-decent rented homes to have fallen by 50%, with
the biggest improvements in the lowest performing areas.
Crime
By 2030, homicide, serious violence, and neighbourhood crime will have
fallen, focused on the worst-affected areas.
Local Leadership
By 2030, every part of England that wants one will have a devolution deal
with powers at or approaching the highest level of devolution and a
simplified, long-term funding settlement.

Page 95

ACRONYMS
•
•
•
•

KPI: Key Performance Indicators
LGA: Local Government Association
LGC: Local Government Chronicle
SLT: Senior Leadership Team

APPENDICES
Appendices are listed below and attached to the back of the report: APPENDIX A

South and East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership Performance Framework

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Background papers used in the production of this report are listed below: Document
title

South and East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership Business Case

Where the
document
can be
viewed

https://democracy.boston.gov.uk/documents/s12785/Appendix%20A%20%20Business%20Case%20including%20proposed%20structure%20for%20consulta
tion.pdf

CHRONOLOGICAL HISTORY OF THIS REPORT
A report on this item has not been previously considered by a Council body. This is being
reported directly to Council to engage all Members.

REPORT APPROVAL
Report author:

Suzanne Rolfe, Insights & Transformation Manager
Suzanne.rolfe@boston.gov.uk

Signed off by:

James Gilbert, Assistant Director – Corporate
James.gilbert@e-lindsey.gov.uk

Approved for publication:

Lord Porter, Leader of the Council

Page 96

South and East Lincolnshire Council Partnership (S&ELCP) – Performance Framework
Performance
Framework
Strategic Ambition: priorities for
the sub-region, working in
partnership with a range of
partnerships within Lincolnshire
and more widely.

Corporate Priorities: priorities
for the Partnership, working
across the S&ELCP where it is
beneficial to all Councils to do
so.

Page 97

Local Priorities for each
individual council which are
supported by the partnership.

Strategic Ambition
Corporate
Priorities
Local Priorities

•
•
•
•

•

Markets
Local Plan Development
Community Safety
Partnership
Waste collection &
recycling
Public Protection

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

•
•
•
•
•

•
•

Health & Safety
HR & OD
Legal
ICT
Internal & External
Audit
Risk Management
Customer Insight &
Services

Planning
Monitoring Officer
Data Protection
Democratic Services
S151 Officer
Finance Strategy
Financial Management
Treasury Management
Sundry Debtors

1

S&ELCP – Communities Portfolio – Wellbeing and Community Leadership Directorate
Communities
The Wellbeing and Community
Leadership Directorate includes:

Page 98

• Inequalities & Deprivation
• Community Voluntary
Support
• Ageing Better
• Health Liaison, Health
Partnerships, Wellbeing,
Health Promotion
• Housing Strategy
• Strategic Housing
• Homelessness
• Disabled Facilities Grants
• Housing Standards
• Housing Options
• Community Cohesion
• Safeguarding
• Community Safety, AntiSocial Behaviour, CCTV
• Lottery and PSPS - Customer
Service Centres.

KPI

Target

South Holland DC

Boston BC

East Lindsey DC

Percentage of cases opened at homelessness prevention stage (i.e. before they
have become homeless)

70%

TBC

✅

✅

Percentage of homelessness cases that were opened at homelessness prevention
stage that resulted in the customer not becoming homeless

70%

TBC

✅

✅

Number of verified rough sleepers

0

✅

✅

✅

Number of families with children placed into B&B for more than 6 weeks

0

TBC

✅

✅

Trend measure

TBC

✅

✅

Number of long term empty properties brought back into use through council
support and intervention

TBC

TBC

✅

✅

Wellbeing Lincs contractual – Service users supported to achieve an overall
improvement in self-reported outcomes

98%

N/A

N/A

✅

Wellbeing Lincs contractual – Overall improvement in all outcome scores across
all service users leaving the service

200%

N/A

N/A

✅

Wellbeing Lincs contractual - % of service users who go on to receive long term
support from adult care.

5%

N/A

N/A

✅

Number of properties improved through Council intervention

Quartile

Annual report re Disabled Facilities Grants to provide a full picture including number of referrals received (trend), average time taken to complete a DFG following receipt of referral from
LCC, average time taken from receipt of valid application to approval, number of DFGs completed (trend)
Measures will follow from Community Safety and from SLA with PSPS Customer Services as and when they are signed off

2

S&ELCP – Communities Portfolio – Regulatory Directorate
Communities
The Regulatory Directorate
includes:

Page 99

• Building Control
• Land Charges
• Environmental Health
Services
• Public Protection
• Food Safety
• Licensing
• Air Pollution
• Carbon Reduction/Green
Agenda
• Safety Advisory Group
• Infectious Diseases
• Pest Control
• Power Stations
• Emergency Planning
• Dog Wardens and
• Corporate Health & Safety.

KPI

Quartile

Land Charges - Average number of days taken to process Local Authority
searches
Food Safety – percentage of rateable food businesses with a rating of 3
(generally satisfactory) or above as a % of the total number of rateable food
businesses.
Food Standards Agency Local Authority Food Safety Inspections Recovery Plan
milestones – East Lindsey DC

Target

South Holland DC

Boston BC

East Lindsey DC

10 working days

✅

✅

✅

98%

✅

✅

✅

Milestones achieved

N/A

N/A

✅

N/A

✅

✅

5%

7.5%

N/A

% CO2E reduction from Local Authority operations

Measures are under development within service areas around volume, turnaround times, speed of response to customer requests and income. Also, market share for building control and completion
of food safety inspection plans, including unrated premises. These measures will be reported to Portfolio Holders and South Holland’s Performance Monitoring Panel.
There is an air pollution measure which is specific to Boston and is reported as part of the Air Quality Plan.
A Service Level Agreement is being developed for Emergency Planning which will include measures for reporting. Similarly, discussions will follow with PSPS around measures for corporate health and
safety.
Potentially environmental enforcement (TBC)

3

S&ELCP – Communities Portfolio – Leisure and Culture Directorate
Communities
The Leisure and Culture
Directorate includes:
• Leisure & Community
Centres
• Sports & Play Development
• Leisure Promotion
• Arts & Culture
• Museums, Events
• Markets and
• Magna Vitae.

KPI

Target

South Holland DC

Boston BC

East Lindsey DC

Visitor numbers / number of tickets sold, by venue

Trend measures

✅

✅

✅

Number of swims

Trend measures

✅

✅

✅

Number of swimming lessons

Trend measures

✅

✅

✅

Number of gym members

Trend measures

✅

✅

✅

Customer satisfaction, by venue / service area

Trend measures

✅

✅

✅

TBC

✅

✅

✅

Market stall occupancy rate

Quartile

Measures are under development within service areas around volumetrics, income/commercialisation, satisfaction/complaints/feedback and outcome measures. These measures will be reported to
Portfolio Holders and South Holland’s Performance Monitoring Panel.
A Service Level Agreement is being developed for Magna Vitae which will include measures for reporting such as types of users, customer experience, activity patterns, benefits and impacts.

Page 100

Similarly, discussions will follow with Transported around outcome measures.

4

S&ELCP – Communities Portfolio – Neighbourhoods Directorate
Communities
The Neighbourhood Directorate
includes:
Bus Stations
Play Areas
Waste Collection
Garden Waste
Recycling
Street Cleaning
Fly Tipping
Arboriculture
Public Toilets
Grounds Maintenance
Riversides
Fleet Maintenance
Commercial Waste
Town and Parish Liaison.

Page 101

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

KPI

Quartile

Target

South Holland DC

Boston BC

East Lindsey DC

✅

✅

✅

TBC

45%

45%

✅

✅

✅

28%

20% (to reflect
new service
embedded)

28%

Trend measure

✅

✅

✅

% of fly-tips collected within 5 working days of being reported – SHDC

95%

✅

N/A

N/A

% of fly-tips collected within 3 working days of being reported – BBC

95%

N/A

✅

N/A

% of fly-tips (hazardous and standard) collected within 10 working days of
being reported - ELDC

95%

N/A

N/A

✅

Percentage of household waste collected for recycling and composting –
annual measure

% of recycling collected that is contaminated and unable to be recycled

Number of requests for waste re-collection, per 100,000 collections

Three separate fly tipping measures for now to reflect that arrangements are different at each of the councils so we would not be comparing like with like if we had one measure. For example, ELDC
collects hazardous fly-tips which the others don’t so their target working days is longer to reflect this.
% of Danfo repairs carried out within 24 hours (EL public toilets)

N/A

N/A

✅

% of streets graded c and above – cleansing

N/A

N/A

✅

% of streets grading c and above - detritus

N/A

N/A

✅

Currently these street cleaning measures are only in place for ELDC but will be rolled out at the other councils over time

5

S&ELCP – Corporate Development Portfolio – Corporate Directorate
Corporate
Development
The Corporate Directorate
includes:

Page 102

• PSPS - ICT & Digital
• Organisational Training &
Development
• Corporate Policy
• Corporate Improvement &
Transformation
• Corporate Performance
• Programme Management
• PSPS - HR/OD/Culture
• Compliance
• Commercialisation of
services
• Communications
• Structural Reform and
• PA Teams.

KPI

Quartile

Target

South Holland DC

Boston BC

East Lindsey DC

Percentage of Partnership workforces (surveyed collectively) who said ‘Yes’
when asked if they felt valued at work?

N/A

Trend measure

✅

✅

✅

% of the Partnership workforces (surveyed collectively) who said ‘yes’ they
feel there are opportunities in the Partnership to learn and develop their
skills and expertise

N/A

Trend measure

✅

✅

✅

% of the Partnership workforces (surveyed collectively) who said ‘yes’ they
feel the Partnership recognises and supports positive mental health in the
workplace

N/A

Trend measure

✅

✅

✅

% of the Partnership workforces (surveyed collectively) who feel informed
about the Partnership and what decisions it is making

N/A

Trend measure

✅

✅

✅

Staff Turnover (%)

N/A

Trend measure

✅

✅

✅

Number of working days lost to sickness per FTE

N/A

Trend measure

✅

✅

✅

Measures will follow from SLAs with PSPS for ICT and HR as and when they are signed off

6

S&ELCP – Corporate Development Portfolio – Governance Directorate
Corporate
Development

KPI

Quartile

Target

South Holland DC

Boston BC

East Lindsey DC

% of corporate complaints responded to within corporately set timescales

95%

✅

✅

✅

The Governance Directorate
includes:

% of information requests responded to within statutory timescales

100%

✅

✅

✅

% of subject requests responded to within statutory timescales

100%

✅

✅

✅

•
•
•
•

Number of instances where service areas have failed to notify the DPO
promptly of any identified data breaches

Trend measure

✅

✅

✅

Number of late reports not made available to the DEMS teams at agenda
publication

Trend measure

✅

✅

✅

% registering to vote by telephone/online v paper

Trend measure

✅

✅

✅

Page 103

•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Risk Management
Democratic Services
Legal Services
Data Protection Officer/Data
Protection
Complaints
Governance General
Deputy MO
Elections
FOIs
Investigations and
Corporate Support

7

S&ELCP – Corporate Development Portfolio – HRA Directorate
Corporate
Development

KPI

Quartile

Target

South Holland DC

Boston BC

East Lindsey DC

The HRA Directorate includes:
• Careline & Supported
Housing
• Housing Policy
• Housing Landlord
• Social Housing Provider
Liaison
• Housing Revenue Accounts
• Sheltered Housing and
• Housing Services.

Housing: Performance measures will follow from the LGA Peer Review
Sheltered Housing: Performance measures will be developed as part of the service review

Page 104
8

S&ELCP – Corporate Development Portfolio – Finance Directorate
Corporate
Development

KPI

Quartile

Target

South Holland DC

Boston BC

East Lindsey DC

Business rate collection rate (%) (Cumulative)

✅

✅

✅

The Finance Directorate
includes:

Council tax collection rate (%) (Cumulative)

✅

✅

✅

Time to process new Council Tax Support and Housing Benefit claims (days)

✅

✅

✅

• PSPS - Council Tax & Business
Rates
• PSPS - Revenues & Benefits
• Anti-Fraud
• Deputy S151
• Finance Strategy
• Financial Management
• PSPS – Finance
• PSPS - Treasury Management
• Internal and External Audit
• Insurance
• Grants
• Housing Revenue Account
• General Fund
• Precepts
• Budget
• Procurement
• Collection Fund and
• Payroll.

Time to process Council Tax Support and Housing Benefit change events (days)

✅

✅

✅

% of calls answered – Revenues

✅

✅

✅

% of calls answered – Benefits

✅

✅

✅

Measures will follow from SLAs with PSPS for Finance and Revenues & Benefits as and when they are signed off

Page 105

9

S&ELCP – Growth Portfolio – Economic Growth Directorate
Growth

KPI

Quartile

Target

South Holland DC

Boston BC

East Lindsey DC

The Economic Growth
Directorate includes:

Business grants awarded as a % of funding received for each grant scheme

100%

✅

✅

✅

Vital and Viable action plan delivery - % of actions delivered against those due.

100%

✅

✅

✅

•
•
•
•
•
•

Grants4growth delivery

Trend measure

✅

✅

✅

Inward Investment: number of events attended/hosted

Trend measure

✅

✅

✅

Inward Investment: enquiries/leads responded to

Trend measure

✅

✅

✅

Inward Investment: jobs created/new businesses

Trend measure

✅

✅

✅

Inward Investment: external funding achieved

Trend measure

✅

✅

✅

Visitor Economy/Tourism: number of businesses supported

Trend measure

✅

✅

✅

High Street Regeneration: number of businesses supported and improved through
Town Centre Transformation / Healing the High Street / Towns Fund projects

Trend measure

✅

✅

✅

High Street Regeneration: footfall

Trend measure

✅

✅

✅

Page 106

•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Inward Investment
Enterprise Zones
GLLEP
Visitor Economy/Tourism
High Street Regeneration
Business Improvement
District (BID)
Economic Development
Towns Funding
Towns Promotion
Grant Funding
Town Centre Management
Skills and Education and
Education Liaison.

Further measures under development for Inward Investment, Visitor Economy/Tourism and High Street Regeneration for future years

10

S&ELCP – Growth Portfolio – Planning Directorate
Growth
The Planning Directorate
includes:
• Strategic Planning Policy
• Local Plan/s
• Planning Development &
Management
• Planning Enforcement
• Internal Drainage Boards
• Coastal Defences
• Flood Management
• Historic Environment and
• Conservation/Heritage.

KPI

Page 107

Target

South Holland DC

Boston BC

East Lindsey DC

Percentage of major planning applications determined within 13/16 weeks
(or agreed extended period)

65%

✅

✅

✅

Percentage of minor planning applications determined within 8 weeks (or
agreed extended period)

75%

✅

✅

✅

Percentage of other planning applications determined within 8 weeks (or
agreed extended period)

75%

✅

✅

✅

Percentage of all planning decisions that were subject to extensions of
time in period

<30%

✅

✅

✅

Trend measure

✅

✅

✅

Percentage of major planning appeals allowed within the last 2 years
(rolling period) against number of applications determined

10%

✅

✅

✅

Percentage of minor & other planning appeals allowed within the last 2
years (rolling period) against number of applications determined

10%

✅

✅

✅

Percentage of minor & other planning applications validated within 5
working days against total received

90%

✅

✅

✅

Percentage of major planning applications validated within 10 working
days against total received

90%

✅

✅

✅

Percentage of decisions (major / minor / others) taken under delegation
within period

Quartile

11

S&ELCP – Programme Delivery Portfolio – Strategic Projects Directorate
Programme
Delivery
The Strategic Projects
Directorate includes:

KPI

Quartile

Target

South Holland DC

Boston BC

East Lindsey DC

% of key projects completed within 10% of original project timeline

✅

✅

✅

% of key projects completed within 10% of original project costs

✅

✅

✅

• Strategic Property
Development
• Towns Fund Project Delivery
• Project Delivery and
• Capital Programme.

Page 108
12

S&ELCP – Programme Delivery Portfolio – General Fund Assets Directorate
Programme
Delivery
The General Fund Assets
Directorate includes:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

•
•
•

Page 109

•
•
•
•

Business Centres
Commercial Units
Car Parking & Enforcement
Commercial Rents
Asset Management (excl.
Housing)
Property Facilities
Strategic Property
Maintenance
Caretaking
Repairs & Maintenance
Garages
Non-Strategic Property
Projects
Cemeteries & Crematoriums
Caravan Parks/Ops Sales and
Invest East Lindsey.

KPI

Quartile

Target

South Holland DC

Boston BC

East Lindsey DC

Business Centre occupation, Louth - Percentage of total gross internal area
occupied

85%

N/A

N/A

✅

Business Centre occupation, Mablethorpe - Percentage of total gross internal
area occupied

68%

N/A

N/A

✅

Occupancy Rate at end of Quarter: Industrial Units

90%

✅

✅

✅

Occupancy Rate at end of Quarter: Other investment property

95%

✅

✅

✅

Percentage of car parking income received against agreed budget

100%

✅

✅

✅

Percentage of commercial rent received against agreed budget

100%

✅

✅

✅

Percentage of commercial rent collected against that due

93%

✅

✅

✅

✅

✅

✅

Repairs & Maintenance: % committed spend against budget
Percentage of Kingfisher Caravan Park income received against agreed budget

100%

N/A

N/A

✅

Percentage of available pitches occupied on Kingfisher Caravan Park

60%

N/A

N/A

✅

45

N/A

N/A

✅

65%

N/A

N/A

✅

Invest East Lindsey: number of Caravan Sales completed
Invest East Lindsey: Percentage of available holiday lettings taken against
occupancy target

13

S&ELCP – Programme Delivery Portfolio – Growth and Strategic Projects Directorate
Programme
Delivery

KPI
Number of new homes built by the authority

Quartile

Target

South Holland DC

Boston BC

East Lindsey DC

N/A

80

✅

✅

✅

The Growth and Strategic
Projects Directorate includes:
•
•
•
•
•
•

•
•

Page 110

•
•
•
•
•

Housing Delivery
Housing Companies
House Building
Inward Investment
Enterprise Zones
Spalding Western Relief
Road
GLLEP
Economic Development
Towns Promotion
Grant Funding
Strategic Property
Development
Project Delivery and
Capital Programme.

14

Agenda Item 14.

REPORT TO:

Council

DATE:

11 May 2022

SUBJECT:

S&ELCP Workforce Development Strategy

PURPOSE:

To adopt a S&ELCP Workforce Development Strategy

PORTFOLIO HOLDER:

Councillor Jim Astill, Portfolio Holder – Corporate and Communications

REPORT OF:

James Gilbert, Assistant Director - Corporate

REPORT AUTHOR:

James Gilbert, Assistant Director - Corporate

WARD(S) AFFECTED:

N/a

EXEMPT

No

SUMMARY
The Business Case for the South & East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership identifies the opportunity to
align policy and strategy in several areas across the Partnership.
This report brings forward the S&ELCP Workforce Development Strategy – Appendix A.
The S&ELCP Workforce Development Strategy sets out the approach the Partnership Councils will take
between now and 2024 to develop workplace culture, working practices and people.
The Strategy is an adaptation of the existing Workforce Development Strategy already approved by
Boston Borough Council and East Lindsey District Council. South Holland District Council is being asked
to adopt the Strategy, so the Partnership has a single Workforce Development Strategy in place.
This Strategy would replace SHDC’s existing Workforce Strategy.

RECOMMENDATIONS
•

That Council adopts the S&ELCP Workforce Development Strategy at Appendix A to this report.

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS
•

To ensure the Partnership has a single approach to the development of its culture, working
practices and people, to support the delivery of the Partnership’s Business Case ambitions.

Page 111

OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED
•

To continue with the existing SHDC Workforce Strategy – this has been discounted. The S&ELCP
Workforce Development Strategy and SHDC’s existing Workforce Strategy aren’t dissimilar in
their aspirations but a single Strategy across the Partnership will provide a holistic framework for
how the Partnership/Councils develop their culture, working practices and people.

1. BACKGROUND
1.1. When the South & East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership formed it identified an opportunity to
align several areas of Policy and Strategy across the Partnership. An early opportunity has been
identified to align the Workforce Development Strategy for the Partnership Councils.
1.2. The way in which the S&ELCP consistently develops the workplace culture, working practices and
its people is vitally important to the Partnership’s success and, indeed, the success of the individual
sovereign Councils.
1.3. SHDC has an existing Workforce Strategy. This Strategy was adopted in 2020 but would be
superseded by the S&ELCP Workforce Strategy proposed in this report. The existing SHDC Strategy
isn’t dissimilar to the proposed S&ELCP Workforce Development Strategy in its aims and
aspirations.
2. REPORT
2.1. The S&ELCP Workforce Development Strategy proposed in this report provides a holistic
framework for how the Partnership/Councils develop their culture, working practices and people.
2.2. The themes identified in the S&ELCP Workforce Development Strategy are:
a)
b)
c)
d)
e)
f)

Attract and retain talented employees
A flexible approach to service delivery
A healthy and active workforce
Shape our organisational culture and maximise staff engagement
Be efficient and effective in all we do
Celebrate our success and reward excellence

2.3. The Strategy also sets out the values and behaviours for Officers across the Partnership. Values are
important pillars of our organisations. They are recognised as an important element as our values
define how we do things across the Partnership. They reflect the important shared attitudes,
beliefs, and behaviours we value in each other, regardless of role. Values and behaviours are
reinforced at every opportunity through recruitment, training and personal performance
accountability. Values then ultimately generate our behaviour. The values and behaviours are the
qualities that transform our objectives, vision, and purpose into reality.
2.4. To enable the Strategy’s delivery and ensure it is well embedded across the workforces, a
Workforce Development Board will oversee its implementation. The Board forms part of the
Partnership’s operational governance model, as agreed by Council in November 2021.
2.5. The Strategy’s success will be measured via the indicators identified within the document and
these will be reported via the Performance Framework.
2.6. The Strategy has been considered and supported by the Partnership’s Joint Strategy Board.
2.7. The Strategy has also been supported by the Policy Development Panel.

Page 112

EXPECTED BENEFITS TO THE PARTNERSHIP
A single S&ELCP Workforce Development Strategy across the Partnership will create a unified approach to
developing our workforces. An integrated approach across the Partnership will create an environment
where everybody has the opportunity to thrive. A shared approach enables joint working offering
significant opportunity to add resilience, share expertise, and drive efficiency through increased capacity
and delivery potential. Creating our approach at a sub-regional level provides the opportunity to set the
standard for engaged, empowered and visionary workforces positioning our Councils as ‘employers of
choice’.
IMPLICATIONS
SOUTH AND EAST LINCOLNSHIRE COUNCIL’S PARTNERSHIP
As identified in ‘Expected benefits to the Partnership’.
CORPORATE PRIORITIES
A positive workplace culture results in improved teamwork, raises morale, increases productivity and
efficiency, and enhances the retention of the workforces. Research shows a positive workplace culture
encourages creativity and employees who are more invested in the success of the organisation.
The Workforce Development Strategy supports the Corporate Strategies of the S&ELCP Councils by:
•
•
•
•
•
•

Enabling and supporting colleagues across and within the three Councils to deliver aims of the
Corporate Strategies.
Establishing a healthy environment of trust and support across and within the three Councils.
Placing a focus on staff health and resilience.
Improving outcomes by focusing on people and place – customers, residents, elected members,
partners and colleagues.
Delivering both integrated and locally delivered services and matching the right skills to the right
roles.
Embedding an effective, visible and high performing leadership team to support each Councils’
employees and priorities.

STAFFING
The vision of this Strategy is to develop talented workforces that are agile, efficient, empowered and
engaged in the visions of the Council(s) they serve. The successful delivery of this Strategy will ensure our
teams are well placed to deliver on the Council’s priorities.
CONSTITUTIONAL AND LEGAL IMPLICATIONS
Staffing matters are a non-executive function and are therefore a Council decision.
DATA PROTECTION
There are no direct data protection implications arising from the content of the report, but data relating to
staff is protected under data protection laws. The Council has suitable technical and organisational
measures in place to protect such data.
FINANCIAL
On the whole the Strategy will be delivered via the Workforce Development Board within existing resources.
It should be noted that some of the actions (for example, ICT investment) may require funding as they
develop and business cases will be produced on a project by project basis for consideration.

Page 113

RISK MANAGEMENT
The S&ELCP resourcing plan will form a key part of this Strategy which will seek to mitigate against potential
risk of loss of key skilled personnel. A risk register for this Strategy will be developed alongside the
underpinning action plan.
STAKEHOLDER / CONSULTATION / TIMESCALES
Consultation has taken place with the trade unions when the Strategy was previously adopted at Boston
and East Lindsey and unions were supportive. The Strategy has also been considered by Policy
Development Panel at its March 2022 meeting.
REPUTATION
A clearly defined approach to Workforce Development demonstrating a culture that rewards talent and
success, empowers and enables people and an environment that promotes, and provides employee
wellbeing and work-based learning will be key to not only retaining our current workforces but also
attracting our workforces of the future.
CONTRACTS
None
CRIME AND DISORDER
None
EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY/ HUMAN RIGHTS/ SAFEGUARDING
The actions arising from the Strategy will comply with all associated legislation.
HEALTH AND WELL BEING
A targeted Health and Wellbeing Strategy for our workforces is an integral part of the Workforce
Development Strategy action plan recognising that healthier (mentally and physically) workforces provide
greater capacity to deliver services.
CLIMATE CHANGE AND ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS
None
ACRONYMS
S&ELCP – South & East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership
APPENDICES
Appendices are listed below and attached to the back of the report: APPENDIX A

Proposed Workforce Development Strategy

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Background papers used in the production of this report are listed below: Document title

Where the document can be viewed

N/a

Page 114

CHRONOLOGICAL HISTORY OF THIS REPORT
Name of body

Date

Policy Development Panel

23 March 2022

REPORT APPROVAL
Report author:

James Gilbert, Assistant Director - Corporate

Signed off by:

Christine Marshall, Deputy Chief Executive – Corporate
Development

Approved for publication:

Councillor Jim Astill, Portfolio Holder – Corporate and
Communications

Page 115

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 117

A Partnership where everybody has the opportunity to thrive.

South & East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership

CONTENTS

Contents
The Councils’ Role................................................................................................................................. 3
Introduction............................................................................................................................................ 4
The South & East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership ...........................................................................5
Our Values............................................................................................................................................................6
Support and/or connecting work programmes.......................................................................................7
Our Vision............................................................................................................................................... 8

Page 118

1.

Attract and retain talented employees................................................................................. 9

2.

A flexible approach to service delivery.................................................................................11

3.

A healthy and active workforce............................................................................................ 13

4.

Shape our organisation culture and maximise staff engagement................................. 14

5.

Efficient and effective in all we do....................................................................................... 15

6.

Celebrate our success and reward excellence.....................................................................17

Glossary
Agile Working

Agile working is about bringing people, processes, connectivity & technology, time and place together to find the
most appropriate and effective way of working to carry out a particular task. It is working within guidelines (of the
task) but without firm boundaries (of how you achieve it).

Flexible Working

Flexible working describes a type of working arrangement which gives a pre-agreed degree of flexibility on how
long, where, when and at what times employees work.

Matrix Management

Matrix Management is an organisational structure in which some individuals report to more than one manager
(relationships described as solid line or dotted line reporting).

Total Reward System
Work / Life Balance
2

Matrix management is ideal for sharing talents and skills across departments.
A Total Reward System comprises all the investments an organisation makes in its workforce; pay, benefits,
professional development, recognition and work / life balance.
The division of one’s time and focus between working and family/leisure activity. Work-life balance is the idea that
a fulfilling life outside of work helps improve work performance while reducing stress.

THE COUNCILS’ ROLE

The Councils’ Role
The primary role of a Council is to protect and support the community’s people and places
where there is a duty and a need to do so. It achieves this by delivering a wide range of
services that it is legally required to provide (statutory); and services that the Council decides
are important to the community (discretionary) because they directly help vulnerable
residents, contribute to health and wellbeing, or enable an environment to help people
and businesses to contribute to achieving a prosperous and vibrant community.
Page 119

This Strategy supports the Corporate Strategies of Boston Borough Council,
East Lindsey District Council and South Holland District Council by:
 Enabling and supporting colleagues across and within the three Councils to deliver the aims of the Corporate Strategies.
 Establishing a healthy environment of trust and support across and within the three Councils.
 Placing a focus on staff health and resilience.
 Improving outcomes by focusing on people and place – customers, residents, elected members, partners and colleagues.
 Delivering both integrated and locally delivered services and matching the right skills to the right roles.
 Embedding an effective, visible and high performing leadership team to support each Councils’ employees and priorities.

3

INTRODUCTION

Introduction
Welcome to our Workforce Development Strategy
The Workforce Development Strategy is a blueprint to support the workforces of Boston Borough
Council, East Lindsey District Council and South Holland District Council, as they work together as a
partnership (South & East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership) to deliver on the Councils’ priorities.
This Strategy will help deliver the Councils’ Corporate Strategies, which provide our strategic framework.
While each Council will continue to be politically independent and accountable to the communities
they serve, the South & East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership, the largest such partnership of councils
in the country, will enable us to work collectively, supported by a shared management team, to deliver
on our aspirations for our communities and to tackle common challenges.

Page 120

The Workforce Development Strategy aims to provide a guide that builds on and takes forward existing
achievements, developing a cohesive structure for transformational change and future success. The
Strategy will be supported by a joint Delivery Plan that will also reflect local place-based requirements.
The Councils collectively employ some 900 people in a range of roles and working from a range
of locations. Their workforces are split around 50/50 between office-based and non-office-based
colleagues. All have a clear and common purpose – delivering on the Councils’ ambitions for Boston
Borough, East Lindsey and South Holland.
This plan provides the framework for how we will develop our workforces over the coming four years,
setting out a number of priorities and the associated actions to be taken forward.
Our workforces are instrumental in the realisation of our Councils’ Corporate Strategies.
We are committed to nurturing and developing our people and maximising the opportunities for
everyone to contribute to attaining our aspirations.
To achieve our Councils’ ambitions, working as a Partnership we need all colleagues to be adaptive,
flexible and empowered to make positive changes to the way we go about our business.
I’d like to thank all who have contributed to this strategy.
Rob Barlow, Joint Chief Executive
4

Rob Barlow
Joint Chief Executive

Page 121

SOUTH AND EAST LINCOLNSHIRE COUNCILS PARTNERSHIP

Sub Regional Partnership

5

Page 122
6

OUR VALUES

SUPPORTING AND/OR CONNECTING WORK PROGRAMMES

Supporting and/or connecting work programmes
Agile & Flexible Working
Training & Development
Performance Management Process
Recruitment & Induction Process
Member Development

Service Efficiency Reviews
Contracts & Procurement
Commercialisation
Income Review & Charging

Supporting
HR Policies

Page 123

Health &
Wellbeing

Employee
Engagement

Medium Term
Financial Plan

Workforce
Development
Strategy

Reward & Recognition
Internal Communications
Employee Communications
Member Communications

External
Communications

Performance
/ Risk
Management

The Way
We Work

Digital Technology
Information Management

External Engagement
Marketing
Digital
Media

7

OUR VISION

Our Vision
Governance
Vision
Talented workforces that are agile, efficient, empowered and engaged in the
visions of the three Councils they serve.

Purpose

Page 124

The purpose of our Workforce Development Strategy is to support our
workforces and deliver continuing structural and cultural change, with a
clear ambition to ensure our teams are well placed to deliver on the Councils’
priorities.

What do we want to achieve?
 Motivated and empowered workforce.
 A flexible and sustainable workforce.
 Workforce that is efficient, effective and equipped to deliver the
Councils ambitions.
 Greater efficiency through collaboration.
Ultimately, our success will depend on a culture that rewards talent and
success, empowers and enables people, and an environment that promotes
and provides employee wellbeing, and work-based learning that gives
people the skills they need and the confidence to take decisions where it is
necessary and appropriate to do so.

8

This Strategy’s delivery will be overseen by the Deputy Chief Executive
(Corporate Development) and Assistant Director (Corporate) supported by
the formation of a Workforce Development Board. The Board’s role will be
to drive the Strategy’s implementation and provide a check/balance on core
actions of the Delivery Plan as they are taken forward, including insight from
across the Partnership. The Partnership’s employee reference group will be
a key link for the Board into the workforces and will be invited to have a
representative on the Board.
External partners may be invited to attend Board meetings where they have
knowledge or experience on a particular issue for consideration.

Strategic Priorities
We are committed to working with our workforces and the three Councils’
elected members in developing a culture that embraces change and seeks
continuous improvement.
A number of strategic themes underpin the Workforce Development
Strategy, which are listed below and detailed further on the subsequent
pages:

Attract and
retain talented
employees

A flexible approach
to service delivery

A healthy and
active workforce

Shape our
organisational
culture and
maximise staff
engagement

Be efficient
and effective
in all we do

Celebrate our
success and
reward excellence

1. ATTRACT AND RETAIN TALENTED EMPLOYEES

1. Attract and retain talented
employees
Why is this a priority?
The Councils have ambitious Corporate Strategies and delivery plans that
require skilled officers.
Given our geographic locations, recruitment can be a challenge. Whilst we
have a relatively low turnover of staff, we do struggle to recruit in some
areas, particularly the roles considered more specialist.

Page 125

In order to attract and retain employees we need to ensure we offer
progressive development opportunities, which enable them to move forward
in their careers.
We passionately believe colleagues should be given the opportunity to grow
as individuals to reach their full potential.
Investing in the development of our workforces has the following benefits
Investing in the development of our workforce has the following benefits:
1. It ensures our workforce is equipped to do their job.
2. It ensures our workforce has opportunities to develop as individuals.
3. It supports retention.
4. It makes us attractive employers.
5. It enables succession planning and provides leadership opportunities.
9

 Provide mentoring opportunities through shadowing and vocational
learning and development.

What are we going to do?

 Raise the profile of the benefits of working for the Councils through
recruitment advertising; and ensure recruitment advertising is
effectively targeted.

 Develop a Resourcing Strategy, including Apprenticeships and
Graduate programmes, to attract the best talent, and enhance the
employers’ reputations and brand to make the Councils attractive
employers.
 Provide a robust annual training plan to support the development of
the workforce.

Page 126

1. ATTRACT AND RETAIN TALENTED EMPLOYEES

We have many colleagues, at a range of levels, who, with the right training
and development opportunities, have progressed positively in their chosen
area of work.

 Provide opportunities to draw people across services to work on
corporate-wide projects based on skills not just posts.

What will success look like?

 Maximise the use of the Apprenticeship Levy and ensure Apprentices
have the opportunity to secure wider experiences than the role they
have been recruited to.

 Colleagues telling us they feel valued and fulfilled in their role.

 Maximise the use of internal and external secondment opportunities
to enhance the skills of our workforce.

 We will have identified succession plans and career pathways for
professional roles.

 Provide a range of networking and learning opportunities for
colleagues to share knowledge and experiences across service areas
and with partner organisations.

 We are recognised as employers of choice

 Develop performance management processes which empower
individuals to identify, access and develop their potential.
 Launch a development framework identifying the skills and behaviours
we require of individuals operating at the different levels to support in
career progression.

10

 Ensure all service areas have clear succession planning arrangements.

 Colleagues who achieve career advancement.

 An increased number of our Apprentices successfully securing
permanent positions.
 Increased applications for the Future Leaders Programme
 High performing teams who have built trust, aligned skills, enhanced
collaboration and brought together diverse talents to achieve a shared
goal.

2. A FLEXIBLE APPROACH TO SERVICE DELIVERY

2. A flexible approach to
service delivery
Why is this a priority?
We recognise that Local Government has been slower than some sectors to
fully embrace flexible and agile working. This has however been expedited
for us by the Coronavirus pandemic.

Page 127

Technological investments are providing new opportunities for our teams to
provide services in a more agile and flexible way. We want services to have
greater choice and freedom in how and where they work to fulfil their duties
in order to undertake the work in the most efficient way. We recognise that
work is one element of our busy lives and that we all need to find the right
work / life balance – technology can help us achieve this.
We want our teams to have access to the technology they need to do their
job in the most efficient and effective way.

What are we going to do?
 Deploy technology that enables our teams to work in a more agile and
flexible way.
 Ensure there is a robust training package to support the use of new
technology, so we maximise its benefits.
 We will equip our Managers with the skills they need to effectively
manage in line with our change in working practices.

11

 Encourage colleagues to consider how they can work in an effective,
agile and flexible way in fulfilling their duties.
 Promote cultural change in the way we work and deliver services

What will success look like?
 Increased capacity to deliver services to customers – measured
through the performance and productivity framework.

Page 128

2. A FLEXIBLE APPROACH TO SERVICE DELIVERY

 Use technology as a mechanism to communicate with colleagues,
elected members and partners and increase efficiency through
reduced travel.

 Colleagues having a healthy work / life balance – measured through
the staff survey and HR data (such as sickness reporting).
 We are recognised as being advanced and forward-looking.

12

3. A HEALTHY AND ACTIVE WORKFORCE

3. A healthy and active workforce
Why is this a priority?
Healthier employees are absent less often and are more motivated to stay in
work. Healthy employees also recover from sickness quicker and are at less
risk of long-term illness.
We have placed a focus on raising the profile of ‘health’ amongst colleagues
for some time, but this priority will provide a greater, more co-ordinated,
focus on that ambition.

Page 129

What are we going to do?

 Secure Disability Confidence Level 3 accreditation which demonstrates
that we are acting as a champion for Disability Confident within our
workforces and our local and business communities.
 Accreditation of a Workplace Wellbeing Charter including Time to
Change and the Mindful Employer Charter.

What will success look like?

 Develop a targeted Health and Wellbeing Strategy for our workforces.

 Reduced long-term and short-term sickness.

 Ensure the mental health and physical health of our colleagues are
valued equally.

 Greater capacity to deliver services.

 Proactively promote staff health, wellbeing and safety ensuring
appropriate mechanisms and provisions are in place to support
colleagues and maximise attendance at work.
•

 Recognise that colleagues have differing cultural and ethical needs
external to work and this should be supported in the workplace.

 Healthier workforce.
 Improved employee resilience and ability to cope with change.

A business case approach to the introduction of early intervention
options through our Occupational Health services.

13

Why is this a priority?
There is a strong correlation between the extent to which people perceive
a connection with their employer and its culture and high performance.
This kind of engagement is positively influenced by factors such as effective
leadership, empowerment, shared values, a supportive infrastructure and
work / life balance.
Our workforces are made up of both office based and non-office based
staff, and our internal communications processes need to take account
of this. Effective internal communication and engagement helps ensure
that all members of the workforces and elected members are working
collaboratively towards a common goal. It develops a cohesive culture and
empowers employees to make the right decisions in line with our goals.

Page 130

4. SHAPE OUR ORGANISATION CULTURE AND MAXIMISE STAFF ENGAGEMENT

4. Shape our culture and
maximise staff engagement

What are we going to do?
 Review internal communication channels to ensure there are clear
channels for the dissemination of information to colleagues in a timely
manner.
 Clearly articulate and promote behaviours among all colleagues that
are compatible with the aims and values of the Councils.
 Adopt progressive employment practices, developing accessible and
simple to use HR policy frameworks.

14

 Develop a culture that encourages colleagues to think
innovatively, generate ideas and undertake continuous
improvement to our services and processes
 Maximise the use of technology, where appropriate to do so, to
conduct employee briefings on major issues as a mechanism for
communication and consider other methods of improving the
visibility of leadership.

Page 131

 Further embed Officer/Member protocols to ensure shared
involvement, understanding and commitment to the delivery of
the Corporate Strategies.

Why is this a priority?
The Councils’ workforces are significantly smaller than they once were.
Teams are doing more with less – being more innovative and creative in the
way they deliver services.
The people closest to the processes and procedures within our services are
the people best placed to improve them.

 Colleagues understanding how they contribute to the Councils’
objectives, regardless of role.

We want to ensure our teams feel empowered to identify and implement
positive changes to working practices, with the support they need to become
even more efficient which releases capacity. We want our teams to seek new
opportunities to improve performance and service delivery to our customers.
This includes challenging traditional service boundaries and structures to
deliver joined up services that are useful and relevant to our communities
and working more closely with our partner agencies.

 Consistent levels of improvement of ‘informed’ and ‘valued’
ratings for all colleagues.

What are we going to do?

What will success look like?

5. BE EFFICIENT AND EFFECTIVE IN ALL WE DO

 Further develop positive and constructive employee relations with
Trade Unions.Trade Unions.

5. Be efficient and effective
in all we do

 Empower our teams through positive leadership to bring forward
improvements to processes and procedures, with a view to improving
efficiency and the customer experience.
 Invest in technology where a business case demonstrates improved
performance and efficiency.
 Continue to develop our online systems (internal and external) to
provide services in the most efficient way. This includes pushing
more information and services online for customer self-serve where
appropriate.
15

 Monitor performance through an effective Performance Framework.
 Embed a Matrix Management approach to move beyond structure and
enable a flexible approach to structuring teams and sharing resources..
 Undertake a programme of service reviews to improve service delivery.

What will success look like?
 Increased functionality of intelligent automation of our services.

Page 132

5. BE EFFICIENT AND EFFECTIVE IN ALL WE DO

 Develop solid relationships with other organisations where there is
clear benefit for both parties.

 Increased and sustained improvement through our key performance
indicators.
 Streamlined processes and procedures which have reduced duplication
of work and deliver services that are comprehensive, coherent and
cost effective.
 A workforce that champions and embraces technology.

16

6. CELEBRATE OUR SUCCESS AND REWARD EXCELLENCE

6. Celebrate our success and reward excellence
Why is this a priority?

What will success look like?
 Staff feeling their contribution towards service delivery and its success
is recognised and valued.

We need to be better at celebrating our successes!

 Staff empowered to create a culture of accountability and
responsibility in delivering success.

What are we going to do?

 Staff perceive base pay to be fair and equitable.

Page 133

Traditionally, Local Government has never been great at celebrating the
essential and vitally important work it does for communities. We firmly
believe we should all be very proud of what we do and the contribution that
we make to improve society and support our residents.

 Continue to develop the Employee Recognition Awards as a
programme that celebrates achievement, including the launch
of an Annual Awards event to celebrate the success of teams and
individuals.

 Staff understanding that opportunities for career progression exists.

 Staff recognise the full value of the totality of their employment
package.

 Promote to residents, businesses, Councillors and partners our
successes through our communications channels.
 Where we have a strong story to tell seek regional and national profile
through Awards and publications.
 Ensure we have a robust scheme to measure jobs and provide a fair
and equitable pay scheme.
 Implementation of Total Reward System* as a long-term approach to
employee recognition and reward.

* A total rewards system comprises all the investments an organisation makes in its workforce;
pay, benefits, professional development, recognition and work / life balance.
17

Page 134
South & East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership

18

Agenda Item 15.

REPORT TO:

South Holland District Council

DATE:

Wednesday, 11 May 2022

SUBJECT:

Community Governance Reviews

PURPOSE:

To consider a request for Community Governance Reviews (CGR)
for the Parish of Cowbit to increase the number of Councillors from
five to seven and for Holbeach to decrease the number of
Councillors from eighteen to sixteen.

KEY DECISION:

N

PORTFOLIO HOLDER:

Portfolio Holder for Corporate & Communications

REPORT OF:

Assistant Director - Governance (Monitoring Officer)

REPORT AUTHOR:

Rhonda Booth, Deborah Wright, Electoral Services Lead Officer

WARD(S) AFFECTED:

Holbeach Hurn; Holbeach Town; Moulton, Weston and Cowbit;
Whaplode and Holbeach St Johns;

EXEMPT REPORT?

N

SUMMARY
Under Section 79 to 102 of the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007
(LGPIH) approval be given to carry out reviews for the Parish of Cowbit to increase the number
of Councillors from five to seven and the Parish of Holbeach to reduce the number of
Councillors from eighteen to sixteen.

RECOMMENDATIONS
1. Cowbit Parish Council – To approve to undertake a Community Governance Review for
the Parish of Cowbit;
2. Holbeach Parish Council - To approve to undertake a Community Governance Review for
the Parish of Holbeach;
3. That delegated powers are given to the Monitoring Officer to carry out the Reviews;
4. To agree the timetable for the Reviews as attached at Appendix A.
5. That the Monitoring Officer reports the findings of the Reviews to Council for final
decision;

Page 135

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS
The objective of undertaking a community governance review is to ensure that local governance
will continue to be effective and convenient and will reflect the identities and interests of local
communities.

OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED
Option 1 – To not approve the Community Governance Review for Cowbit Parish and Holbeach
Parish.

1.

BACKGROUND

1.1

The Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 (LGPIH) devolved the
power to take decisions relating to the creation and abolition of parishes, the boundaries of
parishes and the electoral arrangements of parish councils from the Secretary of State and
the Electoral Commission to principal councils.

1.2

A Community Governance Review (CGR) is a legal process whereby Councils can create
parish councils, review and change parish boundaries and in extreme cases, abolish
parishes. The Council must ensure that the community governance in the area under review
reflects the identities and interests of the community in that area, and is effective and
convenient. It is important that recommendations made through a CGR should bring about
improved community engagement, more cohesive communities, better local democracy
and result in more effective and convenient delivery of local services.
The minimum legal number of parish councillors for each council is five. There is no
maximum number and no other legislative guidance with regard to the ideal number of
parish councillors.
The National Association of Local Councils (NALC) published guidance in 1988 on the
suggested number of parish councillors to be allocated depending on the size of the
population being represented.
Electors
Up to 900
1400
2000
2700
3500
4400
5400
6500
7700
9000

Councillors
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16

Electors
10400
11900
13500
15200
17000
18900
20900
23000
Over 23000

Page 136

Councillors
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

2.0

REPORT
Cowbit Parish Council
The Parish of Cowbit currently has an electorate of 1175. At a recent parish council
meeting, Cowbit Parish Council voted in favour of requesting South Holland District Council
to conduct a Community Governance Review, with a view to increasing their council size
from five to seven. This is to ensure a fair representation within the Parish given the
increased electorate in recent years.

2.1

Holbeach Parish Council
At recent parish council meetings Holbeach Parish Council voted in favour of requesting
South Holland District Council to conduct a Community Governance Review with a view to
reducing their council size from eighteen to sixteen members by removing two seats, one
from Hurn ward and one from Town ward. The reason for their request is due to the fact
that they have not had a full complement of councillors for a number of years. Holbeach
Parish Council has 18 seats.

2.2

The total electorate of Holbeach Parish Council is currently 8309. The electorate of the
wards within the Parish area are set out below:
Parish Ward
Holbeach Hurn
Holbeach Town
Holbeach St Johns
Holbeach Drove

Electorate
1802
6232
419
256

Current number of seats
4
12
1
1

3.

CONCLUSION

3.1

That the Council considers Community Governance reviews to be carried out for the
Parishes of Cowbit and Holbeach.

4.

EXPECTED BENEFITS TO THE PARTNERSHIP

4.1

None.

5.

IMPLICATIONS

5.1

SOUTH AND EAST LINCOLNSHIRE COUNCIL’S PARTNERSHIP

5.1.1 None
5.2

CORPORATE PRIORITIES

5.2.1 None
5.3

STAFFING

5.3.1 Additional work will be undertaken by the Electoral team.
5.4

CONSTITUTIONAL AND LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

5.4.1 The reviews to be conducted having regard to the Local Government and Public
Involvement in Health Act 2007 and the Council’s Constitution.

Page 137

5.5

DATA PROTECTION

5.5.1 None
5.6

FINANCIAL

5.6.1 The reviews will have financial implications which have not been budgeted for in relation to
advertising, printing and postage costs in undertaking the consultation – these costs will
have to be found from existing budgets.
5.7

RISK MANAGEMENT

5.7.1 None
5.8

STAKEHOLDER / CONSULTATION / TIMESCALES

5.8.1 Consultation will take place with the Member of Parliament for South Holland and the
Deepings, Parish Councillors, local electors, the local members for Holbeach Town ward,
Holbeach Hurn ward, Whaplode and Holbeach St Johns ward, Moulton, Weston and Cowbit
ward, Lincolnshire County Council and other interested parties. The timescale for a
community governance review is governed by Statute. The reviews must be completed
within 12 months from the date of issue of the Terms of Reference.
5.9

REPUTATION

5.9.1 None
5.10

CONTRACTS

5.10.1 None specific
5.11

CRIME AND DISORDER

5.11.1 None
5.12

EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY/ HUMAN RIGHTS/ SAFEGUARDING

5.12.1 The reviews will be carried out with due consideration to equality and diversity needs of
those involved.
5.13

HEALTH AND WELL BEING

5.13.1 None
5.14

CLIMATE CHANGE AND ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS

5.14.1 None
6.

ACRONYMS

6.1

CGR – Community Governance Review
LGPIH – Local Government & Public Involvement in Health 2007
NALC – National Association of Local Councils

APPENDICES
Appendices are listed below and attached to the back of the report: -

Page 138

APPENDIX A

Timetable for Review

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Background papers used in the production of this report are listed below: Document title

Where the document can be viewed

The LGPIH

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/communitygovernance-reviews-guidance

CHRONOLOGICAL HISTORY OF THIS REPORT
A report on this item has not been previously considered by a Council

REPORT APPROVAL
Report author:

Rhonda Booth, Deborah Wright
rbooth@sholland.gov.uk, dwright@sholland.gov.uk

Signed off by:

Assistant Director - Governance (Monitoring
Officer)

Approved for publication:

Portfolio Holder for Corporate & Communications

Page 139

This page is intentionally left blank

APPENDIX A

Community Governance Review
Holbeach and Cowbit PC Electoral Arrangements – Proposed Timetable

Action

Date/By when

Receipt of request for Community Governance Review

01 March 2022

Terms of Reference prepared and presented to Council

11 May 2022

Initial Consultation Period

23 May 2022 – 27 June 2022

Consideration of submissions received

28 June 2022 – 18 July 2022

Prepare draft proposals and recommendations

19 July 2022 to 2 September 2022

Publish draft recommendations – second consultation

5 September 2022 to 8 October 2022

Consideration of submissions and prepare
recommendations

8 October 2022 to 7 November2022

Publish Final Recommendations to conclude review

8 November 2022 – 31 December
2022

Report to Council

18 January 2023

Page 141

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 16.

REPORT TO:

South Holland District Council

DATE:

11 May 2022

SUBJECT:

Interim Appointment of Monitoring Officer

PURPOSE:

To consider the interim designation of an officer as Monitoring
Officer to take effect from 17 May 2022 until 24 May 2023.

KEY DECISION:

N/A

REPORT OF:

Robert Barlow – Head of Paid Service

REPORT AUTHOR:

Robert Barlow – Head of Paid Service

WARD(S) AFFECTED:

None

EXEMPT REPORT?

No

SUMMARY
For reasons that are set out later in this report the current Monitoring Officer, Mark Stinson, will
be standing down from this role on 16 May 2022 and will also be leaving his role as Joint
Assistant Director – Governance at the end of May.
The Council has a statutory obligation to identify one of its officers as the Monitoring Officer,
and this report therefore ensures that this is done (initially on an interim basis). In due course,
the Council will be asked to identify or appoint an officer as Monitoring Officer on a permanent
basis.

RECOMMENDATIONS
1. That, subject to similar decisions to be taken by the other two Councils, John Medler
becomes the Interim Joint Monitoring Officer of South Holland District Council, East
Lindsey District Council and Boston Borough Council from 17 May 2022 until 24 May
2023 as a shared officer in accordance with s113 of the Local Government Act 1972 and
subject to the terms of the Memorandum of Agreement between the three Councils.

Page 143

2. That the s151 Officer be authorised to vary the budget for legal fees, should this be
necessary, in order to reflect the likely need for additional legal support to the Interim
Monitoring Officer.
3. That, for the present time, Lincolnshire County Council Legal Services be identified as
Solicitor to the Council.

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS
Designation of a Monitoring Officer is a statutory requirement under s5 Local Government and
Housing Act 1989.

OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED
None – because designation of one of the Council’s officers as the Monitoring Officer is a
statutory requirement

1. BACKGROUND
1.1

In accordance with section 5 of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989, the Council is
required to identify one of its officers as the Monitoring Officer. In advance of the
establishment of the South and East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership, the three councils
appointed their joint statutory officers (being the Head of Paid Service, Monitoring Officer
and s151 Officer) in August 2021. Mark Stinson was appointed as Joint Monitoring Officer.

1.2

Members will be aware of the very difficult personal circumstances that Mark has
experienced since October 2021. After trying to continue to work, whilst managing these
difficult circumstances, Mark has decided that he needs to focus on his family. As such,
Mark will be leaving at the end of May 2022.

2. REPORT
2.1

Given that there is a statutory requirement at all times to have an officer designated as
Monitoring Officer, it is necessary to make such designation prior to the departure of the
current Monitoring Officer.

2.2

In consultation with Mark, it has been agreed that he will continue in his role as Monitoring
Officer until each of the Annual Meetings of the Partnership councils have concluded. The
last of these is the Annual Meeting of Boston Borough Council on 16 May 2022. Each
Council must therefore designate an officer as Monitoring Officer at their Annual Meeting,
with the appointment to commence on 17 May

2.3

There will, in due course, need to be a formal recruitment process to fill the substantive
post of Assistant Director – Governance. In the meantime, however, and in my capacity as
Page
144 to this substantive position on an
Head of Paid Service, I have appointed
John Medler

interim basis. Prior to making this appointment, expressions of interest were invited from
service managers of each of the three Partnership councils.
2.4

John is a very capable and well-respected Service Manager who leads the Democratic
Services Teams across East Lindsey and Boston Councils. He has extensive experience in
many of the areas falling within the remit of the Assistant Director post, and he has good
knowledge of the constitution. John has also previously held an Interim Assistant Director
post.

2.5

In view of the above, it is proposed that John Medler is designated as the Joint Monitoring
Officer for this Council and the other two councils in the Partnership. The designation will
be for an interim period, expiring in May 2023. A permanent appointment and permanent
designation of Monitoring Officer will be made by members by that time.

2.6

Whilst John is very capable, he is not a qualified lawyer. Being a lawyer is not a pre-requisite
for a Monitoring Officer, and a great many Monitoring Officers are not lawyers. It is,
however, important that a Monitoring Officer who is not legally qualified has sufficient
access to legal advice in support of his/her role. It is likely, therefore, that some additional
budgetary provision will be required for this particular area of legal support.

2.7

As the Constitution includes reference to a Solicitor to the Council, it is also recommended
that for the time being Lincolnshire County Council’s Legal Service be identified as the
Solicitor to the Council.

3. CONCLUSION
3.1

With the departure of the current Monitoring Officer, it is a statutory requirement that a
new designation is made. As Head of Paid Service it is my view that John Medler should be
so designated on an interim basis until a permanent recruitment to the substantive post of
Assistant Director – Governance is completed.

EXPECTED BENEFITS TO THE PARTNERSHIP
As one of the three statutory posts of Head of Paid Service, Monitoring Officer and s151 Officer,
the post is critical to good governance and the success of the Partnership.
IMPLICATIONS
SOUTH AND EAST LINCOLNSHIRE COUNCILS PARTNERSHIP
Designation of the Monitoring Officer is a legal requirement for all three Councils. In accordance
with the Memorandum of Agreement, this position is shared across the Partnership.
CORPORATE PRIORITIES
As a position that is responsible for good governance of the Council, it underpins all corporate
priorities.

Page 145

STAFFING
Staffing implications are set out within the body of the report

CONSTITUTIONAL AND LEGAL IMPLICATIONS
Designation of the Monitoring Officer is a statutory requirement under s5 Local Government and
Housing Act 1989 and is a decision reserved to Council. Permanent recruitment to the substantive
position (of Assistant Director – Governance) is a member decision via the Chief Officer
Employment Panel and Council. The arrangements for sharing the position are governed by s113
Local Government Act 1972 and by the Memorandum of Agreement between the three
Partnership Councils.

DATA PROTECTION
None

FINANCIAL
In accordance the Memorandum of Agreement, remuneration and associated costs will be shared
in the following proportions: East Lindsey District Council 46%, Boston Borough Council 23% and
South Holland District Council 31%.
There is also likely to be a need for additional budgetary provision for legal support to the
Monitoring Officer. These costs will be shared in the same proportions unless the advice/support is
required for a matter that is specific to one of the councils.
RISK MANAGEMENT
The Assistant Director – Governance is responsible for risk management across the Partnership
councils.
STAKEHOLDER / CONSULTATION / TIMESCALES
None
REPUTATION
Failure to comply with a statutory obligation is a reputational as well as a legal risk.
CONTRACTS
There will be a need to vary an existing contract of employment. Sharing of the post is subject to
the Memorandum of Agreement between the councils.
CRIME AND DISORDER
None.
EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY/ HUMAN RIGHTS/ SAFEGUARDING
None.

Page 146

HEALTH AND WELL BEING
None.
CLIMATE CHANGE AND ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS
None.
LINKS TO 12 MISSIONS IN THE LEVELLING UP WHITE PAPER
None.
ACRONYMS
None.
APPENDICES
None

BACKGROUND PAPERS
None

CHRONOLOGICAL HISTORY OF THIS REPORT
A report on this item has not been previously considered by a Council body.

REPORT APPROVAL
Report author:

Robert Barlow, Head of Paid Service

Signed off by:

Robert Barlow, Head of Paid Service

Approved for publication:

N/A

Page 147

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 17.

REPORT TO:

South Holland District Council

DATE:

Wednesday, 11 May 2022

SUBJECT:

Reappointment of Independent Person

PURPOSE:

To seek approval for the re-appointment of the Independent
Person

KEY DECISION:

N

PORTFOLIO HOLDER:

Portfolio Holder for Corporate & Communications

REPORT OF:

Mark Stinson, Assistant Director – Governance (Monitoring Officer)

REPORT AUTHOR:

Rhonda Booth, Democratic Services Manager
Forrest White, Democratic Services Assistant

WARD(S) AFFECTED:

All Wards

EXEMPT REPORT?

N

SUMMARY
Under Section 28(7) of the Localism Act 2011, the Council is required to appoint an Independent
Person to seek their views before making a decision on an allegation which it has decided to
investigate.

RECOMMENDATIONS
That the current Independent Person, Mike Sofianos, is reappointed for the period 12 th May
2022 until the annual Council meeting in May 2024.

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS
It is recommended that Mr Sofianos is re-appointed until the annual Council meeting in May
2024 in order to comply with the Localism Act 2011.

Page 149

OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED
•
•

Not to reappoint Mr Sofianos and to start a recruitment process for the position of
Independent Person.
The option of ‘do nothing’ does not apply in this instance as the position of Independent
Person is a statutory position which the Council is required to have.

1. BACKGROUND
1.1

The Localism Act 2011 places a duty on South Holland District Council and each of the 22
Parish Councils within the district to promote and maintain high standards of conduct for
elected and co-opted members. This includes the requirement to have a Code of Conduct
with which members must comply.

1.2

The Act also requires that the Council adopts arrangements for dealing with complaints on
breaches of the Code of Conduct both by South Holland District Council members and by
Parish Council members within the district. This must include provision for the appointment
of at least one Independent Person.

2. REPORT
2.1

The Localism Act 2011 states that the Independent Person will have the following functions:
o They must be consulted by the Council before it makes a finding as to whether a
member has failed to comply with the Code of Conduct following investigation or
decides on action to be taken in respect of that member;
o They may be consulted by the Council in respect of a standards complaint at any other
stage; and
o They may be consulted by a member or co-opted member of South Holland District
Council or of a Parish Council against whom a complaint has been made.

2.2

Following a recruitment process, Mr Mike Sofianos was appointed as Independent Person
at the full Council meeting held on 23 September 2020. His current appointment is set to
expire at annual council on 11 May 2022.

2.2.1 The House of Lords Committee on Standards in Public Life recommended that
appointments should be a maximum of two years and up to one reappointment.
3. CONCLUSION
3.1

It is recommended that the Council reappoint Mr Sofianos as South Holland District
Council’s Independent Person until the Annual Council meeting in May 2024 in order to
comply with the Localism Act 2011. A full recruitment process will be undertaken to
appoint a new Independent Person in 2024.

4. EXPECTED BENEFITS TO THE PARTNERSHIP
4.1

None

5. IMPLICATIONS
5.1

Page PARTNERSHIP
150
SOUTH AND EAST LINCOLNSHIRE COUNCILS

5.1.1 None
5.2

CORPORATE PRIORITIES

5.2.1 None
5.3

STAFFING

5.3.1 None
5.4

CONSTITUTIONAL AND LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

5.4.1 To comply with Section 28(7) of the Localism Act 2011 that the Council has in place an
Independent Person. Appointment of the Independent Person is a non-executive function
and falls to Full Council to determine.
5.5

DATA PROTECTION

5.5.1 None
5.6

FINANCIAL

5.6.1 An allowance is paid to the Independent Person for any work undertaken. The current
allowance is £1,300 per annum
5.7

RISK MANAGEMENT

5.7.1 None
5.8

STAKEHOLDER / CONSULTATION / TIMESCALES

5.8.1 None
5.9

REPUTATION

5.9.1 None
5.10

CONTRACTS

5.10.1 None
5.11

CRIME AND DISORDER

5.11.1 None
5.12

EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY/ HUMAN RIGHTS/ SAFEGUARDING

5.12.1 Appointment of the current Independent Person took place following an open recruitment
process and any future recruitment process will be open to anyone who meets the
statutory criteria.
5.13

HEALTH AND WELL BEING

5.13.1 None
5.14

CLIMATE CHANGE AND ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS

5.14.1 None
5.15
None

LINKS TO 12 MISSIONS IN THE LEVELLING UP WHITE PAPER

Page 151

6. ACRONYMS
6.1 None
APPENDICES
None

BACKGROUND PAPERS
No background papers as defined in Section 100D of the Local Government Act 1972 were used
in the production of this report.

CHRONOLOGICAL HISTORY OF THIS REPORT
A report on this item has not been previously considered by a Council body.

REPORT APPROVAL
Report author:

Rhonda Booth RBooth@sholland.gov.uk
Forrest White FWhite@sholland.gov.uk

Signed off by:

Mark Stinson, Assistant Director - Governance
(Monitoring Officer)
Mark.Stinson@sholland.gov.uk

Approved for publication:

Councillor Astill, Portfolio Holder for Corporate &
Communications

Page 152

Agenda Item 18.

REPORT TO:

Full Council

DATE:

11 May 2022

SUBJECT:

Licensing Panel, and Panel of the Committee of the Licensing
Authority

PURPOSE:

To consider varying the Constitution to allow the appointment of a
substitute member for each Panel meeting

KEY DECISION:

N/A

PORTFOLIO HOLDER:

Councillor A Casson ‐ Public Protection

REPORT OF:

Donna Hall – Head of Public Protection and Deputy Monitoring
Officer

REPORT AUTHOR:

Jacqui Berridge ‐ Lawyer

WARD(S) AFFECTED:

None

EXEMPT REPORT?

No

SUMMARY
This report proposes varying the Constitution to allow for the appointment of a substitute
member for each meeting of the Licensing Panel, and the Panel of the Committee of the
Licensing Authority, to avoid meetings having to be deferred where a member is unable to
attend.

RECOMMENDATION
That the Constitution be varied, as shown in Appendix A, to allow a substitute member to be
appointed for each meeting of the Licensing Panel, and the Panel of the Committee of the
Licensing Authority.

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS
The Constitution currently does not permit the appointment of substitutes for the Licensing
Panel, and the Panel of the Committee of the Licensing Authority. This means that on occasions
meetings may have to be deferred if any Panel member is unable to attend. Substitutes are not
prevented by law provided the substitute is a member of the parent committee and is fully

Page 153

trained. It is therefore recommended that the Constitution be amended to permit substitutions
in accordance with the details shown in Appendix A.

OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED
•

•

Amend the Constitution as shown in Appendix A to allow appointment of a substitute
member for each meeting of the Licensing Panel, and the Panel of the Committee of the
Licensing Authority. This is the recommended option.
Do nothing. This is not recommended as it means that a meeting may have to be
deferred if any Panel member is not able to attend.

1.

BACKGROUND

1.1

Members will be aware that the Committee of the Licensing Authority deals with licensing
functions under the Licensing Act 2003 and the Gambling Act 2005. The Licensing
Committee deals with all other licensing functions.

1.2

The Committee of the Licensing Authority has a sub‐committee called the Panel of the
Committee of the Licensing Authority which, in accordance with section 9 of the Licensing
Act 2003, comprises 3 members of the Committee. For a Panel meeting to be quorate, all 3
members of the Panel must be in attendance, but this can be a problem where a member is
unable to attend a meeting at the last minute.

1.3

The Licensing Committee has a sub‐committee called the Licensing Panel which again
comprises 3 members of the Committee. Again, for a Panel meeting to be quorate all 3
members of the Panel must be in attendance.

1.4

To avoid any meeting of either Panel having to be deferred it is recommended that the
Constitution be amended to allow a substitute member to be appointed for each Panel
meeting. Only members of the parent committee, being the Committee of the Licensing
Authority or the Licensing Committee as appropriate, may be appointed as a substitute, and
members may only act as substitutes where they have attended licensing training.

1.5

On most occasions all three members of the Panel will be able to attend the meeting and
the substitute will not be required.

1.6

There is also some extraneous wording in paragraph 1.7 (substitutions) of Part 3 Section
D of the Constitution which is rectified at Appendix A.

3.

CONCLUSION

3.1

Varying the Constitution to allow for substitutes to be appointed for each Licensing Panel,
and each Panel of the Committee of the Licensing Authority, will mitigate against Panel
meetings having to be deferred if a member is unable to attend.

4.

EXPECTED BENEFITS TO THE PARTNERSHIP

4.1

The proposed variation will ensure that all meetings of the Licensing Panel, and all meetings
of the Committee of the Licensing Authority, are held in a timely fashion.

Page 154
5.

IMPLICATIONS

5.1
SOUTH AND EAST LINCOLNSHIRE COUNCIL’S PARTNERSHIP
5.1.1 None.
5.2

CORPORATE PRIORITIES

5.2.1 None.
5.3

STAFFING

5.3.1 None.
5.4

CONSTITUTIONAL AND LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

5.4.1 Under Article 14 of the Constitution any changes to the Constitution, unless minor, required
to be made to remove any inconsistency or ambiguity, or required to be made so as to put
into effect any decision of the Council, Committees or the Cabinet, must be made by full
Council.
5.4.2 There is nothing to prevent substitutes being appointed to the Licensing Panel, and the
Panel of the Committee of the Licensing Authority, provided the substitute is a member of
the parent Committee and has the appropriate licensing training.
5.5

DATA PROTECTION

5.5.1 None.
5.6

FINANCIAL

5.6.1 None.
5.7

RISK MANAGEMENT

5.7.1 Having a named substitute for each meeting of the Panels will reduce the risk of having to
defer a Panel meeting if any member cannot attend.
5.8

STAKEHOLDER / CONSULTATION / TIMESCALES

5.8.1 No consultation undertaken.
5.9

REPUTATION

5.9.1 The Council needs to ensure that all Panel meetings are quorate and held in a timely
fashion.
5.10

CONTRACTS

5.10.1 None.
5.11

CRIME AND DISORDER

5.11.1 None.
5.12

EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY/ HUMAN RIGHTS/ SAFEGUARDING

5.12.1 None.
5.13

HEALTH AND WELL BEING

5.13.1 None.
5.14

PageIMPLICATIONS
155
CLIMATE CHANGE AND ENVIRONMENTAL

5.14.1 None.
6.

ACRONYMS

6.1

None.

APPENDICES
APPENDIX A

Proposed variations to the Constitution

BACKGROUND PAPERS
None.

CHRONOLOGICAL HISTORY OF THIS REPORT
A report on this item has not been previously considered by a Council body

REPORT APPROVAL
Report author:

Jacqui Berridge, Lawyer
Jacqui.berridge@breckland.gov.uk

Signed off by:

Donna Hall – Head of Public Protection and Deputy
Monitoring Officer

Approved for publication:

Councillor A Casson – portfolio holder for Public
Protection.

Page 156

APPENDIX A – Proposed variations to the Constitution
Section D – Delegations to Committees ‐ paragraphs 1.6 and 1.7 be amended to read as follows:
1.6 Substitution of members is also permitted for:
• The Chairman’s Panel for individual meetings (including for the Chairman and Vice‐Chairman of the
Planning Committee), so long as the substitute is a member of the Planning Committee and the
political balance is retained. Substitutions will apply for individual meetings only but there is no
requirement for the Senior Legal Officer to be notified.
• The Chief Officer Employment Panel where 3 named members may act as substitute.
• The Licensing Panel, and the Panel of the Committee of the Licensing Authority. Substitutions
will apply for individual meetings only. Substitutes must be a member of the parent Committee
and must have completed licensing training.

1.7 Substitutions are not permitted for:
• Governance and Audit Committee
• Standards Panel
• Chief Officer Employment Appeals Panel
• Appeals Panel
• Settlement Agreements Sub‐Committee
• Licensing Committee whether meeting in its usual role as a Committee of the Licensing
Authority, Licensing Panel
• Committee of the Licensing Authority
• Panel of the Committee of the Licensing Authority

The terms of reference for the Licensing Panel be amended as follows:
Council Body
Licensing Panel

Membership
3 Members (no quorum –
all members must be
present)
Substitutions: 1
substitute may be
appointed for each
meeting ‐ see paragraphs
1.4 to 1.7 above

Functions/Terms of reference
1. To deal with applications for licences for Hackney
Carriages and Private Hire Vehicles, in so far as these are
not delegated to officers, and all other
licences/permits/registrations etc and functions detailed
at Regulation 2 and Part B of Schedule 1 of the 2000
Regulations in so far as these are not delegated to officers
and are not the responsibility of the Committee of the
Licensing Authority.
2. To deal with applications for performances of
Hypnotism, Drinking in Public Places Byelaws: Permits
3. To deal with objections to applications for permits for
the use of the highway for the provision of facilities for
refreshments under Section 115(E) of the Highways Act
1980.
4. Street Trading
5. To consider and determine applications for licences
recommended for refusal, or recommendations for
revocation of a licence.

Page 157

The terms of reference of the Panel of the Committee of the Licensing Authority be amended as follows:
Council Body
Panel of the
Committee of
the Licensing
Authority

Membership
3 Members (no quorum –
all members must be
present)
Substitutions: 1
substitute may be
appointed for each
meeting ‐ see paragraphs
1.4 to 1.7 above

Functions/Terms of reference
1. To deal with applications for grant, renewal or
variations of premises licences, club certificates and
personal licences under the Licensing Act 2003 and
Gambling Act 2005 (or any subsequent Licensing
legislation) where a hearing is required because either
relevant representations, or a valid review notice or a
valid objection notice has been received by the authority.
2. Any other Powers set from time to time by Licensing
legislation or delegated by Licensing Committee

Page 158

Agenda Item 19.

REPORT TO:

South Holland District Council

DATE:

Wednesday, 11 May 2022

SUBJECT:

Political Group Regulations, Committee/Outside Body Membership
Review and 2022/23 Schedule of Meetings

PURPOSE:

To confirm: a) In accordance with the Local Government
(Committees and Political Groups) Regulations 1990, appointments
to committees and outside bodies and to review membership; and
b) To agree the 2022/23 Schedule of Meetings

KEY DECISION:

No

PORTFOLIO HOLDER:

Portfolio Holder for Corporate & Communications

REPORT OF:

Assistant Director – Governance and Monitoring Officer

REPORT AUTHOR:

Christine Morgan

WARD(S) AFFECTED:

N/A

EXEMPT REPORT?

No

SUMMARY
The purpose of this report is to confirm, in accordance with the Local Government (Committees
and Political Groups) Regulations 1990, the continuation of arrangements for appointments to
the committees and panels listed at 1.2 below, and in Appendix A to this report, along with
appointments to Outside Bodies, detailed in Appendix B.
Agreement is also being sought on the 2022/23 Schedule of Meetings.

RECOMMENDATIONS
1) That the following Committees be appointed in accordance with political group regulations:
•
•
•
•
•
•

Planning Committee;
Governance and Audit Committee;
Performance Monitoring Panel;
Policy Development Panel;
Licensing Committee;
Page
Committee of the Licensing Authority;

159

•
•
•

Chief Officer Employment Panel
Chief Officer Employment Appeals Panel
Shared Memorandum of Agreement Committee;

2) That the following Committees be appointed without being politically balanced:
•
•
•
•

Standards Panel;
Appeals Panel;
Settlements Agreements Sub-Committee;
Independent Panel

3) That the Councillor Development Working Group be re-appointed to, reflecting cross party
membership
4) That the Council reviews current Committee and Panel membership as set out in Appendix
A, and Outside Body membership as set out in Appendix B, and agrees any changes;
5) That an appointment be made to the currently vacant position of Vice-Chairman to the
Governance and Audit Committee; and
6) That Council approve Council meeting dates and notes the proposed dates for Cabinet and
Committee meetings for the Council Municipal Year 2022/23 (Appendix C).
REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS
Implementing the necessary changes will ensure compliance with the law and will allow the
Council to continue to undertake its business.

OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED
Do nothing – this is not a viable option as the Council would not be in compliance with the law
or be able to undertake its business.
1.

BACKGROUND

1.1

At the meeting of the Annual Council on 15 May 2019 (the Annual Meeting after the last
District Council elections), the Council (i) approved committee membership for the four
year period ending at the next ordinary election in 2023; (ii) appointed committee chairmen
and vice-chairmen for the same period; and (iii) made appointments to outside bodies for
the same period. Changes to committees, sub-committees and outside body appointments
can be made (if and when necessary) at any Council meeting, and the current membership
of committees is attached at Appendix A to this report, and appointments to outside bodies
at Appendix B.
Appointment to Committees

Page 160

1.2

The Local Government and Housing Act 1989 sets out that the default position for
appointments to committees is on politically proportionate grounds. It does however allow
for exceptions to the political balance requirements. South Holland District Council has
adopted exceptions for the following committees where the membership is not
proportionate to the political balance of the Council as a whole and the Independent Group
receives more seats than it would otherwise:
•
•
•

Standards Panel;
Appeals Panel;
Settlements Agreements Sub-Committee.

In addition, the Controlling Group has historically not taken up its full allocation of seats on
the Performance Monitoring Panel and as a result the Council has allocated those vacant
seats to members of the Independent Group.
1.3

The Local Government (Committees and Political Groups) Regulations 1990 require that
exception arrangements are agreed annually and without any member of the authority
voting against them. There is also a requirement to review committee seats where there
have been changes to the membership of political groups – there have been no recent
changes to political group calculations and there is therefore no need to change seat
allocations.

1.4

The purpose of this report therefore is to confirm, in accordance with the Local
Government (Committees and Political Groups) Regulations 1990, the continuation of the
arrangements for appointments to the committees and panels listed at 1.2 above and in
Appendix A to this report.

1.5

The Council has previously agreed, and has included a provision in its constitution, that a
full review of the membership of committees is carried out at the first Annual Meeting of
the Council following the District Council elections (as detailed at 1.1 above). Changes to
Committee membership can however be made at any meeting of the Council if needed.
Assuming that the existing arrangements for political group seat allocations are continued,
members are invited to confirm the existing appointments at Appendix A.

1.6

Members are also advised that an appointment should be made to the role of ViceChairman to the Governance and Audit Committee, which is currently vacant.
Outside body appointments

1.7

In addition to appointments to committees, outside body appointments were also made at
the May 2019 Annual Council for a four year period. Changes to these appointments can be
made at any Council meeting should the need arise, and a list of current outside body
appointments is attached at Appendix B.

1.8

In the case of certain outside bodies specified in law political proportionality rules apply
where three or more appointments are made by the Council. No changes to outside bodies
are required on the basis of political proportionality rules. There are, however, some vacant
Page
161 wish to do so.
appointments that could be filled should
members

SHDC Schedule of Meeting 2022/23
1.9

A draft Schedule of Meetings for the 2022/23 Municipal Year is attached at Appendix C to
this report. This has been circulated for review to relevant members and officers.
Members are asked to approve the programme of Ordinary meetings of Council, and to
note the proposed dates of meetings of the Cabinet and Committees, for the Council
Municipal Year 2022/23.

2.

EXPECTED BENEFITS TO THE PARTNERSHIP

2.1

Implementing the necessary changes will ensure compliance with the law and will allow the
Council to continue to undertake its business.

3.

IMPLICATIONS

5.1

SOUTH AND EAST LINCOLNSHIRE COUNCILS PARTNERSHIP

5.1.1 None
5.2

CORPORATE PRIORITIES

5.2.1 None
5.3

STAFFING

5.3.1 None.
5.4

CONSTITUTIONAL AND LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

5.4.1 The operation of committees and sub-committees and the appointment of members to
outside bodies are dealt with in the Constitution and in law (Local Government Act 1972,
Local Government and Housing Act 1989 and the Local Government (Committees and
Political Groups) Regulations 1990).

5.5

DATA PROTECTION

5.5.1 None.
5.6

FINANCIAL

5.6.1 None.
5.7

RISK MANAGEMENT

5.7.1 None.
5.8

STAKEHOLDER / CONSULTATION / TIMESCALES

5.8.1 Consultation on the Schedule of Meetings has been undertaken with Group leaders,
relevant Portfolio Holders and Committee Chairmen, in addition to senior officers.
Appointments to committees and sub-committees, and outside bodies, reflect the wishes
of the relevant political group/group leader.
5.9

REPUTATION

5.9.1 None.

Page 162

5.10

CONTRACTS

5.10.1 None.
5.11

CRIME AND DISORDER

5.11.1 None.
5.12

EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY/ HUMAN RIGHTS/ SAFEGUARDING

5.12.1 None.
5.13

HEALTH AND WELL BEING

5.13.1 None.
5.14

CLIMATE CHANGE AND ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS

5.14.1 None.
5.15

LINKS TO 12 MISSIONS IN THE LEVELLING UP WHITE PAPER

5.15.1 Not applicable

6. ACRONYMS
SHDC – South Holland District Council
APPENDICES
Appendices are listed below and attached to the back of the report: APPENDIX A

Committee membership

APPENDIX B

Outside Body Appointments

APPENDIX C

SHDC 2022/23 Schedule of Meetings

BACKGROUND PAPERS
No background papers as defined in Section 100D of the Local Government Act 1972 were used
in the production of this report.

CHRONOLOGICAL HISTORY OF THIS REPORT
A report on this item has not been previously considered by a Council body.

REPORT APPROVAL
Report author:
Signed off by:

Christine Morgan
cmorgan@sholland.gov.uk
Assistant Director - Governance (Monitoring

Page
Officer)163

LeadDirectorEmail.stinson@sholland.gov.uk
Approved for publication:

Portfolio Holder for Corporate & Communications

Page 164

APPENDIX A
Committee Membership updated April 2022
Planning Committee
Name

Group

Cllr. Alcock
Cllr. Avery (Chairman)
Cllr. Beal
Cllr. Bingham
Cllr. Brewis
Cllr. Coupland
Cllr. Gambba-Jones (Vice-Chairman)
Cllr. Grocock
Cllr. Lawton
Cllr. Redgate
Cllr. Rudkin
Cllr. Tennant
Cllr. Tyrrell
Cllr Walsh
Cllr. Woolf

Independent
Conservative
Conservative
Conservative
Independent
Conservative
Conservative
Conservative
Conservative
Conservative
Independent
Independent
Conservative
Independent
Conservative

Governance and Audit Committee
Name

Group

Cllr. Biggadike
Cllr. Bingham
Cllr. Brewis
Cllr. Carter (Chairman)
Cllr. Hasan
Cllr. Seymour
Cllr. Walsh

Conservative
Conservative
Independent
Conservative
Independent
Conservative
Independent

Performance Monitoring Panel (PMP)
Name

Group

Cllr. Alcock (Chairman)
Cllr. Booth (Vice-Chairman)
Cllr. Brewis
Cllr. Carter
Cllr. Cronin
Cllr. Drury
Cllr. King
Cllr. McLean
Cllr. Pepper
Cllr. Redgate
Cllr. Scalese

Independent
Independent
Independent
Conservative
Independent
Conservative
Independent
Non-Aligned
Conservative
Conservative
Conservative

Page 165

Cllr. Tennant
Cllr. Tyrrell
Cllr. Walsh
Cllr. Wilkinson

Independent
Conservative
Independent
Independent

Policy Development Panel (PDP)
Name

Group

Cllr. Avery
Cllr. Beal
Cllr. Biggadike
Cllr. Bingham
Cllr. Booth
Cllr. Drury
Cllr. Gibson
Cllr. Hasan
Cllr. McLean
Cllr. Redgate
Cllr. Reynolds
Cllr. Rudkin
Cllr. Scalese (Vice-Chairman)
Cllr. Slade
Cllr. Walsh
Cllr. Woolf (Chairman)

Conservative
Conservative
Conservative
Conservative
Independent
Conservative
Independent
Independent
Non-Aligned
Conservative
Conservative
Independent
Conservative
Conservative
Independent
Conservative

Licensing Committee and Committee of the Licensing Authority
Name

Group

Cllr. Beal
Cllr. Biggadike
Cllr. Bingham
Cllr. Booth
Cllr. Casson
Cllr. Cronin
Cllr. Drury
Cllr. King
Cllr. Newton
Cllr. Redgate (Vice-Chairman)
Cllr. Rudkin
Cllr. Scalese
Cllr. Tyrrell (Chairman)
Cllr. Woolf
Cllr. Worth

Conservative
Conservative
Conservative
Independent
Conservative
Independent
Conservative
Independent
Independent
Conservative
Independent
Conservative
Conservative
Conservative
Conservative

Page 166

Chief Officer Employment Panel
Name

Group

Cllr. Coupland
Cllr. Gibson
Cllr. Worth

Conservative
Independent
Conservative

Chief Officer Employment Appeals Panel
Name

Group

To be appointed as necessary
To be appointed as necessary
Cllr. Wilkinson

Conservative
Conservative
Independent

Shared Memorandum of Agreement Committee
Name

Group

Cllr. Coupland
Cllr. Gibson
Cllr. Worth

Conservative
Independent
Conservative

Standards Panel
Name

Group

Cllr. Alcock
Cllr. Astill (Chairman)
Cllr. King
Cllr. Slade
Cllr. Sneath (Vice-Chairman)
Cllr. Wilkinson

Independent
Conservative
Independent
Conservative
Conservative
Independent

Appeals Panel
Name

Group

Cllr. Booth
Cllr. Gambba-Jones
Cllr. Redgate
Cllr. Wilkinson

Independent
Conservative
Conservative
Independent

Settlements Agreement Sub-Committee
Name

Group

Cllr. Carter
Cllr. Hasan
Cllr. Wilkinson

Conservative
Independent
Independent

Page 167

Cllr. Worth

Conservative

Independent Panel
Name

Group

Mike Sofianos
Charles Gladwin
Alison Fairman

N/A (SHDC Independent Person)
N/A (ELDC Independent Person)
N/A (Boston Independent Person)

Councillor Development Working Group
(7 councillors reflecting cross party membership)
Name
Cllr C Brewis
Cllr A Newton
Cllr R Gambba-Jones
Cllr C Lawton

Cllr J Astill
Cllr G Taylor
Cllr H Drury

Page 168

APPENDIX B

Name of Outside Body

Councillor appointed for 20192023
Councillor E Sneath

Date agreed by
Council
15th May 2019

Councillor A Woolf

15th May 2019

Councillor Walsh

31st July 2019

Councillor E Sneath

15th May 2019

Councillor J Astill
Councillor A Beal

15th May 2019

Councillor G Taylor

15th May 2019

Councillor G Porter
Councillor P Coupland
(Substitute)

15th May 2019
23rd September 2020

Health Scrutiny for Lincolnshire

Councillor G Scalese
Deputy - Councillor Beal

15th May 2019
31st July 2019

IVO Day Centre Management
Committee
Lincolnshire Forum for
Agriculture and Horticulture
Lincolnshire County Council
Flood and Drainage
Management Scrutiny
Committee

Councillor Taylor

15th May 2019

Councillor N Worth

15th May 2019

Councillor M Seymour

15th May 2019

Lincolnshire Police and Crime
Panel
Lincolnshire Sport

Councillor N Pepper

15th May 2019

Councillor T Carter

15th May 2019

Lincolnshire Waste Partnership
(2 Nominations required)

Councillor R Gambba-Jones
Environmental Services
Manager
Councillor G Porter

15th May 2019

Councillor A Newton

15th May 2019

Advisory and Liaison
Committee to the Heritage
Trust of Lincolnshire
Air Training Corps – Civilian
Welfare Committee (Spalding
Squadron)
Black Sluice Internal Drainage
Board
Campaign to Protect Rural
England – Lincolnshire Branch
Citizens Advice Bureau –
Board of Trustees
(2 Nominations required)
East Community Safety
Partnership
East Midlands Councils

Local Government Association
– General Assembly
National Association of British
Market Authorities

Page 169

15th May 2019

North Level District Internal
Drainage Board

Councillor C Brewis
Councillor M Seymour
Councillor A Beal

15th May 2019

Rural Services Network –
SPARSE Rural
South East Lincolnshire Joint
Strategic Planning Committee
(3 Representatives, 3
Substitutes)

Councillor G Taylor

15th May 2019

Councillor B Alcock
Councillor P Coupland
Councillor R Grocock
F Biggadike (Substitute)
Councillor M Seymour
(Substitute)
1 substitute vacancy
Councillor A Newton
Councillor J Reynolds
Councillor P Redgate
2 vacancies

15th May 2019

Councillor G Rudkin
Councillor F Biggadike
Councillor A Casson
Councillor M Seymour
Councillor J Tyrrell
Councillor E Sneath
Councillor A Beal
Councillor P Redgate
Councillor Coupland
Councillor Wilkinson
Councillor R Grocock

15th May 2019

South Holland Parish Voluntary
Car Scheme
Spalding Energy Project –
Community Liaison Group
(2 Representatives required)

Councillor A Newton

15th May 2019

Development Manager
Councillor Taylor

15th May 2019

Spalding Town Husbands

Councillor A Newton
Councillor E Sneath

15th May 2019

Spalding Water Taxi Company
Limited
The Wash and North Norfolk
Coast European Marine Site
Management Group

Councillor J McLean

15th May 2019

Councillor D Wilkinson

15th May 2019

Wash Shoreline Management
Plan – Elected Members’
Forum
(2 Nominations required)
Welland & Deepings Internal
Drainage Board

Councillor M Booth
Councillor M Seymour

15th May 2019
18 September 2019

Councillor A Newton
Councillor C Lawton
Councillor E Sneath
Councillor P Coupland
Councillor A Casson

15th May 2019

South Holland in Bloom
Advisory Committee
(5 Nominations required)

South Holland Internal
Drainage Board
(11 Nominations required)

Page 170

25 November 2020

15th May 2019

31st July 2019
23rd September 2020

Councillor J Avery
George Aley

Page 171

23rd September 2020

This page is intentionally left blank

SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL - CALENDAR OF MEETINGS 2022/23
MEETING DATE
COMMITTEE & Usual Day
CABINET
Tues 10.00am

MAY

COUNCIL
Wednesday 6.30p.m.
PLANNING COMMITTEE
Wednesday 6.30 p.m.
GOVERNANCE & AUDIT
Thursday 4.00 p.m.

11
AGM

Page 173

PERFORMANCE MONITORING
PANEL
TUES/WEDS 6.30 P.M.
POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL
Tues/Weds 6.30 p.m.
LICENSING COMMITTEE AND
COMMITTEE OF THE
LICENSING AUTHORITY
Thursday 6.30 p.m.
Standards
Wed 6.30pm
Spalding Town Forum
Tues/Wed 6.30 p.m.

Key to Symbols :
AGM = Annual General Meeting
E = Draft Estimates for 2021-22
B = Budget setting for 2021-22
CT = Council Tax setting 2021-22

18

2022
AUG
SEP

FEB

2023
MAR

15

10

14E

21

23

18

JUL

7

19

13

27

28

20

7

28

22

17

19

16

14

29

26 Joint
(BS)
24

14

22

15
24

13

OCT

JAN

JUN

5

NOV

9

4

26

DEC

14

13

11

26 Joint
(BS)

APR

2
(B/CT)
8

8

MAY

17 AGM
12

28

24

20
8

Bank & Public Holidays
2021 – 2 May, 2 & 3 June, 29 August, 26 & 27
December
2022 – 2 January, 7 & 10 April, 1 & 29 May
Notable Dates
District and Parish Elections – 4 May 2023

13

7
31

9

Key to Venues
All meetings take place at the Council Offices, Priory Road, Spalding, Lincolnshire PE11
2XE unless stated otherwise on agenda TBC
Please refer to published agenda for confirmation of meeting arrangements
Please take notice that there are likely to be items at the aforementioned meetings that will
be taken in private session. The most common reasons for the press and public being
excluded are: information relating to any individual, information which is likely to reveal the
identity of an individual and information relating to the financial or business affairs of any
particular person (including the authority holding that information).

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 23.

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 175

This page is intentionally left blank

